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PREFACE

The historic structure report (HSR) of the three commercial buildings in the Thurmond
Historic District of the New River Gorge National River was authorized by task directive of
February 27, 1990, which was approved by the regional director on April 5, 1990.

The primary purpose of the "Historical Data" section is to provide documentary evidence that
will support existing physical evidence to enable the historical architect to make sound
decisions in restoring, preserving, and maintaining the historic structures. Unfortunately, as
in the case of most physical histories, sources that tell us when a structure was built, what
it may have looked like at the time it was built and what changes were made during its
lifetime are frequently missing. This is especially true of structures that have attracted little
public attention. In the case of this report, few documents describe the appearance of the
three commercial structures at the time they were built. Fortunately, there are some early
illustrations that help to fill the gaps. These illustrations, together with available land records,
have left us to speculate on some dates and descriptions and how the structures were used.

The "Architectural Data" section of this report has been produced to meet two needs. First,
data on the existing and historic conditions of the commercial buildings needed to be
gathered and organized in preparation for the restoration of the exterior of the structures.
Such data were also necessary in determining feasible treatment for the interiors of the
buildings. Second, an approved historic structure report is required by the National Park
Service before any type of construction can be performed.

Most architectural data came from field investigations conducted from February 1990 to
August 1991. The New River Gorge National River staff was always ready to offer support
and provided equipment and maintenance personnel as requested. Steve Doulis of the Denver
Service Center’s (DSC) Falls Church office and the Historic American Building Survey also

provided measurements of the structures.

The author of the "Historical Data" section is grateful to Jerry Greene and Fred Babb of the
Denver Service Center for giving him the opportunity to undertake this study.

Many others at the DSC have contributed their knowledge and expertise throughout the
preparation of this report.

Sally Small, Administrative Data Section
and Architectural Data Section

Louis Torres, Historical Data Section

Larry Reynolds, Architectural Data Section

1X



ADMINISTRATIVE DATA SECTION



PROJECT IDENTIFICATION

Thurmond, a small community in the northern portion of the New River Gorge National
River, has a significant history as one of the key railroad centers for transporting coal, freight,
and passengers from the region on the Chesapeake and Ohio (Cé&OQ) Railroad during the late
19th and 20th centuries. Although the town has declined in recent decades, it retains much
of its historic character and reflects the period of its prominence.

The Thurmond Historic District contains 16 railroad, commercial, and residential structures
with great historical integrity and significance. The significant commercial structures are
located next to the railroad tracks that form the "Main Street” of the town. These structures
include the Mankin-Cox Building (1904), a three-story brick building that housed doctor and
pharmacist offices and later the New River Banking and Trust Company; the Goodman-
Kincaid Building (1906), now in ruins except for four exterior walls of cut limestone, which
once housed a restaurant, a doctor’s office, clothing stores, and apartments; and the National
Bank of Thurmond (1917), a four-story brick building that housed the bank founded by
William Thurmond, the Western Union Telegraph Company offices, and living quarters. A
one-room stone structure is located behind the National Bank of Thurmond.

The Mankin-Cox Building, the Goodman-Kincaid Building, and the National Bank of
Thurmond are all listed on the National Register of Historic Places as contributing buildings
in the Thurmond Historic District and are classified as management category B, regionally
significant. The buildings are not yet listed in the List of Classified Structures (LCS), although

the process to list them has begun.

PROPOSED USE

The three buildings will be leased to concessioners for general commercial use. The potential
uses include a hotel, restaurants, retail shops, apartments, and offices. No use has been

identified for the stone structure.

PLANNING BACKGROUND

1. The general management plan for New River Gorge National River was approved in 1982.

2. The task directive that governs the production of this report was approved on April 5,
1990.

3. The development concept plan/interpretive prospectus for Thurmond is scheduled for
completion in the summer of 1992.

PROPOSED TREATMENT AND JUSTIFICATION
The exteriors of the structures will be restored. The masonry will be repointed, repaired, and
cleaned. Windows and doors will be repaired or replaced to match the historic conditions.

The storefronts, with the exception of the National Bank of Thurmond’s 1923 limestone
facade, will be rebuilt to be more historically accurate than the current storefronts. Several

3



windows at the ends and rears of the buildings may be altered into doors for fire egress
purposes.

All of the interior spaces will be adaptively reused. The interiors of the Mankin-Cox and
Goodman-Kincaid buildings, because of general deterioration, will be gutted and rebuilt with
modern materials to meet the new functional requirements. The interior of the upper floors
of the National Bank of Thurmond will be modified as little as possible to meet new
functional needs, while the interior finishes of the first floor may be extensively modified to
meet structural and functional needs.

RECOMMENDED TREATMENT FOR MATERIALS COLLECTED
IN PREPARING THIS REPORT

All original documents obtained during the preparation of this document will be turned over
to the New River Gorge National River. Any hardware or other architectural elements
removed from the buildings will be returned to the park for reinstallation.




HISTORICAL DATA SECTION



INTRODUCTION

The town of Thurmond was first settled by Captain William Dabney Thurmond, a former
Confederate officer, when he acquired 73 acres of land from John Bowyer in 1873.! Captain
Thurmond was aware that coal was richly abundant along the New River and quickly moved
to increase his landholdings. Before long, other speculators moved into the area, and
numerous coal mines emerged. With the growth of the coal industry came the rapid
expansion of the railroad, and by the turn of the century the Chesapeake and Ohio (C&O)
Railroad had made Thurmond its chief railroad center, serving many sections of the rich coal
fields of southern West Virginia. By 1898 the community of Thurmond could count about 175
people, and by the 1920s the population approached 400. By the end of the 1920s, Thurmond
was producing more tonnage and revenue than Cincinnati and Richmond combined. In 1903
the town of Thurmond was incorporated, and Captain Thurmond’s son, Joseph S. Thurmond,

became its first mayor.

Strangely enough, the town did not have a single street. Its so-called "Main Street” ran
alongside the railway tracks on the north. Yet the town boasted two banks, two hotels, and
a thriving commercial block. Other commercial establishments included a Western Union
office, an Adams Express office, two general stores, a post office, the offices of two coal
companies, a restaurant, a drug store, a saloon, two milliners, a lawyer, a wholesale
distributor, a shoemaker, a jeweler, several doctors, and a photographer. A frame hotel — the
Thurmond Hotel (later called the Lafayette Hotel) — was destroyed by fire in 1899 but was
replaced by a three-story brick building in 1902. This building consisted of 35 rooms and
housed several small commercial establishments. Adjacent to the north side of the hotel was
an Armour meat-processing plant where wholesale meat was prepared for shipment to coal
camps in the area. One publication of the 1920s described Thurmond in the following colorful

language:

The stranger passing through Thurmond will alight from his Pullman to see the
"city" that produces three times as much business for the Chesapeake and Ohio as
Cincinnati, and yet he will look in vain, for the "city" is not. No, Thurmond is not
a city; it has no sky-scrapers nor mansions, no beautiful streets nor inviting parks,
and not even a magnificent depot, yet when it comes to producing revenue, the
Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad Company would not exchange Thurmond for three
or four Cincinnatis, half a dozen Richmonds, or a score of Charlestons. About twenty
passenger trains arrive and depart from Thurmond each day, six of which are first
class or fast trains, and of course "all trains stop at Thurmond." There are about 15
miles of track on the Thurmond yards; the roundhouse employs about 175 men in
the shop, on the tracks, etc.; about twenty local engines and their crews make
Thurmond their headquarters and go there for repairs; therefore, we see that
Thurmond is preeminently a railroad town, and as such, it has a just claim to first

place.?

1. Deed Book "G," April 1, 1873, p. 433, County Clerk Records, Fayette County, WV (hereafter all deed books are
cited as DB without reference to county).

2. J. T. Peters and H. B. Carden, History of Fayette County, West Virginia (Charleston, WV: Jarrett Printing
Company, 1926, reprinted, Parsons, WV: McClain Printing, 1972), p. 648 (hereafter cited as Peters and Carden).
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A row of stone and brick buildings rose after 1900, forming the core of the commercial district
of the town and housing most of the commercial establishments and many of the town
residents and transients. This row of structures formed the center of Thurmond proper. The
commercial fronts of these buildings originally contained large display windows in the style
of the period. The buildings were either three or four stories high. Three of these structures,
which exist in a dilapidated condition, are the subject of this historic structure report. They
are the Mankin-Cox Building, the Goodman-Kincaid Building, and the National Bank of
Thurmond.




THE MANKIN-COX BUILDING

Near the turn of the 19th century Captain Thurmond began to sell some of his extensive
holdings to developers, who in turn divided them into lots. Situated at the easternmost part
of what was once Captain Thurmond’s land, the boundary of one lot was coterminous with
the boundary line that separated the town of Thurmond from the town of Glen Jean. This lot,
approximately 150 by 40 feet, was sold by Captain Thurmond to W.E. Deegans and James
Faulkner in 1903. In March 1904 Deegans and Faulkner sold this lot to Dr. J. Ward Mankin

for $4,000.3

Dr. Mankin immediately built a structure on his newly acquired lot. It is interesting to note
that the deed transferring this property to Dr. Mankin explicitly stated that any structure
erected on this site was not to consist of wood, presumably to reduce the chances of fire.
Having no choice but to build a structure that was made of materials other than wood, Dr.
Mankin built a three-story brick building with a facade that consisted of yellow brick and the
rest of red brick. A photograph taken about 1910, along with later photographs, reveals a
large marker, a pediment built on to the roof of the building that contained the following
letters in relief: "MANKIN 1904." This information seems to be convincing evidence that the
structure was built in 1904 soon after Dr. Mankin purchased the property (figure 1).

The Historic American Engineering Record (HAER) provides an excellent description of the
Mankin-Cox Building as it exists today.* The 1910 illustration, perhaps more than any other
document, provides the best description of the building’s facade as it may have looked in
1904 when newly built.

In that year and for some 10 to 15 years later, the principal occupants of the building were
Dr. Mankin and his wife. Dr. Mankin practiced medicine in an office on the second floor. Mrs.
Mankin, a pharmacist, operated the Mankin Drug Company in the store on the ground floor
located at the right side of the building.

Dr. Mankin was a native of West Virginia and a graduate of the College of Physicians and
Surgeons in Baltimore. In 1903 he moved to Thurmond to practice medicine and organized
the Mankin Drug Company. During the first two years of his practice, he occupied a small
frame structure near the site of the existing Mankin Building. His practice grew rapidly,
resulting in the construction of his new building and its much needed facilities. By 1911 he
became the physician for four mine operations around Thurmond and the surgeon for the
C&O Railroad Company, in addition to his large independent practice. Aside from his
professional work, he was identified with several business ventures in Thurmond, and he
soon became a civic leader in the town and county.’

3. DB 27, March 8, 1904, p. 429. A railroad map of 1916 shows Captain Thurmond's property in 1887 as beginning
at the east side of what eventually became the Mankin Building. See "Right-of-Way and Track Map, The
Chesapeake and Ohio Railway Company, June 30, 1916, Office of Valuation Committee, Richmond Virginia," Park
files (hereafter cited as Railroad Map of 1916).

4. Historic American Engineering Record: Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad; Thurmond Yards, HAER No. Wv-42,
prepared by Billy Joe Peyton, 1988 (hereafter cited as HAER No. WV-42).

5. The Fayette Journal, Fayetteville, WV, November 2, 1911.
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Mankin-Cox Building, ca. 1910
(Courtesy of New River Gorge National River)

Mrs. Mankin graduated from the University of Maryland. One newspaper observed that her
pharmacy was one of the leading drugstores in the county. Along with its full line of drugs,
it carried a complete line of toilet articles, druggist sundries, cigars, magazines, and
periodicals.®

The large front window of the drugstore bore the following letters: "Mankin Drug Co." An
awning, stretching the full width of the window, read the same. The entrance to the store was
from steps leading to a center bay. On the south wall of the building, painted under a third-
story window in large block letters, were the words "Mankin Drug Co./Druggists/Sundries/
Prescriptions/ A Specialty” (figure 1).

The building also contained another store on the left side of the center bay, but it is not clear
what establishment occupied it between 1904 and 1911.

6. Ibid.
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On March 1, 1911, the New River Banking and Trust Company established itself at this
Jocation, remaining there until 1935. This bank was organized in 1904 at the Dunglen Hotel,
just across the river in the town of Glen Jean. Figure 1 reveals that the window of this bank
read "New River Banking and Trust Company." When the bank moved to the Mankin
Building, it had a capital stock of $50,000, individual profits of $25,782, and deposits of up
to $189,573. In describing the bank’s new facilities, one newspaper observed that the steel-
lined vault was "one of the very best in the county and is absolutely burglar and fireproof.”
In the sale of this property by a later owner in 1925, one condition was that the New River
Banking and Trust Company owned the vault doors and had the right to remove them in the
event it relocated. About 70 percent of the bank’s stock was owned by coal operators. By 1911
the bank had earned $50,000 in profits from the time it had started in business. A 5 percent
dividend was declared semiannually ever since. A 3 percent interest was paid on time
deposits. Dr. Mankin became one of the bank directors.”

Besides Dr. Mankin, a dentist named Dr. PG. Young occupied an office on the second floor
of the building, but he may have been there after Dr. Mankin left Thurmond in the 1920s. The
third story was occupied by tenants, among them H.A. Berry, cashier of the New River
Banking and Trust Company, and his family.®

As new owners and tenants came and left, the building underwent physical changes.
Although Dr. Mankin remained its owner, in 1916 the valuation of his property changed.
Whereas his building had been assessed annually at around $5,000 since it was first
constructed, in 1916 the assessment rose to $12,000, $10,000 of which were for
improvements.” With such a sudden rise in the valuation, it can be concluded that extensive
improvements were made to the building. Perhaps one major improvement made at this time
was the construction of the two-story brick addition at the rear of the building. Other
improvements may also have been made at this time, but, as in the case of the two-story
addition, there are no records to prove this. In succeeding years, the property’s valuation rose
consistently, indicating that possibly other improvements were made.” A mid-1920s
illustration reveals several of these improvements (figure 2). The store window that was once
part of the Mankin drugstore was altered completely by extending it outward about 1-1 /2 to
2 feet toward the tracks. A doorway was also cut through the brick wall at ground level on
the south side of the building. This was probably done to facilitate deliveries to the new store.
The new doorway obliterated part of the old lettering on the east wall of the building. The
illustration also reveals a small sign hanging from a second-story window that reads "Dentist"
and "Doctor Young." Thus, it would appear that Dr. Young was occupying the building at this
time.

7. The Fayette Journal, Fayetteville, WV, November 2, 1911; DB 59, September 22, 1925, p. 636.

8. Letter, Mrs. Marcy Alice Herre to Joe L. Kennedy, Superintendent, New River Gorge National River, June 22,
1988, Park files.

9. Blotter 1916, County Clerk Records, Fayette County, Fayetteville, WV (hereafter tax records are cited as Blotter
and year without reference to county).

10. Blotter 1920; Blotter 1923.
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Figure 2
Mankin-Cox Building, ca. 1925
(Courtesy of the New River Gorge National River)

Two other major changes probably took place about this time. One was a doorway cut from
a window on the second level of the south wall of the building. The new doorway was
reached by a wooden staircase. This construction probably coincided with the removal of the
center staircase from the front of the first floor.

Another change that occurred but cannot be clearly documented was the removal of the
pediment on the roof that marked the Mankin building and its year of construction. Although
the mid-1920s photograph (figure 2) still shows the pediment, it was probably removed soon
after, either for safety reasons or because the new owners preferred not to have their building
confused with the original owner. The latter reason is perhaps more plausible.

After these major changes, minor changes were made to the exterior. In 1919 the Mankins
decided to sell their property and leave Thurmond. In April of that year the Mankin Building
was sold to Drs. AW. Crews and ].H. Bannister for $20,000."

Drs. Crews and Bannister remained the owners of the Mankin Building until 1925 when they
sold the structure to the Cox Building Company.” By 1931 the building became part of a

11. DB 47, April 9, 1919, p. 475,
12. DB 59, p. 636; Blotter 1925.
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receivership, and the property was conveyed to the Fayetteville Building and Loan

. Association, which in turn conveyed it to the Home Land Company.” In 1935 the New River
Banking and Trust Company left Thurmond for the more lucrative area of Oak Hill, where
it remains to this day. Finally, in 1975 Erskine Pugh, a local merchant who operated a grocery
store and rented rooms on the south side of the river, purchased the Mankin Building along
with the other two commercial structures in this study. He used it for different purposes as
part of a tourist attraction. The building was used as a pizza parlor, an arts and craft shop,
chicken coop, and a storage place.™

In 1989 the Mankin-Cox Building, along with the other two commercial buildings, was
transferred to the National Park Service as part of the New River Gorge National River.

13. DB 73, June 20, 1931, p. 532; DB 75, December 29, 1931, p. 124.
14. Mrs. Jacquelyn J. Pugh, interview with author, May 11, 1990, Oak Hill, WV (hereafter cited as Pugh interview).
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THE GOODMAN-KINCAID BUILDING

The original property now bearing the Goodman-Kincaid Building, or Stone Building as it is
sometimes called, was owned by Captain Thurmond, who in 1903 conveyed the property to
W.E. Deegans and James Faulkner. On February 22, 1905, Deegans and Faulkner sold the lot
to the Standard Dry Goods Company.”®

There are no written references to the building’s actual date of construction. The deed of 1904
transferring property to Dr. Mankin made no reference to the adjoining or existing Goodman-
Kincaid Building when describing dimensions of the Mankin lot, which was usually the
practice when sales of this nature were made.

Therefore, it must be concluded that no Goodman-Kincaid Building existed in 1904. There are,
however, two significant documents — a deed of 1907 and an early photograph of 1908 —
that lead to the conclusion that the building was probably built and completed around late
1906 to early 1907. On April 18, 1907, the Standard Dry Good Company sold to Dr. Mankin
for $250 a one-half individual interest in the alley "separating" the Mankin building from the
building next to it. The alley is described as being 5 feet wide and extending the full length
of the two buildings. According to this contract, the alley was to be used jointly by both
parties.” Thus, the Standard Dry Goods Company obviously already owned a building
adjoining the Mankin Building when this deed was signed, and this had to be the Goodman-
Kincaid Building. If this deed became effective in April 1907, in all probability the Goodman-
Kincaid Building had already been completed.

A postcard photograph dated 1908, depicting the Thurmond Hotel and Goodman-Kincaid
Building in the background, reveals the latter as a stone structure with a bare front and
without awnings or signs to indicate occupants. In fact, the facade of the building gives the
appearance of a structure that had been recently built. At the front of the building is a huge
pile of debris, probably consisting of construction materials, evidence that the structure had
recently been built (figure 3). Thus, allowing for the elapse of time from when the photograph
was taken and when it was printed, one can conclude that the Goodman-Kincaid Building
was probably built in late 1906 or early 1907.

There is a third bit of evidence which, if not confusing, substantially supports the evidence
already discussed. Tax records for 1905 show a property valuation of $700. This amount rose
to $2,250 in 1906, where it remained in 1907 and 1908. However, in 1909, the valuation rose
substantially to $9,000. Improvements were assessed at $7,000, an indication that they were
very substantial.” The structure was three stories high, including a first level consisting of
stores. The building actually consisted of two parts with a common facade. Two-thirds of the
Goodman-Kincaid Building, or the south section, made up one part. The other third made up
the northern part. A common masonry wall separated the two sections. This wall had no
openings that would permit access to either section. Access to either section was at the front
and rear. In a sense, the Goodman-Kincaid Building can be compared to a present-day
townhouse development, which has a common front and common walls separating one unit
from the next.

15. DB 26, January 3, 1903, p. 143; DB 28, February 22, 1905, p. 340.
16. DB 31, April 18, 1907, p. 548.
17. Blotters 1905 through 1909.
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Figure 3
Goodman-Kincaid Building (in background), 1908
(Courtesy of the New River Gorge National River)

The Standard Dry Goods Company owned all of the building from the time it was first built
to as late as 1918. A railroad map of 1916 refers to the Goodman-Kincaid Building as the
"Standard Dry Goods Company, 1916.""*

In March 1918 the company sold the northern third of the Goodman-Kincaid Building to Gost
Tsaimes and Miltos Tassos, who operated a restaurant on the main floor. The company

18. Railroad Map of 1916.
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continued to own the remaining two-thirds of the building.” In 1921 the Standard Dry
Goods Company transferred its two-thirds parcel to Miltos Tassos and Gust Kandris (the
latter replacing Tsaimes as one of the partners).®® The two Greek partners remained as
owners until 1924, when they sold the Goodman-Kincaid Building to Dr. B.E. Lykins.”
Meanwhile, Dr. Lykins, who held both tracts for a little more than a year, sold his property
to Dr. H.L Goodman and John A. Kincaid for $15,000 in 1925.2

A property map of 1947 describes the building as the Goodman and Kincaid Building, and
their heirs retained ownership until 1975, when the structure was sold to Erskine Pugh and
Dr. H.B. Wurst.”?

This deed is of some interest for several reasons. First, it describes the property as made up
of two tracts. It also speaks of the stores that were once in the Goodman-Kincaid Building,
the dividing wall between them, and the owners of each tract over the years. The deed notes
that for many years a restaurant operated in the smaller tract, on the north, and the larger
tract on the south was listed as a store. The store had probably been a clothing store since the
building was first constructed. In describing the smaller tract, the deed refers to the Bullock
Realty Company as the owner of the adjoining bank building.

The evidence seems to be abundant that, throughout most of its active life, the building’s first
level housed at least two stores. The smaller store appears to have been a restaurant for most
of the building’s life, occupied at one time by the two Greeks, then by Mrs. McClure in the
1930s to 1940s, and finally by the Pughs in the 1970s to 1980s. In a photograph taken in the
mid-1920s a sign hangs over this store and bears the large letters "CAFE"; beneath this in
smaller letters are the words "Rooms for Rent.” Thus, the levels above the cafe were operated
as a boarding house (figure 2). Another photograph taken in 1920 shows a doorway just to
the right of the restaurant. It was probably this doorway that led to the upstairs apartments
in the north section of the Goodman-Kincaid Building (figure 4). Besides housing boarders,
the building also had offices on the upper floors. Dr. C.E Ridge had an office on the second
floor with an entrance at the rear of the building. During the early years the telephone
exchange was also on the second floor. Without further evidence it is difficult to say in which
sections of the Goodman-Kincaid Building these establishments were located.

Figure 2 also reveals another sign hanging over the large store on the south section of the
building. This sign reads "DRUGS," and beneath this word in smaller letters are the words
"Southside Drug Co." It should be noted that at the time this photograph was taken, the
Mankins had discontinued their business and practice in Thurmond. Meanwhile, the
Southside Drug Company, which had been located on the south side of the river in Glen Jean,
was destroyed by fire. The company then moved into the Goodman-Kincaid Building,
retaining its old name. One former inhabitant who lived in Thurmond between 1918 and 1933

19. DB 46, March 15, 1918, p. 96.

20. DB 53, November 1, 1921, p. 629.

21. DB 57, March 1, 1924, pp. 236-237.

22. DB 60, November 9, 1925, p. 160.

23. DB 335, May 6, 1975, p. 288; DB 335, July 7, 1975, p. 642. The following year Doctor Wurst transferred his
interest to Pugh. See DB 344, March 10, 1976, p. 384.
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Figure 4
North Side of Thurmond, 1920
(Courtesy of New River Gorge National River)

recalled the drugstore and the restaurant.** Another former inhabitant also remembered that
the restaurant was owned by the Greeks and later taken over by an "American," presumably
meaning Mrs. McClure.” Still another former inhabitant recalled an ice cream parlor located
beside the National Bank of Thurmond. The ice cream parlor was undoubtedly the restaurant
so often mentioned in sources.”

There is little doubt that Mrs. McClure’s restaurant was in the Goodman-Kincaid Building.
One exterior and two interior views of the restaurant will confirm this, despite the incorrect
caption they bear, which reads "Mankin Building” (figures 5, 6, 7).

Although the exterior view is a partial view of the building, the base, or plinth, consists of
stone identical to that in the Goodman-Kincaid Building. Moreover, the ornamental iron that

24. Wallace Roscoe Bennett, interview with by Paul J. Snyden, Oak Hill, West Virginia, October 1, 1980, Interview
No. 9, Park files.

25. Herman Monk, interview with Paul ]. Snyden, Beckley, West Virginia, August 17, 1980, Interview No. 2, Park
files.

26. Letter, Mrs. Mary Alice Herre to Joe L. Kennedy, Superintendent, New River Gorge National River, June 22,
1988, Park files.
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Figure 5
Goodman-Kincaid Building, 1943,
Interior of Mrs. McClure’s Restaurant
(Courtesy of New River Gorge National River)

supports the large store windows is the same that now appears on the Goodman-Kincaid
Building. Thus, there can be no doubt that Mrs. McClure’s restaurant was in the Goodman-
Kincaid Building.

Mrs. McClure sold the restaurant in 1945. It is not known who bought the store or whether
it continued to serve as a restaurant.”

When first constructed, the building had a plain facade with two storefronts. There were nine
windows on the second level and another nine on the third level. A photograph taken before
the adjoining bank building was built reveals that the west side of the Goodman-Kincaid
Building had four windows on the second level and four on the third (figure 8).

The storefront windows were very large. Early photographs show three sets of stone steps
leading up to the store (figure 9). In 1985 a movie company constructed a wooden platform
the full width of the building, thus covering these steps. The company filmed the movie
"Matewan," the story of labor strife and unionization among coal miners. The platform has
been removed at the time of this writing.

27. News clipping, unidentified newspaper, undated, Park files.
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Figure 6
Goodman-Kincaid Building, 1944,
Exterior of Mrs. McClure’s Restaurant
(Courtesy of New River Gorge National River)

Changes to the physical appearance of the structure usually came about as a result of new
tenants. Other more extensive changes came about as a result of neglect. Mrs. Erskine Pugh,
who resided in Thurmond for about 30 years and whose husband purchased the three
commercial buildings in 1975, recalled that around 1959 people still lived in the Goodman-
Kincaid Building, but soon afterwards the roof began to cave in.”® The building was suffering
from neglect, and the few remaining local residents were scavenging all building materials
they could lay their hands on.

When the Pughs took over what was left of the Goodman-Kincaid Building in 1975, they
made changes to the structure. Except for the exterior walls, the southern two-thirds of the
building was almost entirely destroyed, but the northern third was made usable. The Pughs
built an enclosed ramp or passageway on the first and third floors, connecting these parts of
the Goodman-Kincaid Building with the bank building, which was also remodeled. The first
level was converted into a dining room. This was the area in the Goodman-Kincaid Building
where the restaurant once stood.”

28. Pugh interview.

29, Memorandum, Land Acquisition Office, NERI, to Superintendent, NERI, subject: "Notification of Closing,"
April 26, 1989, w/encls: Deed and Form 10-285, Park files.
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Figure 7
Goodman-Kincaid Building, 1943,
Interior of Mrs. McClure’s Restaurant
(Courtesy of New River Gorge National River)




THE NATIONAL BANK OF THURMOND

In 1915 Captain Thurmond’s heirs transferred 60 acres of land in Thurmond to the Bullock
Realty Company.® Part of this large tract contained the lot upon which the bank building
was eventually built.

While the railroad map of 1916 shows the Mankin-Cox and Goodman-Kincaid buildings, it
does not show the existence of the bank building. Instead, the map reveals a small one-story
frame structure, owned by the Bullock Realty Company.®® Early photographs of the area
show the Mankin-Cox and Goodman-Kincaid buildings with a lot separating the latter
structure from the Thurmond Hotel (figures 3, 8, and 9).

The Bullock Realty Company probably built the bank building between 1917 and 1919. Tax
records may help to pinpoint the exact year of construction. In 1915, when the Bullock Realty
Company purchased the property, improvements on its 60 acres were appraised at $28,270.
This amount remained almost constant in 1916 and 1917. In 1918, however, assessments on
improvements rose to $34,000. This sum remained unchanged for the next three years.* This
rise was probably caused by a significant addition to structures which the Bullock Realty
Company owned. The fact that the rise was evident in 1918 along together with other
substantiating evidence leads one to conclude that the bank building was probably built in
1917, the year before the new appraisal became effective.

A contract entered in March 1919, between the Bullock Realty Company and Drs. J.H.
Bannister and A.W. Crews (recent owners of the Mankin-Cox Building), refers to a room in
the "new brick building situated near the Lafayette Hotel." Bannister and Crews were seeking
to rent this room, which was already occupied by the New River Jewelry Company.* This
is further evidence that the bank was already built and in use.

A photograph dated April 1920 shows the bank building for the first time, as well as its
neighboring structures. The photograph shows the bank’s original facade, revealing two
storefronts and an entrance to the upper floors at the extreme right (figure 4). Until 1922, the
store on the left was occupied by the New River Jewelry Company.*

The bank building, consisting of 14,041 square feet of space, had four Jevels, including two
stores at ground level. The structure did not have a basement, a fact that raised an interesting
point. From the time of its construction, the bank’s heating system was housed in the
basement of the Thurmond (Lafayette) Hotel. The heat was piped into the building through
underground pipes. The Bullock Realty Company owned both the hotel and bank building.
When ownership of the bank building changed, the new owner continued to use the heating
system in the Thurmond Hotel.

30. DB 42, December 31, 1915, p- 459.

31. Railway map of 1916.

32. Blotters 1915 through 1921.

33. DB 47, March 11, 1919, p. 463.

34. The Fayette Tribune, Fayetteville, WV, April 25, 1923.
35. DB 93, August 31, 1939, p. 503.
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Figure 8
Hotel Thurmond and Commercial Buildings, before 1917,
Showing the Windows on the West Side of the Goodman-Kincaid Building
(Courtesy of New River Gorge National River)

In 1922 the Bullock Realty Company sold its property to the National Bank of Thurmond for
$24,000, and the bank made several major changes to the building before moving into it.%

The National Bank of Thurmond, founded by Captain Thurmond in 1906 as the Thurmond
Bank, was located in the Thurmond Hotel.¥ Originally organized as a state bank, the
establishment became a national bank in 1908, bearing the name National Bank of Thurmond.
An illustration of the bank’s front during its early years shows its location at the east front
corner of the hotel (figure 10). In 1911 the bank had resources amounting to $200,570.%

In 1923 the National Bank of Thurmond moved into its new quarters after altering much of

the ground floor and facade. One newspaper of the period described the changes in the
following words:

36. DB 54, September 1, 1922, p. 344.
37. The Fayette Journal, Fayetteville, WV, September 13, 1906; Ibid., November 29, 1906.
38. The Fayette Journal, November 2, 1911,

22




S8 IMOCK, M2n

o ="

MANKIN
DRU(__‘, Co

SUNDRIES

PRESCRIPTIONS
ASPECIALTY

Figure 9
Commercial Buildings, ca. 1910,
Showing Stone Steps Leading to Stores in the Goodman-Kincaid Building
(Courtesy of New River Gorge National River)

The lobby floor is of marble, and the fixtures are of steel and marble, and of the
latest design, and everything is up to date and arranged to facilitate the transaction
of business.

The new vault is absolutely burglar proof, built of reinforced concrete and steel
lining. An eleven-ton Mosler vault door gives access to the interior and insures a No.
10 Burglar insurance rating, which is the very lowest.

The vault contains three compartments, one holding the burglar proof money chests
and lockers for cash and bank securities. Another contains the safety deposit boxes,
and the third is reserved for books, files, etc.

Adjacent to the vault is the coupon room and private space for customers for
checking up and examining securities, or writing letters.

There is a commodious director’s room, and ample work space for the employees,
with the best of light and ventilation.

. Adjoining the lobby are private consultation rooms.
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Figure 10
National Bank of Thurmond in the Hotel Thurmond, ca. 1915
(Courtesy of New River Gorge National River)

The bank is housed in a four story modern brick building, occupying the ground
floor.*

The banking room was fitted with new furniture and fixtures made by the Art Metal
Construction Company of Jamestown, New York.*

In announcing the grand opening of its new facilities, the bank’s advertisement in a local
newspaper read:

Qur New Home
Was built to meet the increasing demand for wider, better service. You are invited
to avail yourself of our superior facilities for handling your banking business. Put
us to the test.”

The exterior changes were even more imposing. A photograph taken in the mid-1920s depicts
a new first floor bank facade built in the neoclassical style. A long vertical sign runs almost

39. The Fayette Tribune, Fayetteville, WV, April 25, 1923.
40. Ibid.

41. Clipping, unknown newspaper, unknown dates, Park files.
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the full height of the building and reads "National Bank of Thurmond" (figure 2).2 A 1983 |
news article notes that the columns in front of the bank and the facing on the building were
made of Indiana limestone.”

While the bank was conducting business on the ground level, the Western Union Telegraph
Company and the Chesapeake and Potomac Telephone Exchange operated on the second
floor. The third and fourth floors were used for living quarters.*

During the Great Depression of the 1930s, the National Bank of Thurmond failed, and in 1931
it shut its doors. However, the bank continued to own the building until 1937, when the
structure was sold to C.B. Collins for $5,000. Henceforth, the building was alternately
referred to as the bank building and the Collins building. Through August 1949 and perhaps
even later, C.B. Collins owned the building.*

After the bank’s failure, a general clothing store occupied the area that the bank left vacant,
while tenants remained in the upper stories as late as 1959. However, the Chesapeake and
Potomac Telephone Exchange moved to Beckley, West Virginia, in 1938.

After 1960 people began to leave Thurmond. From a thriving community of about 400
inhabitants in the 1920s, the population dwindled to about 80 by 1960. It was inevitable that
the three commercial buildings would suffer. But as the 1970s approached, Thurmond’s
potential for tourism began to show signs of life. Rafting on the New River and other sports
were becoming popular, and Thurmond was becoming a base of operations for outdoor
recreation.

Around 1970 Erskine Pugh, an old-time resident of Thurmond and owner of a grocery store
on the south side of the river, saw possibilities in the revival of Thurmond as a tourist
attraction. In partmership with Dr. H.B. Wurst, Pugh purchased all three commercial
buildings, which were then vacant. The partners proposed to convert the bank building into
a combined hotel, restaurant, and club. They called it the Banker’s Club. The hotel was
opened in 1974, coinciding with the opening of Wild Water Unlimited, a rafting establishment
in Thurmond. Much of the old bank lobby became a restaurant and bar, and the southern
portion of the building became the kitchen. The one-third tract of the Goodman-Kincaid
Building, which had remained intact, was connected to the kitchen at ground level by a
ramped opening. The first floor of the one-third tract of the Goodman-Kincaid Building was
converted into a dining room. The second, third, and fourth levels of the bank building were
made into apartments. A second connection between the bank building and the Goodman-
Kincaid Building was also built at the third level.*’

42. The back of this photograph notes that it is a copy of a 1920 postcard. This date is incorrect since the bank
did not move into the building until 1923.

43. Clipping, unknown newspaper, "Taken from Alma Coleman Martin Album, October 23, 1983," Park files.
44. The Fayette Tribune, Fayetteville, WV, April 25, 1923.

45. DB 86, September 30, 1937, p. 598.

46. DB 145, August 29, 1949, p. 363.

47. Pugh Interview.

48. The Raleigh Register: Beckley Post-Herald, Beckley, WV, March 3, 1973; Pugh interview; Delmar Robinson "A
Breath of New Life In Fayette Ghost Town," Home and Family (Charleston, WV), July 13, 1975.
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The Banker’s Club operated about 14 years but closed in October 1988. In April 1989, the .
National Bank of Thurmond, the Goodman-Kincaid Building, the Mankin-Cox Building, and

the other property in Thurmond, were sold to the U.S. government as part of the Thurmond

Historic District in the New River Gorge National River.*

49. Memorandum, Land Acquisition Officer, NER], to Superintendent, NERI, subject: "Notification of Closing,"
April 26, 1989, with enclosures: Deed and Form 10-285, Park files.
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THE STONE STRUCTURE

The small stone structure directly behind the National Bank of Thurmond was built after the
bank’s construction and was reportedly used as a secure dry storage for the Thurmond
telephone exchange equipment, particularly for batteries. Established in 1902, the central
telephone exchange in Thurmond served the coal fields of Fayette and Raleigh counties.
Originally, the exchange and its operators worked in a small frame structure on Thurmond
property. The telephone operations for the coal region of the New River Gorge continued to
be centered at Thurmond until offices were opened in Beckley and Oak Hill in the 1920s.
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INTRODUCTION

In its heyday, the town of Thurmond was a lively place and a major revenue producer on the
main line of the C&O Railroad. The town grew up around the railroad bridge across the New
River, which provided access for shipping the coal mined along Dunloup Creek. Thus,
Thurmond became the main center for forming up the trains that transported coal to the rest
of the country. The railroad’s prominence also gave Thurmond the distinction of not having
a main street, as the commercial buildings were located directly off the east side of the tracks.

In addition to the three commercial structures discussed in this report, Thurmond also
contained the Hotel Thurmond and the Armour meat-packing building. Another large hotel
was located across the river at Southside Junction. With the advent of diesel locomotives and
diminished coal use, the town declined. Over time the latter three buildings succumbed to
fire, so that by the late 1960s only the Mankin-Cox Building, the Goodman-Kincaid Building,
and the National Bank of Thurmond remained of the commercial portion of the town.

The significance of the three remaining commercial buildings lies in their contribution to the

historic scene and to the Thurmond Historic District. The buildings retain much of their
historic character, despite modification or replacement of the original storefronts.
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EXISTING CONDITIONS

THE MANKIN-COX BUILDING
The Exterior

The Mankin-Cox Building is a three-story brick building, constructed in 1904 (figure 11). The
track, or west, elevation is faced with yellow brick and topped by an ornately corbelled
parapet. The foundation is constructed of rusticated ashlar with a smooth stone water-table
course level with the first floor. A door leading into the cellar area is located to the north of
the main entry into the building, with a cellar window to the south. The wooden frames,
door, and sash for these openings no longer exist. The fenestration pattern at the second and
third floors consists of four bays of double-hung wood windows, each headed by a brick arch.
Brick piers support the iron lintel across the first-floor storefront bays. Decorative rosettes are
applied to the web of the beam periodically along its length, and decorative metal panels fill
in between the flanges at the top of each pier.

Figure 11
Mankin-Cox Building, April 1991
(NPS Photo)
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The first floor is divided into three unequal bays, with a central recessed entry area flanked
by two large store windows. The northern window is the larger of the two windows. It is
formed by two large glass panes headed by a large panel of prism glass and supported on
a wood plinth with two decorative recessed panels. The southern window is similar, except
that the glass portion of the window has been boarded over with horizontal shiplap siding,
and there is only one panel in the plinth. The treatment of these two window bays is not the
original. A photograph (figure 1) taken a few years after the building was constructed shows
much shorter wood plinths and taller main panes of glass with plain glass transom areas. The
plinth under the southern window originally had two recessed panels. Prior to 1925 the
southern window was modified, and a display window was extended outward from the face
of the building (figure 2). This bay window, applied to the front of the building, appears to
have been supported on a couple of vertical wooden props. It contained a panel of prism
glass above the window proper.

The main recessed entry area retains its original configuration of two angled walls, but some
of the finishes have apparently changed. The original triangular wood brackets at the upper
corners of the recess opening and the original concrete steps still exist, although the steps now
have sizable cracked and spalled areas. The double-door-width opening into the northern half
of the building can be seen in a 1910 photograph (figure 12). The doors are open in the
photograph, allowing the teller cages of the bank to be seen. The current double doors appear
to be in the same location and are also headed by a transom. It is not known whether the
current doors are the originals or later ones. What appears to be the original door to the stair
leading to the second floor can be seen at the right-hand edge of figure 12. The door into the
south room and the wall bearing it are not original. The current configuration of this wall has
no opening to correspond 2to the stairway door, and it is constructed of the same materials
as the current (unoriginal) storefronts. The beaded tongue-and-groove ceiling is original. The
colonial-style light fixture hanging from the ceiling is not original but is in the same location
as the early fixture seen in figure 12. The concrete floor of the entryway is original and is
cracked along the lines of the wood joists supporting it.

The north, south, and east elevations are all of red brick, as is the addition to the southern
rear corner of the building. The original portions of the north and south elevations are
somewhat similar in composition (figure 13). Both elevations have four stepped parapet
sections and two chimneys. Both elevations have three small, high windows at the first floor,
three double-hung windows at the second floor, and four double-hung windows at the third
floor. The third-floor windows are located directly over the second-floor windows, with the
extra window to the east on the north elevation and to the west on the south elevation.
Actually, the westernmost second-floor window on the south side of the building is now a
door. The original window opening was modified to accommodate a door, probably for access
to the second floor when the interior stair from the first floor was removed. What looks like
a railing on the landing of the stair leading up to this door appears at the extreme right edge
of a photograph taken about 1925 (figure 2). This stair was rebuilt late in 1990 (figure 14).

All of the original double-hung windows on the south side have been replaced with modem
aluminum double-hung windows. The easternmost first-floor window on the south elevation
has been completely bricked up and is now partially below grade. The eastern two first-floor
windows of the notth elevation were no longer used after the New River Banking and Trust
Company moved into the building in 1909. These windows were completely bricked up from
the inside, but the frames were left in place and only partially bricked up at the exterior. Also,
when the bank moved into the building, an iron security grill was installed in front of the
third window on the north elevation.
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Figure 12
Mankin-Cox Building, ca. 1910
(Courtesy of New River Gorge National River)

Originally, there was no first-floor entry on the south side of the building. A photograph from
1910 (figure 1) only shows a large sign advertising the Mankin Drug Company painted on
the front corner of the building. A later photograph (figure 2) shows a set of double doors
with a transom in this corner, cutting through the painted sign. A concrete ramp leads up to
the doors, presumably to facilitate the delivery of goods into the store. The adjacent concrete
stairway and retaining wall were probably constructed at the same time. All of these concrete
elements were removed and reconstructed by the park maintenance staff during the summer
of 1990 (figure 15). The original glass panel doors no longer exist and have been replaced
with rough-sawn vertical board doors. The transom also appears to have been modified.
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Figure 13
South Elevation, Mankin-Cox Building, March 1990
(NPS Photo)

Figure 14
New Entry Stair at South Elevation, Mankin-Cox Building, April 1991
(NPS Photo)






South Elevation of Rear Addition, Mankin-Cox
Building, March 1990
(NPS Photo)

the second and third floors of this elevation. The third-floor door is headed by a transom and
a brick arch. At the northern end of the second floor, a small arched window is also visible.
An original third-floor arched window opening and an original second-floor door still exist
inside the addition.

Originally, a sign of what appears to be pressed metal graced the top of the top of the west
elevation (figure 1). The lettering on the sign read "MANKIN 1904" and was flanked by low
relief ornamental scrollwork. The sign was removed after 1925.

The main roof of the Mankin-Cox Building is built up with a mopped asphalt finish (figure
17). The roof appears to be in good condition and is vented by two sheet metal turbine vents.
The interior faces of the parapet walls are coated with asphalt or mastic. The parapets are in
poor condition; almost every stepped section of wall at the north and south elevations is
bowed inward. This bowing is especially severe at the northwest corner of the building. The
parapets are capped with stone, which has been coated with asphalt.
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Figure 17
East Elevation, Mankin-Cox Building, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

Figure 18
Area Under Rear Porch, Looking South, Mankin-Cox Building, April
1991
(NPS Photo)
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The chimneys are in very poor condition. Typically, the chimneys are constructed of red brick,
with the top five courses, including three courses of corbelling, of yellow brick. The top of the
northeast chimney has already collapsed, and the bricks have been laid on the coping stones
of the adjacent parapet. The other three chimneys and the remaining courses of the northeast
chimney are very short on mortar to the point that several courses of brick can be removed
easily by hand. The northwest corner of the southwest chimney is beginning to cave in (figure
19), and the collapse of at least the top of the chimney is imminent. All of the chimneys lean
or are rotating out of square.

On the addition at the back of the building is a built-up roof with a mopped asphalt finish.
Both this roof and the main roof slope downward to the east and drain into hung metal
gutters. The parapet walls of the addition are in fair condition and are capped with clay
coping tiles. The southeast corner of this roof is penetrated by a square brick chimney. The
chimney consists of approximately eight courses of brick above the roof line and is topped
with a tall, round clay flue tile. This chimney is good condition. The porch roof is covered
with tar paper (figure 17).

The Interior

The interior configuration of the Mankin-Cox Building remains much as it was when it was
built. Several doorways have been introduced or modified, finishes have been altered, and
the original stair between the first and second floor has been removed. These modifications
will be discussed at greater length below. (Refer to the door and window schedules in the
existing conditions drawings for the conditions of these elements.) All of the original plaster
in the building contains asbestos.

Room 001. This cellar space lies under the western third of the building and is mainly used
to house the boiler that heated the structure. The boiler is in a shallow recessed concrete
containment at the north end of the space and is surrounded by water trapped by the
concrete. The remainder of the floor is mud. A fuel tank supported on a wood frame and a
water heater are located to the east of the boiler. The stone walls of the space are in good
condition, and the first-floor framing is exposed at the ceiling. The space is generously sized
for the boiler and associated piping but is not tall enough to stand up in.

Room 101. This room maintains much of its historic appearance from its 1909 remodeling by
the bank (figures 20 and 21). At that time, a brick and concrete vault was added in the
northeast corner, and a new stud wall was erected several feet inside the original back (east)
wall. The walls and ceiling of the new banking hall were then covered with pressed tin panels
(figure 22). A wooden baseboard, finished with a dark stain, was also introduced to this room
at the same time.

Prior to the 1909 modifications, the space was finished with 3-1/4" beaded tongue-and-groove
boards on furring, installed vertically on the walls and longitudinally on the ceiling. These
boards are still in place under the pressed tin and appear to have originally been finished in
a dark red-brown stain and varnish. There is no evidence of an original base. Most likely, the
wall-floor joint was finished with quarter-round molding.

Minor changes have been made to this space since 1909. In the banking hall, the five gaslights

that once hung from tin ceiling rosette panels were removed, and two electric lamps were
installed (figure 23). The gas line remains in place. A double door opening to room 102 was
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Figure 19
Southwest Chimney, Mankin-Cox Building, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

Figure 20
Room 101, Looking West, Mankin-Cox Building, May 1990
(NPS Photo)



Figure 21
Room 101, Looking East, Mankin-Cox Building, May 1990
(NPS Photo)

removed, and the resulting opening was covered with various pieces of sheet metal. The dates
of these modifications are unknown.

Most of the pressed tin ceiling and wall panels remain in place, although many are obviously
rusted through. The panels in the eastern portion of the room are the worst, although panels
along the north exterior wall are also affected. Several tall wainscot panels on that wall, just
west of the vault, are missing, with plain sheet metal panels in their place. It may be assumed
these panels succumbed to moisture and rust. It may also be assumed that the beaded
tongue-and-groove substrate is decayed to a greater extent than is visible from the condition
of the pressed tin. Indeed, a few areas of decay are visible along the north wall.

The 4'2"-tall wainscot panels and most of the trim in the room are painted dark green, with
the wall proper painted light green. A few areas of the north wall and at the southwest corner
of the vault are a different shade of light green, as if large pieces of furniture had been
painted around. The ceiling is painted white.

The floor, except for the alcove created by the vault, was covered with Armstrong loose-laid
sheet linoleum. During the investigation for this report, much of it was pulled up to reveal
a mosaic tile floor of 1"-square tiles in white, blue, and dark red (figure 24). The park
removed the remainder of the linoleum the winter of 1991. The mosaic tile evidently was only
located in the public area of the banking hall, along the west wall and the west half of the
south wall. The remainder of the original floor appears to have been tongue and groove. Most
of this original floor has long since decayed and been replaced by plywood and other wood
patches. A portion of plywood and masonite was removed at the west wall during the winter
of 1991, revealing all that remains of the original tile. Only a few remnants of tongue-and-
groove flooring remain along the north wall. Due to these floor repairs and the absence of a
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Figure 22
Pressed Tin Panels, Room 101, Mankin-Cox
Building, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

tile border except along the walls, the exact extent of the original tile is impossible to
determine. The tile floor is cracked along the line of the joists supporting it. The plywood
floor in the eastern half of the room is painted grey and is deteriorating. At the eastern wall,
the plywood is very soft and easily pushed through. A section of this soft flooring was
removed for the structural investigation portion of this report.

Room 102. The original floor of this room no longer exists. In the eastern portion of the room,
it has been replaced with a concrete slab, with plywood as flooring in the remaining western
portion of the room. Both are painted grey and are in good condition. A portion of the
plywood in the northwest corner of the room was removed to reveal a subfloor that is
probably not original.

The ceiling is made of beaded tongue-and-groove boards installed longitudinally. A paneled
effect is created by 1" x 6" boards and 2" molding that appear to be original. In the northwest
corner of the room, where a stair enclosure to the second floor once existed, the ceiling has
been filled in to match the rest of the ceiling (with the exception of the molding profile). The
ceiling is painted and is in generally good condition, with a few boards buckled or loose. Two
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Figure 23
Light Fixture, Room 101, Mankin-Cox Building,
May 1990
(NPS Photo)

unfinished boards outlining the approximate extent of the stair enclosure were removed
during the investigation for the this report (figure 25). (It is unknown why these boards were
unfinished, but they appear to be recently installed to replace missing earlier boards.) This
ceiling extends to the east wall of the building and above the toilet rooms that were added
later. The condition of this hidden portion of the ceiling is unknown, but in view of the
general decay found in the eastern end of the building, it may be assumed that much of the
ceiling is rotten.

The north wall is finished in vertical beaded tongue-and-groove boards, painted. Most are
probably original, and the patched areas at the previous stair (figure 25) and double door to
room 101 locations are obvious. In the middle of the north wall was a suspended canopy,
constructed of wood framing and trim (figures 26 and 27) with an acoustical tile ceiling. The
canopy was removed by the park in the summer of 1990. The wall finish below this canopy
is plastic laminate panels in a gold-on-white abstract pattern. Generally, the wall is in good
condition, although decay appears to be setting in along the bottom, especially at the east end
of the room.
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Figure 24
Tile Floor, Room 101, Mankin-Cox Building, May 1990
(NPS Photo)

Figure 25
Ceiling at Original Stair Location, Room 102
Mankin-Cox Building, April 1991
(NPS Photo)




Figure 26
East End of Room 102, Mankin-Cox Building, May 1990
(NPS Photo)

Figure 27
West End of Room 102, Mankin-Cox Building, May 1990
(NPS Photo)



The east and south walls were finished with a rough-sawn cedar vertical board wainscot to
a height of 8’, with painted gypsum board above. The wainscot was applied to continuous
nailers set into the brick wall every seven courses. This is the original finish for the east wall,
which is a stud wall built to enclose modern toilet rooms. This is not the original finish for
the south wall, which probably was finished with vertical beaded tongue-and-groove boards
like the rest of the first floor. This cedar wainscot was removed by the park in the winter of
1991 (figure 28). The original nailers, though extremely deteriorated, remain in place. A mural
of a boating scene graces the south wall between the two windows. The mural is painted over
a cardboard disc that may cover the flue opening for an earlier stove. The original window
trim has been replaced with rough-sawn cedar.

The west wall of this room is finished in vertical beaded tongue-and-groove boards, painted
yellow with black trim (figure 27). Gypsum board covers the original window opening to the
north of the exterior door. While covered in tongue-and-groove boards, the wall to the south
of the door had a patched area that may once have been an access to a window display.
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Figure 28
East End of Room 102, Mankin-Cox Building, April 1991
(NPS Photo)




Room 103. This bank vault was added in 1909 and is constructed of concrete walls, floor, and
ceiling. It is entirely lined with 1/2" steel plate. This plate is heavily rusted but appears to be
structurally sound. An assortment of wooden shelves lines the north wall of the vault.

Room 104. This inaccessible space was once part of the larger room that occupied the entire
north half of the building before the bank modifications. Remnants of the beaded tongue-and-
groove walls and ceiling can be seen, although they are quite deteriorated. The brick north
wall and stone east wall appear to be in good condition. The floor has long since

disintegrated.

This space is also open to the space above the vault. The exterior wall and ceiling conditions
are very similar. The south and west walls are exposed 2" x 4" studs. The "roof" of the vault
forms the floor above it.

Room 105. This space apparently once served as a toilet room, although only a toilet paper
holder affixed to the east wall remains. The south wall and the ceiling are finished in beaded
tongue-and-groove boards, painted silver. The lower half of these walls is badly decayed if
not completely deteriorated. The east wall, likewise, was of beaded tongue-and-groove
boards, painted silver. Quite deteriorated, it was removed in the winter of 1991 to reveal the
stone wall behind it (figure 29), which appears to be in good condition.

The remainder of the walls and the ceiling are in poor condition, with loose, decayed, and
missing areas. The ceiling of this space is supported on a wood-frame canopy that extends
into room 101. Ghosting on the walls of room 101 at the ends of the canopy suggests that
walls once enclosed this space at those locations. The paint scheme of the pressed tin wall
under the canopy also suggests this as it is the same silver paint. The north wall is a stud
wall covered with horizontal tongue-and-groove boards at the top half. At the lower half of
the wall, the studs are exposed to view. The floor has completely disintegrated.

As in rooms 106, 107, and 108, a unique aspect of this space is the east wall. From top to
bottom, the wall slopes inward to the west very dramatically. From what can be seen of the
original stone wall behind the room finish, the wall was built with this slope. Perhaps the
builders felt this battering of the wall was necessary to retain the hillside behind the building.

Rooms 106, 107, and 108. Rooms 106 and 108 are toilet rooms, separated by room 107, a hall
or lobby. The east wall of all three spaces is sloped as described under room 105 and is
finished with white plastic laminate with an abstract pattern in gold. The other interior walls
of rooms 106 and 108 (except the south wall of room 106 and the north wall of room 108,
which are doors) are finished with the same plastic laminate. The doors of the two toilet
rooms are constructed of vertical rough-sawn cedar boards on rough-sawn cedar frames. The
portion of the north and south walls of room 107 not taken up with the doors is finished with
the same vertical rough-sawn boards. The laminate at the east wall of room 107 was removed
in the winter of 1991 to expose the stone wall behind it, which appears to be in good
condition.

The ceiling of all three spaces is of rough-sawn boards installed running east and west. At
the north end of room 106, some of the ceiling boards are missing, and the remainder show
signs of water staining and are possibly decayed. The floor of the three spaces is concrete,
about 6" above the level of the floor of room 102. A very rounded "step” down extends from
room 107 into room 102. A cast-iron soil pipe enclosed with plastic laminate is located in the
northeast corner of room 106.
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Figure 29
Room 105, Mankin-Cox Building, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

Room 201. This room is a bathroom, possibly original, as it has the same vertical beaded
board wainscot as the other original bathrooms in the building. Because the room is at the
east end of the building, the finishes are in very poor condition. The plaster at the north and
east walls, the ceiling, and stair soffit is mostly missing, and the wainscot is showing signs
of severe decay. The plaster, with wallpaper painted light turquoise, and wainscot at the west
wall appear to be in fair condition with no obvious signs of decay. The floor is tongue and
groove, covered with linoleum. The floor, in very poor condition, has holes and extremely soft
areas. The trim at the window and at door 203 is different from the typical trim found
throughout the building, suggesting that the door and possibly the window were added or
modified after the building was built. A large corner cabinet is located in the northeast corner,
starting at the top of the wainscot and extending to the ceiling. The original radiator, located
in the northwest corner of the room, is one of the two radiators remaining in the building.

Room 202. This room was used as a kitchen, with sink, cabinet, and shelves located in the
northeast corner (figure 30). While these do not appear to be original, they do appear to be
an early addition. The tongue-and-groove flooring is in fair condition, with a wide orange
brown painted border. Linoleum flooring was removed in May 1990 as part of a general
building cleanup. The baseboard is in good condition, although a section of it is missing to
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Figure 30
Northeast Cormner, Room 202, Mankin-Cox
Building, May 1990
(NPS Photo)

the west of the fireplace, and with the reduced ventilation in the sink cabinet, it is suspected
the base there may be rotten. The walls and ceiling are plastered, with seven layers of
wallpaper. The walls are in fair condition, although there is evidence of moisture damage in
the corner around the sink, and the top several inches of the walls are cracked and loose. The
wall area to the south of the door to room 203 is in particularly bad condition with
diagonal cracks and buckling, probably caused by the general settling of the building toward
its center. During the winter of 1991, the park removed a section of plaster at the bottom of
the wall to the south of door 203. The bottoms of the studs thus exposed are in good
condition.

The ceiling has areas of loose and missing plaster along the south and east walls. The original
mantle has been removed and the firebox boarded up, perhaps at the time of the sink
installation. The decorative metal firebox surround and grate are still in place (figure 30). The
firebox is filled with debris, including chunks of mortar from the chimney. The stone hearth
has dropped to slightly below the surrounding floor surface.
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Room 203. In this room, the tongue-and-groove flooring is in fair condition and has a wide
orange brown painted border. The baseboard is in good condition, with a small area of loose
top molding at the west wall. The small molding returns at both sides of the fireplace are
loose or missing. The walls are plastered and painted pink. All are in fair condition with some
cracking and buckling caused by the building’s settling. The walls were papered at one time,
evidenced by the remaining scraps along the tops of the walls. The ceiling is also plastered
and papered, with some loose plaster in the southeast corner. The general treatment of the
room, with the wallpaper removed from the walls but not the ceiling, suggests the last
owners were planning on installing a suspended acoustical tile ceiling similar to the one
underway in room 205. A small square of plaster ceiling was removed in the winter of 1991
to expose the third-floor framing for the structural analysis portion of this report.

The wood mantle and decorative metal firebox surround are both in place (figure 31) and in
fair condition. Several bricks in the firebox have fallen out, and the hearthstone has cracked
in half and settled slightly. The metal grate exists but is not in place in the firebox.

Figure 31
Mantle, Room 203, Mankin-Cox Building, May
1990
(NPS Photo)
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Room 204. Now serving as a closet, this room was originally part of the hallway providing
access to room 205. The use of this space as a storage area has had the happy consequence
of preserving the original dark-stained finish of the woodwork. This woodwork and the
tongue-and-groove flooring are in fair condition with some areas of wear and marred finish.
The east wall, erected to close off the space from the hall, is made of horizontal boards 1"
thick and is wallpapered. The remainder of the walls and ceiling are plastered, with five or
six layers of wallpaper. Much of the wallpaper is peeling, with the south wall being
particularly bare. The plaster of the north wall has a number of nail holes and other gouges,
and the plaster of the south wall has moisture damage, delamination of the skim coat,
cracking, and buckling. The ceiling has areas of cracked and loose plaster.

Room 205. The tongue-and-groove flooring of this room is in fair condition, with areas of
rough or raised grain and no discernable finish. Approximately one-third of the flooring on
the west side of the room was removed in the winter of 1991 to expose the floor framing
configuration and condition. The findings are discussed in the structural section of this report.

The baseboard is painted and in good condition. The plaster walls are painted light green and
are generally in fairly good condition with only minor cracking. The south wall, however, has
horizontal cracks, slight buckling of the plaster along the top of the wall, and a significant
crack in the southwest corner where the walls separated as the building sagged to the interior.
There is also some indication of a crack running up the entire center of the chimney at the
north wall. Remnants of wallpaper at the top of the walls indicate that all the walls were once
papered. The paper appears to have been removed, and the walls and trim were painted their
current colors to prepare for the installation of a suspended ceiling. A good deal of the 2 x
4’ acoustical panel ceiling is in place, but there are sizeable areas where the acoustical panels
and metal grid were not yet in place when the installation was abandoned. Above the
suspended ceiling, the original ceiling is wallpapered and has some areas of loose and
missing plaster, particularly at the perimeter of the room.

Room 206. This hallway is in very poor condition at the eastern end. Paneling scraps have
been applied to the ceiling in an attempt to prevent the plaster from falling further. At the
east wall, nearly all of the plaster, baseboard, and door trim are gone; the door head trim and
a small area of plaster above the door remain (figure 32) but are in visibly poor condition. The
easternmost 10 feet or so of the south wall have been replaced with unfinished gypsum
board. While it is likely that the original plaster finish was severely deteriorated, this portion
of the wall may also have been redone to facilitate the installation of the modern bathtub in
the adjoining bathroom. The baseboard at this stretch of wall is missing. The tongue-and-
groove flooring at the east end of the hall, in a area extending west to door 202, is severely
decayed. While the entire eastern end of the building is suffering from moisture-related
deterioration, the deterioration of this section of flooring was exacerbated by a pile of debris
that trapped moisture. The park removed the debris in May 1990.

The hall to the west of the area described above is in much better condition. While much of
the original plaster ceiling is cracked, loose, or missing, the 2" x 4 suspended acoustical panel
ceiling below it is intact. The tongue-and-groove flooring, covered by red linoleum at the
west, is in fair condition. The baseboard at the infill for the original stairway door at the west
wall is missing, and the adjacent baseboards are in only fair condition. The remainder of the
baseboards are in visibly good condition, although it would not be surprising to find them
deteriorated from behind. The plaster walls at the north and south, except those areas
mentioned above, are in fair condition with a few areas of previously delaminated skim coat
not covered by the current white paint. Turned wood corner guards protect the two corners
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Figure 32
East End of Hall 206, Mankin-Cox Building, May
1990
(NPS Photo)

near doors 206 and 216. The plaster of the west wall is in fair condition, but the gypsum
board door infill has large holes in it and is not all taped and painted (figure 33). The adjacent
horizontal board wall is in fair condition with a great deal of peeling paint.

Room 207. This section of hall is in much better condition than the main hall, room 206
(figure 34). The tongue-and-groove flooring is completely covered with red linoleum, so its
condition is unknown. The baseboard is painted salmon brown and is in good condition. The
plaster walls, painted white, are also in good condition. The ceiling is finished with a 2" x 4’
suspended acoustical panel ceiling in excellent condition. The condition of the plaster ceiling
above is unknown. The corner guard (similar to that in figure 40) near door 209 is missing.

Room 208. Now fitted as a bathroom, this room was originally the stairway to the first floor.
The stair evidently had some sort of wainscot, as there are distinct wedges of missing plaster
in the lower east corners of the north and south walls. The walls and ceilings are plaster
painted light blue, and all surfaces show signs of moisture deterioration, delamination of the
skim coat, peeling paint, and cracking. Some of the ceiling plaster is loose or missing. A




Figure 33
West End of Hall 206, Mankin-Cox Building,
May 1990
(NPS Photo)

section of plaster at the bottom of the south wall was removed in the winter of 1991 to expose
the condition of the studs inside the wall. The studs are in good condition.

At the east end of the space, the original stairway door with transom was removed, and the
opening was infilled with gypsum board. The door and frame were modified to remove the
transom and relocated to the south wall of the room. It is assumed this modification was
made at the same time the stair was removed and infilled with a new floor. The floor is
tongue and groove with two layers of linoleum on top. The flooring is missing at the far
western end of the room, under and around the toilet. The remainder of the floor is suspected
of being deteriorated as a large amount of debris held moisture against the floor, until the
building was cleaned in May 1990. However, the presence of the linoleum does not permit
an accurate assessment of the condition of the wood flooring. The room does not have a
baseboard, and the bathtub and sink are missing.

Room 209. This room is one of two rooms in the building that have paneling as the wall

finish. All walls are paneled and in good condition. The condition of the original plaster
behind the paneling is unknown. The baseboard is in good condition, although the interior
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Figure 34
Hall 207, Looking West, Mankin-Cox Building,
May 1990
(NPS Photo)

settlement of the building created a gap between the west wall and the floor. The gap was
patched with a wood board applied to the bottom of the baseboard. The tongue-and-groove
flooring is in good condition and is painted brown. Tack strips for carpeting, which was
removed in May 1990, remain in place. The ceiling is of 2' x 4’ acoustical panels in a
suspended grid. The condition of the plaster above is unknown.

Room 210. This room served as a kitchen, although the stove and refrigerator were removed
by the park in May 1990. The floor is covered in linoleum, so the exact condition of the
tongue and groove underneath is unknown. The shoe molding of the baseboard is missing,
but the baseboard is in good condition. The plaster walls are in fair condition with a gypsum
board wainscot at the north, south, and east walls. Behind the present sink, the plaster at the
west wall contains the ghost of a former sink. The current sink and cabinet are located along
the west wall in the southwest corner of the room (figure 35). A gypsum board-covered pipe
chase is located in the same corner and extends to the third floor. A wood cabinet with
louvered doors, stained dark, hangs on the wall above the sink. The ceiling is a 2 x 4’
acoustical panel suspended ceiling. The condition of the original plaster ceiling above is
unknown.



Figure 35
Cabinets in Room 210, Mankin-Cox Building,
May 1990
(NPS Photo)

Room 211. The flooring in this room is tongue and groove, painted dark green. Carpeting was
removed in May 1990. A section of baseboard is missing to the west of the mantle, and
another section is loose at the east corner of the mantle. The remainder of the baseboard is
fine. This room has paneled walls to the north, east, and west. The plaster at the south wall
is painted white and displays a large old crack to the west of the fireplace flue. The ceiling
is a 2 x 4’ acoustical panel suspended ceiling. The condition of the original plaster ceiling
above is unknown. The original wood mantle (figure 36) is in place, although its shelf is
cracked lengthwise; the western column has shifted with the building; and various other
elements are nicked and gouged. The metal grate is rusted and broken and contains bricks
that have fallen from the chimney flue. Several firebox bricks are cracked and loose.

Room 212. The tongue-and-groove flooring of this room is painted dark green with a dark
brown border. The floor is in fair condition and has a small, square sheet metal patch in the
northwest corner. It is unknown whether the patch covers a hole and, if so, what kind. The
baseboard is in generally good condition, although many of the tongue-and-groove joints are
loose. The plaster walls are painted white; some areas have moisture damage, delamination,
roughness, and cracking. On the east wall, a piece of board 1/8" thick evidently covers a hole
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Figure 36
Mantle, Room 211, Mankin-Cox Building, May
1990
(NPS Photo)

near the mantle. Several holes have been knocked in the plaster at the west wall. The ceiling
is a 2’ x 4" acoustical panel suspended ceiling. The condition of the original plaster ceiling
above is unknown. The original mantle in this room is missing and has been replaced with
another style of mantle. The current mantle (figure 37) is taller, with a mirror above the
mantle shelf. The mirror is fastened in place with molding in a fashion that appears to be
other than what was intended when the mantle was made. Several pieces of the mantle are
cracked or otherwise broken. The decorative metal firebox surround is also of a different
design than the others in the building, and a wythe of brick has been added to front of the
fireplace as part of the firebox surround. Some of this brick is loose and misaligned. The
hearthstone is original and is cracked.

Rooms 213 and 214. These two rooms were originally one before the installation of the wall
creating a closet (room 214). This wall is constructed of exposed framing with gypsum board
installed between the framing. On the room 213 side, the gypsum board is painted with
wallpaper appliques; on the room 214 side, it is unfinished. The framing is painted dark
brown on both sides.




Figure 37
Mantle, Room 212, Mankin-Cox Building, May
1990
(NPS Photo)

The flooring in both rooms is tongue and groove, painted dark brown. The flooring and finish
in room 213 are much more worn than in room 214, with areas of raised grain and gouges.
Where a radiator once stood in the southeast corner of room 213, the floor is noticeably
depressed. In the winter of 1991 a section of flooring in the southwest corner of room 213 was
removed to expose floor framing. The floor framing and its condition are discussed in the
structural section of this report.

The plaster walls of both rooms are painted light yellow green, except for the west wall of
room 213, which is painted white. The plaster in room 214 is in good shape with a few minor
cracks and peeling paint; the plaster in room 213 in unusually rough and uneven. Gypsum
board patches the plaster where the transom was removed from door 221. During the winter
of 1991 the park removed a section of plaster at the bottom of the wall to the south of door
217. The bottoms of the studs thus exposed are in good condition.

The ceiling for both rooms is a 2° x 4" acoustical panel suspended ceiling. The condition of the
original plaster ceiling above room 213 is unknown; the plaster above room 214 is in poor
condition.



Room 215. The flooring of this room is linoleum on original tongue and groove, although the
areas of the tongue and groove along the east wall and adjacent to the bathtub have been
replaced with an assortment of boards. The floor next to the bathtub feels unstable when
walked on, and the entire floor appears to have settled approximately 2" from its original
elevation. A piece of 4" black vinyl cove serves as baseboard behind the toilet, while 1 x 3
boards are the baseboard at the east and south walls.

Evidently always used as a bathroom, this room did not originally have baseboard but had
vertical beaded tongue-and-groove wainscotting. This wainscot is still in place at the south
wall and at the south half of the west wall. During the winter of 1991 an area of laminate was
removed from the east wall because the original wood wainscot was believed to be beneath
the plastic laminate wainscot, as it was offset from the wall proper an appropriate distance
to be applied on top of the original wood.

The walls above the original wainscot are plaster, painted yellow. This plaster has some
cracks and is rough and uneven. The wall above the plastic laminate wainscot is plaster,
painted yellow, with wallpaper on gypsum board infilling door 224. The end wall of the tub
enclosure is wallpapered masonite, and the remaining walls are finished with the white and
gold plastic laminate found throughout all three commercial buildings. The ceiling is painted
gypsum board, which appears to be in good condition.

Room 216. For its location at the east end of the building, the condition of this utility room
is surprising. The plaster walls and ceiling, papered and painted a light blue, are in seemingly
good condition. Peeling paint is their worst flaw. The floor is covered with linoleum, so the
type and condition of the structural flooring are unknown, but there is no obvious evidence
of decay. The baseboard is missing its top molding all around, and some of the joints between
its tongue-and-groove components are loose. The doorway to room 215 has been modified,
with the western jamb being moved farther west by 6". The original framing members for that
jamb were cut and left exposed at head and sill, with no attempt made to trim them out. The
western jamb trim was removed and replaced with 1/2" boards.

Room 217. This room is the lower level of a two-story addition to the southeast corner of the
original Mankin-Cox Building. The concrete floor is in good condition, the best of any element
in the room. Most of the plaster on the walls and ceiling has disintegrated, leaving only the
wood ceiling lath (figure 38). A ghost line indicates the room once had a baseboard, but it no
longer exists. The doors and windows in this room were described under the exterior section
above.

Room 301. This stair to the second floor is in very poor condition and is unsafe for use. While
most of the wood treads are still in place, many are broken and all are decayed. The flooring
at the third-floor level is tongue-and-groove covered with two layers of floral-patterned
linoleum. While the condition of the wood flooring cannot be seen underneath the linoleum,
the location of this space at the eastern end of the building suggests that some degree of
deterioration exists. At the east wall, the baseboard at the bottom of the stairs is missing, and
the remaining baseboard does not appear to be in good condition. The remainder of the
baseboard appears to be in reasonably good shape with only a few loose joints as obvious
defects, but it is still quite likely that it has deterioration not readily visible.

The plaster walls are in poor condition with large areas of cracked and loose plaster. The

plaster on the east wall is deteriorating due to moisture and is crumbling. The west and south
walls enclosing the stair itself have major cracks along the third-floor line and very loose
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Figure 38
North End of Room 217, Mankin-Cox Building, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

plaster, most likely caused by the building’s interior settlement. The north and adjacent west
walls are in much better condition. The north wall has some moisture damage, loose plaster,
and previous patching at the top of the wall, while the west wall has only a few cracks. The
plaster ceiling, like the walls, is in poor condition with much of the plaster missing or loose.

Most of the woodwork in the room is stained dark, except for the baseboard below the
window, which is painted a dark reddish brown. The plaster was painted, but most of the
paint has peeled off. There is faint evidence that there was once a painted wainscot at the
stair.

Room 302. Like room 301, the floor of hall 302 consists of two layers of floral-patterned
linoleum on tongue and groove, the condition of which cannot be seen. The baseboard,
stained dark, is in fair condition. Affected by the moisture in the building, some of the finish
has come off. An extra board has been applied to the bottom of the east baseboard, probably
to cover a gap created by the building’s settlement. Both plaster walls have areas of skim coat
delamination, and the east wall has several holes. The walls are painted cream with dark red
painted wainscot, although most of the paint has peeled off the east wall. The ceiling is
painted plaster.

Room 303. The entire floor of this hallway is covered with plywood, presumably applied over
the original tongue and groove because of the poor condition of the original floor. Between
doors 311 and 312, this plywood flooring is very springy, as though nothing supports it. This
section of plywood was removed during the winter of 1991, revealing a completely
deteriorated section of flooring (figure 39). At the eastern end of the hall, the settlement of
the original floor seems to be a factor in the installation of this plywood flooring. Indeed, at
the intersection with hall 302, the plywood flooring is an inch or two above the level of the
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Figure 39
Hall 303, Looking East, Mankin-Cox Building,
April 1991
(NPS Photo)

original tongue and groove. The baseboard is painted a dark reddish brown, and some
sections appear to be rotten at the bottom. Much of the paint has peeled.

As is typical throughout the building, the plaster at the east wall is severely deteriorated, and
much of it is missing. The rest of the plaster is in fair condition, and the more cracked or
otherwise deteriorated areas are at the eastern end of the hall. The walls are covered with two
layers of wallpaper, painted cream, with a dark red painted wainscot. Turned wood corner
guards (figure 40) protect the corners at the intersection of hall 202. The plaster ceiling is in
poor condition with much plaster missing or loose. The ceiling was finished with cream paint
on wallpaper, though most of the painted wallpaper has peeled.

Room 304. The floor of this room is in poor condition, with a totally decayed area that begins
at the north half of door 303 and extends several feet along the east wall (figure 41). Another
visibly rotten area of flooring is in the southeast corner of the room. Areas of the baseboard
also exhibit rot, especially adjacent to the rotted areas of floor.
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Figure 40
Wood Corner Guards, Mankin-Cox Building,
April 1991
(NPS Photo)

The walls are plaster and painted light aqua over approximately 10 layers of wallpaper. At
the top of the south wall and the southern portion of the west wall, the plaster skim coat is
delaminating. The western portion of the north wall and the southern portion of the west wall
have many cracks.

At the location of a sink, just north of door 303, several square feet of plaster were missing.
More plaster and lath were removed (figure 41) in the winter of 1991 to expose the wall studs,
which were found to be in poor condition. The sink is gone, but two faucets and a portion
of the waste pipe remain al the wall.

The plaster ceiling is in poor condition with a great deal of cracking and loose areas. Some
areas are suffering from delamination of the skim coat. The ceiling is finished with paint on
wallpaper.

Room 305. The floor condition of this room is a classic illustration of the moisture-retention

capacity of debris and the destructive effect it can have on the fabric of a building. Before the
park cleaned the building in May 1990, a large pile of debris sat in the southeast corner of the
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Figure 41
East Wall of Room 304, Mankin-Cox Building, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

room. After it was removed, the tongue-and-groove flooring was found to be visibly decayed,
in marked contrast to the remainder of the room, which did not have the same concentration
of refuse. This does not mean the rest of the floor is in great shape. It suffers from cupping
of some of the tongue and groove, and the finish is so worn that a one-time painted border
is barely discernable.

The baseboard is in fair condition with a few areas that may have rotted. The baseboard is
painted white, although much of the paint is peeling. The plastered walls of this room are
covered by three layers of wallpaper, painted dark red. The lower parts of the walls have
been scratched by chickens that were once kept in this room. The wallpaper has peeled off
the north wall and the southern half of the east wall. Delamination of the skim coat is
occurring at the southern portion of the west wall, and significant cracks are located above
door 305 and at window 303. The plaster ceiling is wallpapered and painted white. It is in
poor condition as much of the plaster is cracked and loose.

The mantlepiece is in pieces leaning against the wall. It appears that several pieces, including
one column, are missing. The metal firebox surround is in place, but the grate is missing. The
firebox bricks and bricks immediately above the firebox opening (figure 42) are cracked or
missing.

Room 306. This room has an appearance similar to room 305, with wallpapered walls painted
dark red (figure 43) and scratched by chickens. The plaster walls are in fair condition with
some noticeable cracks at the west wall and to the south of doorway 306. Of special note is
a crack 3/8" wide under window 304 and a vertical crack in the middle of the chimney at the
north wall. A crack similar to and probably associated with the latter occurs at the chimney
immediately below on the second floor.
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Figure 42
Fireplace, Room 305, Mankin-Cox Building, May 1990
(NPS Photo)

Figure 43
West Wall of Room 306, Mankin-Cox Building, May 1990
(NPS Photo)
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The tongue-and-groove flooring of this room is in fair condition. It is rough, with some
cupping of individual boards and no discernable finish. A foot-wide swath of flooring along
the west wall was removed in the winter of 1991 to expose the floor framing. The framing is
discussed in the structural section of this report.

The baseboard is also in fair condition, with white paint cracked to reveal brown. The ceiling
is papered and painted white. Much of the plaster is cracked and loose or missing.

Room 307. The floor of this room is tongue and groove and is in fair condition. With the
interior settlement of the building, the floor has pulled away from the west wall, creating a
gap between the baseboard and the baseboard shoe molding. The baseboard is painted dark
brown and has electrical outlets at the north and south walls. The base around the heating
pipe in the southwest corner is patched with sheet metal and painted out. The plaster walls
are papered with nine layers of wallpaper and are in fair condition. There is a horizontal
buckled crack at the north wall due to the building settlement, and there is an area of cracked
and loose plaster at the west corner of the south wall. Much of the papered plaster ceiling is
cracked and loose. |

Room 308. As at room 307, the floor has pulled away from the west wall, creating a gap
between the baseboard and the baseboard shoe molding. The tongue-and-groove floor is very
rough with raised grain and cupping. The baseboard is painted dark brown and is patched
in the northwest corner at the heating pipe in a manner similar to room 307. A small hole is
in the baseboard at the center of the east wall, and there appears to be decay in the baseboard
in the southwest corner, where a cabinet once sat (figure 44). The cabinet probably contained
a sink as plumbing lines still exist through the floor in this corner. The rough dimensions of
the cabinet can be determined by the paint line at the baseboard and a differentiation of wall
color.

The plaster walls are wallpapered, although many of the seven layers of paper have peeled,
especially in the southwest corner where there appears to have been a leak from the roof. The
plaster ceiling is missing in this corner as well. The plaster walls are in fair condition, with
areas of cracking and small areas of loose plaster concentrated in the northwest and southeast
corners of the room, especially around the windows. A small area of rough and missing
plaster also occurs at the area of the former cabinet. A large crack in the plaster has occurred
in the northwest corner, where the interior wall has pulled away from the exterior wall as the
building settled. The ceiling is wallpapered and, in addition to the missing area, has cracked
and loose plaster. At the east wall, a ghost suggests that a wall cabinet, mirror, or other large
object once hung here.

Room 309. The tongue-and-groove floor of this room is rough with some cupped areas. The
baseboard is dark brown and has areas of loose top molding. Electrical boxes are located in
the baseboard at the east and west. The plaster walls are covered with approximately 10
layers of wallpaper. Cracks and some delamination of the plaster’s skim coat occur at the
eastern portion of the north wall and at the top of the east wall. Cracks occur at the doors
and window, caused by the building’s movement. Very significant cracks occur in the
southeast and southwest corners where the interior walls have pulled away from the exterior
ones. Most of the plaster ceiling is loose or missing. The original mantle in this room has been
removed and the room’s wallpaper extended down to the original metal firebox surround,
which still remains. The firebox is boarded, but the grate appears to be in situ, filled with
debris, including bricks and mortar from the chimney. The original radiator, one of the two
remaining in the building, is in place in the southeast corner (figure 45).
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Figure 44
Southwest Corner, Room 308, Mankin-Cox
Building, May 1990
(NPS Photo)

Room 310. The tongue-and-groove flooring in this room is in fair condition, with the
remnants of a wide brown painted border barely visible throughout thé room. An excellent
sample of the border can be seen west of the fireplace, where the floor was protected by two
layers of linoleum under the now-gone radiator. It is unclear whether the linoleum was only
laid under the radiator, or whether it once covered the entire floor.

The baseboard is painted white and is missing at the west side of the fireplace. The baseboard
shoe molding is loose and is missing at the south wall.

Approximately 15 layers of wallpaper cover the plaster walls, which are painted colonial blue.
Most of the wallpaper is intact, and there is no indication of problems in those areas. There
is a small area of plaster in poor condition at the top of the north wall in the northwest
corner, and there is another area of loose plaster in the southeast corner. Other areas of poor
plaster occur under window 311 and at the top and south corner of the west wall. A hole has
been punched in the east wall. The interior walls have separated from the exterior as the
building settled. A section of plaster at the bottom of the west wall in the southwest corner
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Figure 45
Southeast Corner, Room 309, Mankin-Cox
Building, May 1990
(NPS Photo)

of the room was removed in the winter of 1991 in order to reveal the wall studs, which were
found to be in good condition.

The ceiling is in poor condition, with much loose plaster. The original wood mantle (figure
46) is not attached to the wall but is leaning against it at the proper location. Several pieces
of the mantle are broken. The original metal firebox surround is in place, but the grate is
missing.

Room 311. This room appears to have been used as a kitchen (figures 47 and 48), based on
the presence of a sink, kitchen-like wallpaper, and linoleum on the floor. All of the linoleum
has been removed, exposing the original tongue-and-groove floor. The baseboard is painted
white, although the paint is peeling, especially in the northeast corner. The plaster walls are
papered with approximately eight layers of wallpaper. This paper is intact at the west, south,
and southern half of the east walls but is peeling at the remainder of the space. The plaster
is loose at the top half of the north wall and has moisture damage at the north half of the east
wall and at the sink. The interior walls have separated from the exterior walls. The ceiling is
wallpapered, with many areas of loose and missing plaster.
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Figure 46
Mantle, Room 310, Mankin-Cox Building, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

Room 312, This bathroom is in poor condition. Much of the tongue-and-groove flooring is
rotten and has caved in, especially in front of door 316 (figure 49). Vertical beaded tongue-
and-groove wainscotting, painted dark brown, is on all four walls. It is largely rotten,
especially from the bottom up, and has some buckled areas. The plaster above the wainscot
is papered with wallpaper, painted aqua. Most of this wallpaper is peeling. At the north and
east walls, the plaster itself has severely deteriorated. At the south and west walls, it is much
less deteriorated, but there are still areas of moisture damage and delamination of the skim
coat. Vertical beaded tongue-and-groove boards create a chase around a cast-iron soil stack
at the north wall. This chase is falling apart. Most of the plaster ceiling is missing. The
remaining portions are covered with wallpaper, painted aqua, and are in poor condition. All
of the bath fixtures are missing.

Room 313. This room was used as a closet. The floor is covered with two layers of linoleum.
The condition of the tongue and groove or other substrate underneath is unknown. The
baseboard consists of 1 x 8s, painted white. The baseboard shoe molding is missing or loose.
The plaster walls are covered with six layers of wallpaper. The original layer is a wide-stri
design with floral motifs in pink and green. The inscription "ECKER SMITH & PAGE, PHILA.
PATTERN 458" is visible. This same paper, with a deep matching border, is also the original
paper in rooms 304, 310, and 311. The plaster at the east wall is in poor condition with
moisture damage and delamination of the skim coat. The south wall has numerous nail holes
and dimples. The other walls are in fair condition with most of the wallpaper intact. The
plaster at the ceiling is cracked and loose. Wooden shelving has been installed at the north,
south, and east walls about 7 above the floor.

Rooms 314 and 315. These rooms have most recently been used as a workshop, but that is
probably not the original use. These rooms are found in an addition to the southeast corner
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Figure 47
Northwest Corner, Room 311, Mankin-Cox
Building, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

of the original structure. As in much of the original building, the floor level in these rooms
appears to have dropped a few inches from its original level. The flooring is tongue and
groove covered with linoleum. The wood baseboard in these rooms is different from that in
the rest of the building, but even this baseboard is missing in room 314 (at the south wall and
south half of the west wall) and in room 315 (at the north and west walls). A different style
of base is found in room 314 to the north of door 318. The baseboard is painted dark brown
and is in fair condition except at the east walls, where it is in poor condition.

All of the walls are or were of plaster except the south wall of room 314, which was finished
with various groupings of vertical beaded tongue and groove painted different colors (figure
50). The plaster walls in room 314 are papered and painted colonial blue. These walls are in
good to fair condition except the east wall, which is cracked and shows signs of water
damage, especially at the top. An original window opening in the west wall has been boarded
over (figure 51). In room 315 the plaster walls are in poor condition. The plaster is mostly
missing at the north and west walls, and is cracked and loose at the east wall. Much of the
plaster at the ceilings of both rooms is gone. Remnants of wallpaper are found on the ceiling
of room 314.
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Figure 48
Southeast Corner, Room 311, Mankin-Cox Building, May 1990
(NPS Photo)

The Structural System

Existing Conditions. The Mankin-Cox Building is a three-story brick masonry structure with
wood-framed floors and roof. The building is essentially rectangular in plan and measures
approximately 40 feet wide by 50 feet long.

Foundations — The exterior foundation walls are constructed of stone masonry 18" thick. No
test pits were dug nor destructive investigation performed along the exterior walls to
determine the material, size, or condition of the wall footings. The exterior wall footings
appear to be adequate since there is no evidence of settlement along these walls. The exposed
portions of the exterior foundation walls are in good condition.

The foundation system for the interior of the building, however, is not adequate.
Approximately half of the roof and floor loads are transferred to a central, longitudinal
bearing wall at the first-story level (see drawings). The foundation supporting the eastern
two-thirds of this wall is inaccessible. The western third of this bearing wall is supported by
a wood beam that bears on 7 x 9 wood posts. Adequate blocking was not installed, and the
beam has rotated from the vertical. The base of the easternmost post has also rotated. The
foundation for these posts is inaccessible.

Significant settlement, up to 1-1/2" in some places, has occurred. This settlement is reflected
by the second and third floors, which slope toward the center of the building. It is likely that
the lack of a proper foundation and the presence of water has caused the settlement and
extensive damage.
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Figure 49
South End of Room 312, Mankin-Cox Building,
May 1990
(NPS Photo)

First-Floor Framing — The first-floor structural system consists of two parts. At the eastern
portion of room 102, the floor consists of a concrete slab-on-grade in good condition. The
remainder of the first-floor structural system is wood framing, and the eastern portion of the
floor framing for room 101 consists of 9 x 7 sleepers on grade. These sleepers are in poor
condition due to the presence of moisture.

The first-floor framing for the western third of the building consists of 3 x 10 joists that span
from a transverse wall to the west or front of the building. These joists are notched at the
west wall bearing, and cracks have developed in the joists there. This framing system shows
evidence of fungi and decay and is in poor condition.

Second-Floor Framing — The second-floor framing consists of 2 x 12 joists spanning from the
exterior side walls to the central bearing wall mentioned above. Where these joists were
inspected, they were in extremely poor condition due to water and termite damage.

Third-Floor Framing — The third-floor framing is similar to the second-floor framing in that
2 x 12 joists span from the exterior side walls to the center of the building. At this location
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Figure 50
Southeast Corner, Room 314, Mankin-Cox
Building, May 1990
(NPS Photo)

the joists bear on the longitudinal walls that form the central corridor. As with the second
floor, the third-floor framing is in extremely poor condition due to water and termite damage.

Roof Framing — The roof framing system consists of three separate parts: the main building,
the porch roof, and the framing above rooms 314 and 315.

The main building roof framing consists of 2 x 6 joists that span from the exterior side walls
to a central cripple wall. This cripple wall is supported by the central corridor ceiling joists.
At the midspan of the roof joists, a 1 x 8 hanger board is attached to the roof joists and ceiling
joists and supports the ceiling joists. The roof framing is in good condition; however, the
southeast corner has been repaired. The water that damaged much of the floor framing may
have entered the structure at this location before the repairs were completed.

The porch roof framing is in fair condition. The 2 x 4 joists have deteriorated somewhat
because they were untreated and partially exposed to the elements.
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Figure 51
Northwest Corner, Room 314, Mankin-Cox
Building, May 1990
(NPS Photo)

The framing above rooms 314 and 315 is in extremely poor condition. The 3 x 6 joists show
evidence of extensive fungi and decay. Once again, the causes of this deterioration are water
and termites.

Walls — The exterior walls of the Mankin-Cox Building are three-wythe unreinforced brick
masonry. The side walls on the north and south are bearing walls.

The north wall is in fair condition. There are some bulges in the wall near the top at the
northwest corner. It is not apparent if this is an as-constructed condition or if some sort of
failure has occurred. Mortar in the accessible portion of this wall is soft and crumbles easily.

The south wall is in fair condition. There are no obvious cracks in this wall. As with the north
wall, the mortar is soft.

The west or front wall of the building is not a bearing wall and is in fair condition. The minor
diagonal cracking at some window openings may be related to the settlement problem
discussed above. At many locations mortar is missing from the outer wythe of brick.




The exposed portion of the east wall is in good condition. Because this wall is constructed
into a hillside, most of it is inaccessible and its condition is unknown. There is no evidence
of an existing foundation drain, and it is likely that the unexposed portion of this wall has
been damaged since it would act as a dam for the natural drainage of the hill.

Overall the Mankin-Cox Building is in extremely poor structural condition and, in its present
state, is unsafe for occupancy.

Structural Load-Bearing Analysis. The load-bearing analysis for this building was based on
the requirements of the Building Officials and Code Administrators (BOCA) National Building
Code-1990. The Uniform Building Code (UBC-88) and the American Concrete Institute (ACI)
530-88, "Building Code Requirements for Masonry Structures,” were consulted for masonry

construction.

Because tentative uses of the building have not been identified, no comparison between
existing floor live-load capacity and the required floor live-load capacity can be made. The
required floor live loads are listed below as a basis for comparison once the building uses
have been determined. Snow, wind, and seismic load requirements are also listed.

Floors
Light Storage 125 psf
Public Occupancy 100 psf
Stairs and Exits 100 psf
Corridors to Public Rooms 100 psf
Corridors 80 psf
Retail 75 psf
Office 50 psf
Residential 40 psf
Hotel Guest Rooms 40 psf
Roof
Snow 30 psf
Lateral Loads
Wind 20 psf
Seismic Zone 1

Samples of the wood roof and floor joists were sent to the U. S. Department of Agriculture’s
Forest Products Laboratory where they were identified as hemlock. Visual grading was done
at the time of field inspection. No adjustment was made for moisture content, although some
reduction in allowable stresses could be expected due to the wet conditions of the framing
members. The following values were used in the analysis:

Fb = 1,500 psi (repetitive member)
Fb = 1,300 psi

Fv = 85 psi

E = 1,200,000 psi
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Deflections were limited to L/240 for nonplastered construction and L/360 for plastered
construction. A load duration factor of 1.15 was used for the roof framing, and 1.0 was used

for the floor framing,.

Since the central bearing walls do not align from one story to the next, concentrated loads are
placed on the floor framing systems. Consequently, an allowable live load of 50 psf was
placed on each floor above the one being analyzed, and a snow load of 30 psf was placed on
the roof. For example, to analyze the second floor, a live load of 50 psf was placed on third
floor and a snow load of 30 psf was placed on the roof. If uses other than office use are
identified for this building, the results shown below will change because of the
interdependent nature of the structural system.

Foundations — Since the foundation was not investigated, a limited load-bearing analysis was
performed. Based on an assumed live-load capacity of 50 psf and the existing dead load for
each floor, the maximum load for the exterior bearing walls is 8,000 pounds per linear foot.
For a presumptive soil-bearing value of 3,000 psf a 2’-8"-wide footing would be required.
These results will provide a means of comparison if the existing foundation is exposed during
further investigation or construction.

First-Floor Framing —

Allowable Live Load (psf)

Member Bending Shear Deflection
3x10 Joist 122 11 107
6x10 Beam 50 0 222

The joists have a low value in shear because of the 6" notch at the west bearing. The beam
fails in shear since it has short, heavily loaded spans which result in high shear stresses.

Second-Floor Framing —

Allowable Live Load (psf)

Member Bending Shear Deflection
North Joists 0 0 2
South Joists 30 0 23

The difference in results between the north and south joists results from the north joists
spanning 3’ further than the south joists. The overall low values indicate that the joists are
undersized to carry the necessary loads.

Third-Floor Framing —

Allowable Live Load (psf)
Member Bending Shear Deflection
Joists 174 0 103

These joists fail in shear due to a heavy concentrated load being applied 6" from the interior
support. The source of the concentrated load is the bearing wall that supports the roof
framing.

Roof Framing —
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Snow Load Allowable Snow Load (psf)

Area Requirement (psf) Bending Shear Deflection
Main Building 30 9 41 0
Porch 30 41 3 26
Rooms 314 and 315 30 169 147 156

Main building and porch roof framing do not meet the snow-load requirement due to
undersized framing. Rooms 314 and 315 roof framing meet the snow-load requirement.

Walls — The exterior masonry bearing walls were analyzed as simple beams spanning from
floor to floor with the following load combinations:

Dead Load + Live Load
Dead Load + Wind Load

The first combination produced maximum compressive stress and the second maximum
tensile stress. Wind loads controlled over seismic loads.

Allowable stresses were determined from UBC-88 and based on an assumption of Type N
mortar. The allowable compressive stress was calculated to be 100 psi and the allowable
tensile stress 10 psi. The actual maximum compressive stress was found to be 48 psi and the
actual maximum tensile stress 6 psi. The walls meet the requirements for gravity and wind
loads.

The Mechanical and Electrical Systems

Historically, the Mankin-Cox Building was heated by a single-pipe steam system. A boiler is
located in the cellar, and cast-iron radiators were located in almost every room. Only two of
the radiators remain (as described above). This system apparently was operable until 1989,
when the National Park Service obtained the building and disconnected the utilities.

The building’s electrical system is a conglomeration of different types of wiring from different
periods and does not meet code. Some cloth-insulated wiring is exposed, running along the
floor at door thresholds and other places. Approximately one panel box is located at each
floor. One or two electrical outlets are located in the wall or baseboard of most rooms.

Most rooms on the second and third floors are lighted by suspended bare-bulb fixtures, with
recessed or surface-mounted fluorescent fixtures in rooms with suspended ceilings. Room 101
is lighted by two ornate bronze fixtures with milk-glass globes. Room 102 is lighted by two
surface-mounted bare-bulb porcelain incandescent fixtures and one suspended bare-bulb
fluorescent fixture.

Currently, all utilities are disconnected and inoperable.
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THE GOODMAN-KINCAID BUILDING

The Exterior

The Goodman-Kincaid Building (figure 52) is a three-story limestone structure of rough ashlar
construction. A solid masonry wall divides the building into two separate areas; the smaller
of the two areas, about one-third of the building, is to the north. The track or west elevation
has a nine-bay fenestration pattern at the second and third floors and two storefront areas at
the first floor. The storefronts are formed structurally by steel lintels supported on decorative
steel columns. Basement access stairs are located at either end of the building, with three
original window openings between them. A rusticated limestone water-table course serves
as the lintels for all the basement openings. The parapet at the top of the west elevation is
corbelled and capped with stone.

The current storefronts and upper windows at the west elevation are not historic. Because of
the humid climate and neglect, little was left of these elements by 1975 (figure 53). The
current storefront at the northern end of the building was constructed in 1975 or shortly
thereafter. The storefronts and upper windows at the southern end of the building were part
of movie sets constructed for "Matewan," which was filmed in Thurmond in 1985. A wooden
platform running the full length of the building was also built for the movie but was removed
in July 1990.

Originally, the storefronts were configured somewhat differently than they are today (figure
9). The storefront at the north end of the building consisted of four bays, with the narrow
south bay being the door to the stairs to the second floor. The center bay in the remaining
three was the door to the store. The southern storefront consisted of five wide bays, with the
recessed store entrance comprising the central bay. Stone steps led to each of the three
doorways. These steps were in place in 1975 but are now gone.

The eastern elevation (figure 54) has a nine-bay fenestration pattern similar to the western
elevation. There are two doors in this elevation, both exiting from the northern third of the
structure. It is not known whether these door openings are original. The second-floor door
is at grade, while the third-floor entrance to an apartment is connected to grade by a wooden
bridge. Only bits and pieces of the original window frames remain in the southern two-thirds
of this elevation. A makeshift wooden storage shed (figure 55) was attached to the third floor
of the building but was removed in the spring of 1990.

Most of the northern elevation has been hidden by the National Bank of Thurmond since that
building was constructed around 1917. The easternmost windows on the second and third
floors are in use, but the remaining windows are blocked. Two windows at the east end of
the first floor are now blocked up and below grade. The stonework of this elevation appears
to be finished like the rest of the building, with raised, square mortar joints. The majority of
the parapet is topped with capstones and steps down twice with the roof slope. The capstones
are missing at the east end of the parapet, and a mortar wash protects the top of the wall.
What appears to be a chimney toward the western side of the building has been moved down
to be level with the parapet and is topped with a stone cap.

The southern elevation is visible only from an alley 5 wide between the Goodman-Kincaid
Building and the Mankin-Cox Building. This elevation is constructed and finished in the same
manner as the stone on the rest of the building. The parapet steps down and is finished the
same as at the northern elevation. Two window openings are found at both the second and
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Figure 52

West Elevation, Goodman

April 1991

-Kincaid Building,

(NPS Photo)

Figure 53
Goodman-Kincaid Building, November 1975

(NPS Photo)



Figure 54
East Elevation, Goodman-Kincaid Building, May 1990
(NPS Photo)

Figure 55
East Elevation, Goodman-Kincaid Building, March 1990
(NPS Photo)




third floors, and a doorway is located at the second floor. This door originally provided access
to the upper floors of the southern two-thirds of the structure and opened into a central
hallway. A roughly diagonal line on this face of the building indicates the location of the
exterior stair that originally led from the front sidewalk up to the second-floor entry. This line
is formed where the stonework changes from very squared stones with raised mortar joints
typical of the entire building to a much rougher style of stonework. The bottom of the original
wooden stair can be seen in figure 1.

As a result of its collapse, the roof of the Goodman-Kincaid Building has been altered from
its historic configuration. Originally, the roof sloped from the west downward to the east.
Currently, the southern two-thirds of the building have no roof and are open to the weather.
The northern third of the structure is protected by a shallow roof that slopes downward to
the south. This roof (figure 56) was probably installed as part of the remodeling that occurred
in 1975. To accommodate the change in the direction of the roof slope, several courses of
concrete blocks were laid along the top of the eastern stone wall, creating a parapet. This
concrete block parapet is capped with clay coping tiles, but these tiles are missing at the
southern third of the parapet.

The roof itself appears to be in good condition. It is finished with mineral-surfaced asphalt
roll roofing. The western parapet is protected with mineral-surfaced asphalt roll roofing and
is also capped with sheet metal flashing that extends over the entire width of the parapet cap
for the width of the roof covering the northern third of the building. Two sheet metal
turbines, in the northeast and northwest corners, vent the attic.

Figure 56
Roof, Looking North, Goodman-Kincaid Building, April 1991
(NPS Photo)
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The Interior

In general, little original fabric remains in the interior of the Goodman-Kincaid Building, only
scattered remnants of plaster and window frames. In the 1960s, the southern two-thirds of
the building collapsed. The northern third of the building remained standing but was
apparently in severe disrepair. Photographs from 1975 (figure 53) indicate the extent of the
neglect from which the building was suffering.

Shortly after these photographs were taken, new owners remodeled the northern third of the
building as part of the Banker’s Club restaurant, leaving the southern two-thirds unchanged.
The remodeling was concentrated on the first floor, creating a dining room, restrooms, and
a connecting passageway to the National Bank of Thurmond, where the restaurant’s kitchen
was located. Structural repairs to the upper floors and roof apparently were made at this
time. Since the stair to the second floor was no longer in place, a new connection from the
third floor of the bank building was created for access to the upper floors of the Goodman-
Kincaid Building. The upper floors of this portion of the building apparently went unused.

Shortly after the National Park Service acquired the building in 1989, the third floor was
finished out to create an apartment for an employee of the New River Gorge National River
in order to deter vandalism to the three commercial buildings.

Rooms 001 and 002. The floor in these basement rooms is mud. A spring south of door 001
creates a pond of standing water in the northwest corner of room 001. Much of the mud in
room 002 is composed of soft, rotted wood, probably the remains of the collapsed floor
framing of this portion of the building.

The walls of these two rooms, formed of rubble fieldstone, are generally in good condition.
There is a section of brickwork in the wall dividing the two rooms where the flues for the old
boilers went into the wall. The boilers were evidently located in room 002 as there are four
flue thimbles opening to that side of the wall. This brickwork is in poor condition with areas
of brick either missing or falling out of the wall. The steel lintels above each flue opening are
quite rusted. The first-floor framing is exposed as there is no finished ceiling in either room.

Room 101. This room served as a dining room for the Banker’s Club (figures 57 and 58). The
floor is finished with 12" x 12" linoleum tile with a black 4" vinyl base. Both floor and base
are in good to fair condition. A section of tile in the middle of the floor was removed in the
winter of 1991 to reveal the change in subfloor materials from concrete to plywood.

The walls are finished with wallpaper on gypsum board. At the north and south walls, the
gypsum board is mounted on 2 x 4 framing constructed to the inside of the original masonry
walls and is separated from those walls by rigid insulation. These new walls and the walls
adjoining the fireplace and enclosing the bathrooms stop just above the level of the suspended
ceiling. Above the suspended ceiling level, remnants of original plaster can be seen on the
masonry walls. A photograph (figure 6) of the interior of the cafe that occupied this space in
1943 shows painted murals on the upper parts of the walls, but nothing resembling them
could be discerned on the remaining plaster. There were, however, some visible remnants of
a red-painted frame or border on a yellow ground at the western end of the north wall,.

At the eastern end of the north wall, two original window openings are visible (figure 59).

These openings are now below ground and were probably closed and backfilled a gainst when
the National Bank of Thurmond was constructed. Figure 6 also indicates a partition wall

80




Figure 57
West End of Room 101, Goodman-Kincaid Building, August 1990
(NPS Photo)

Figure 58
East End of Room 101, Goodman-Kincaid Building, August 1990
(NPS Photo)
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Figure 59
Original Windows in Room 101, Goodman-Kincaid Building, April
1991
(NPS Photo)

dividing the cafe dining room in the western half of the space from a back room to the east.
It is unclear from the picture exactly where this wall was located. Large areas of drywall,
framing, insulation, and vapor barrier were removed from the north and south walls during
the winter of 1991. This removal revealed the end of the original plaster at the north wall and
located the original partition wall. It also revealed the ghost of the original stair along the
south wall (figure 60).

Despite the rigid insulation and vapor barriers installed behind the new gypsum-board walls,
there is visible mold and mildew at the lower half of the walls in the eastern half of the room.

A brick fireplace located at the far eastern wall of this room (figure 58) was probably
constructed when the space was remodeled to its current configuration. The actual firebox is
flanked on both sides by niches for wood storage, and, like the adjacent frame walls, the brick
fireplace facade stops just above the level of a suspended ceiling. The back of the firebox is
formed by the original stone wall, while the backs of the wood storage niches are brick. The
fireplace is tied into an original flue in the east stone wall. The entire fireplace sits on a raised
brick hearth.

A ramped passageway at the north wall joins the former Banker’s Club kitchen in the
National Bank of Thurmond. The walls of the passageway are constructed of brick, with the
brick returning for a few feet either side of the opening along the northern wall of room 101
(figure 58). The ceiling of the passageway, as well as the ramped floor, are of poured concrete.
A stone lintel heads the passage opening at room 102; it may be a sill stone from one of the
blocked-up windows.




Figure 60
South Wall, Room 101, Goodman-Kincaid Building, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

Prior to the winter of 1991 the ceiling was finished with 2’ x 2’ acoustical panels in a
suspended metal grid. Decorative beams of 3 x 4 unfinished redwood were located
approximately 8 feet on center. Originally, this room had a plaster ceiling, but over time,
decay and various modifications have left only a small portion of the original ceiling at the
far western end. The suspended ceiling and light fixtures were removed as part of the
destructive investigation done for this report. An area of original lath and plaster was also
removed at the entry door to expose the existing structural steel above the storefront.

Room 102. This "room” comprises approximately two-thirds of the building, all the space that
collapsed in the 1960s, and is now open to the sky (figures 61 and 62). Enough plaster
remains on the stone walls so that the locations of partition walls at the second and third
walls can still be seen. The plywood floor at the western portion of the space, over the
basement, was installed for the filming of "Matewan." The remainder of the "floor" is dirt.
Wild raspberry bushes were growing in this eastern portion of the space, but they were
removed in July 1990. A couple of trees were also growing in the northern and eastern walls
at the second floor level. One tree in the east wall was approximately 12" in diameter before
the trees were cut back in July 1990. At the first-floor level, four steel columns and three steel
beams of the second-floor framing system remain in place, though severely rusted. As stated
above, all of the windows and storefronts at the west wall were constructed for the filming
of "Matewan.”

Rooms 103, 104, and 105. The bathrooms and hallway were constructed during the
remodeling that created the Banker’s Club dining room in room 101. The floor of these spaces
is finished with 12" x 12" linoleum tile in good to fair condition. The 4" black vinyl baseboard
is loose and has come off the wall in a number of places.
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Figure 61
West Wall, Room 102, Goodman-Kincaid
Building, August 1990
(NPS Photo)

The walls of the two bathrooms (rooms 104 and 105) are finished with prefabricated panels
with a grasscloth-textured finish. The hall (room 103) is finished with painted gypsum board.
A small untaped and unpainted gypsum-board patch fills in the wall above the door to closet
106. All of the walls are in fair condition with evidence of moisture damage or mildew, except
for the west wall of room 103, which is in good condition.

The ceilings of the two bathrooms are finished with 12" x 12" acoustical tile arranged in a
stack-bond pattern. The tiles are in fair to poor condition with water stains and areas of
sagging. The hall ceiling is of painted gypsum board and is in good to fair condition.

Room 106. This room serves as a closet and is in generally poor condition. Only the north
wall of brick and the south wall of exposed studs are in good condition. The other two walls,
of painted gypsum board, are in poor condition. There is moisture damage at the east wall,
and the bottom half of the west wall is broken out. The floor consists of wood boards that
appear to be rotten. The ceiling appears to have been a laid-in acoustical panel, but only the
metal frame that supported it remains around the perimeter of the walls.




Figure 62
South Wall, Room 102, Goodman-Kincaid
Building, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

Room 201. This room is used as a laundry room for the apartment on the third floor, and it
smells strongly of mold. The floor is of linoleum on plywood and is in fair condition. The
baseboard at the east, west, and south walls is of contemporary wood molding, painted white,
while the base at the north wall is a large, unfinished board. Fiberglass batt insulation is
stuffed behind this baseboard and is believed to be the home of the odorous mold.

The east, west, and south walls of the laundry room are of painted gypsum board and appear
to be in fair condition. The north wall is finished with painted plaster and is in good
condition. A large exhaust fan is located in the window opening in the north wall; the
remaining portion of the window is filled in with wood boards. A hot water heater is located
in the northeast corner of the room.

The ceiling is finished with 2 x 4" acoustical panels. These panels are in poor condition, and
a number show signs of water damage. Several panels have partially fallen out of the
supporting metal grid because of the weight of the water absorbed. The source of the water
affecting the ceiling is unknown.
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Room 202. This space is currently unfinished and unused. The floor is of plywood, and there
is no baseboard (figure 63). Several areas of the floor are particularly springy, such as at the
bottom of the stairs to the third floor and to the west of the door into the laundry room.

The walls are of stone with much of the original plaster intact, except at the east wall where
a great deal of the plaster is missing. Some wallpaper remains on the wall in the southwest
corner of the room. At the south wall, the original plaster is covered with unfinished gypsum
board on 2 x 4 furring. At the western end of the south wall, where the wallpaper remains,
only the 2 x 4 furring is in place. The gypsum board either has been removed or was never
installed. Ghosts on the existing plaster indicate the location of the original walls. There is no
finished ceiling in this room, and the third-floor framing, with fiberglass batt insulation
between each joist, is exposed. The walls forming the laundry room (room 201) have not been
finished out, so the framing is exposed (figure 64).

Rooms 301 and 302. These two rooms are a kitchen and dining room. Both are carpeted and
have unfinished wood baseboards. The baseboard at the west wall is 7-1/2" tall while the rest
are 3-1/2" tall. All walls except the west wall are paneled with light grey printed wood-grain
paneling with unfinished wood trim. The west wall (figure 65) is finished with gypsum board,
painted white. There is no window trim at the windows in the west wall, and the gypsum
board returns right to the window frame. The interior window sills are of grey marble
supported on a small apron board, painted white. The marble was reportedly found among
the debris in the National Bank of Thurmond. The ceilings are of gypsum board, painted with
a white, heavily textured paint. In the north wall, an air conditioner is located in what is
probably an original window opening that is now walled over. All finishes are in excellent
condition.

Rooms 303, 305, 306, and 309. These four rooms are finished in very similar fashion. All the
walls and ceilings are finished with gypsum board, painted white. The floors are carpeted,
except for the floor of closet 303, which is of plywood, painted grey. The baseboards and
other trim are of unfinished wood. All finishes are in excellent condition.

Room 304. These stairs are open to the second floor. At the top of the stairs, those walls not
addressed in the finishes for room 202 are finished with untaped and unpainted gypsum
board. The ceiling is unfinished, and the steps are of unfinished wood.

Rooms 307 and 308. The living room (figure 66) and bedroom are finished very similarly to
the rest of the third floor, with carpeted floors, grey-paneled walls, painted gypsum board
ceilings, and unfinished wood trim. All finishes are in excellent condition. The windows in
the north and east walls do not have window trim, as the paneling is returned right up to the
window frame. In the north wall of the living room (room 307) an air conditioner is located
in what is probably an original window opening that is now walled over.

The Structural System

Existing Conditions. The Goodman-Kincaid Building is a three-story stone masonry structure
with two distinct parts. The southern two-thirds of the building, which measures
approximately 50’ wide by 50’ long, is a shell with no roof or floor framing. (Temporary first-
floor framing was constructed in the mid-1980s for production of the movie.) The remainder
of the building, which measures approximately 25" wide by 50’ long, consists of wood- and
steel-framed floors. The roof framing is inaccessible.
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Figure 63
East End of Room 202, Goodman-Kincaid Building, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

Figure 64
Room 202, Looking Southwest, Goodman-Kincaid Building, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

87






Foundations — Exterior foundation walls are constructed of stone masonry 24" thick and are
in good condition. No test pits were dug nor destructive investigation performed along the
exterior walls to determine the material, size, or condition of the wall footings. The exterior
wall footings appear to be adequate since there is no evidence of settlement along these walls.

The temporary floor framing in the shell portion of the building is supported by a transverse
foundation wall and the west or front foundation wall. The exposed portions of these walls

are in good condition.

The first-floor framing in the enclosed portion of the building is supported by wood posts of
various diameters. These posts bear on railroad-tie footings. To further complicate the
situation, a spring near the northwest corner of the building keeps the crawl space area
constantly damp. Although there is no evidence that the first-floor framing has settled, the
railroad-tie footings are slightly decayed by moisture.

First-Floor Framing — The first-floor framing in the shell portion of the building consists of
2 x 10 joists. The movie company performed this obviously temporary construction. Though
the joists are in good condition, they are untreated and will probably deteriorate.

In the enclosed portion of the building the first-floor framing consists of two parts. The
eastern half is a slab-on-grade and is in good condition. The framing for the remainder of the
first floor consists of new pressure-treated 2 x 10 joists. These joists span between historic 6
x 8 wood beams. The wood beams bear on the wood posts mentioned above. The new wood
framing is in good condition, and the historic framing is fair. One problem with the historic
beams is a half-lap splice at midspan in one location. All other half-lap splices are above the
wood posts and do not have as great an impact on the strength of the beams.

Second-Floor Framing — The second-floor framing consists of new 2 x 10 and historic 2 x 12
joists that span from the north and south walls on the side of the building to the center of the
enclosed portion. At this location the joists are supported by longitudinal steel beams (see
drawings).

These steel beams are spliced in a makeshift fashion that is not adequate to carry the
necessary loads. In September of 1990 the park maintenance staff was requested to install a

steel post at this location to alleviate this problem temporarily. This post was installed that
fall.

With the exception of the steel beam splice, the second-floor framing is in good condition.

Third-Floor Framing — The third-floor framing is a conglomeration of new wood, historic
wood, and steel structural members. (Refer to the drawings for clarification.)

At the east end of this portion of the building, many of the joists have been scabbed into the
existing joist pockets. The scab pieces are slightly decayed by moisture.

Roof Framing — As previously mentioned, the roof framing is inaccessible, and the size and
condition could not be determined. The park maintenance staff reported that new 2 x 12 joists
were installed when the third floor was converted to an apartment. The ends of the framing
members are exposed but could not be measured safely. Since the ends are exposed, it is
likely that decay has occurred and that the joist bearings are in poor condition.
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Walls — The exterior walls are unreinforced stone masonry 18" thick. Three of the four walls
that form the shell portion are approximately 40’ high and are unbraced for the entire height.
The fourth wall is braced by the roof and floor framing of the enclosed portion of the

building.

These walls have an unbraced height-to-thickness ratio of 27, which exceeds the maximum
of 20 allowed by the governing code, ACI 530-88, "Building Code Requirements for Masonry
Structures.” Although the walls do not show signs of distress, problems could easily develop
because of the large unbraced height.

As with the Mankin-Cox Building, the east wall is constructed into a hillside, and there is no
evidence of a foundation drain. Most of the exterior portion of this wall is inaccessible, and
its condition is unknown. It is likely that the unexposed portion of this wall is damaged since
it would act as a dam to the natural drainage of the hill. The exposed portions of the exterior
and the interior of this wall are in good condition. |

The west or front wall is in good condition.

The north wall is virtually inaccessible because of its close proximity to the National Bank of
Thurmond. There do not appear to be major problems with this wall.

Overall, the Goodman-Kincaid Building is in fair structural condition.

Structural Load-Bearing Analysis. The load-bearing analysis for this building was based on
the requirements of the BOCA National Building Code-1990. The Uniform Building Code
(UBC-88) and ACI 530-88, "Building Code Requirements for Masonry Structures," were
consulted for masonry construction.

Tentative uses of the building have not been identified, so no comparison can be made
between existing floor live-load capacity and the required floor live-load capacity. The
required floor live loads are listed below as a basis for comparison once the building uses
have been determined. Snow, wind, and seismic load requirements are also listed.

Floors
Light Storage 125 psf
Public Occupancy 100 psf
Stairs and Exits 100 psf
Corridors to Public Rooms 100 psf
Corridors 80 psf
Retail 75 psf
Office 50 psf
Residential 40 psf
Hotel Guest Rooms 40 psf
Roof
Snow 30 psf
Lateral Loads
Wind 20 psf
Seismic Zone 1
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Samples of the wood floor joists were sent to the U. S. Department of Agriculture’s Forest
Products Laboratory, where they were identified as hemlock. Visual grading was done at the
time of field inspection. The new framing members were grade stamped southern pine
number 2. No adjustment for moisture content was made for either the historic or new wood
framing members. The following values were used in the analysis:

Historic Framing
Fb = 1,500 psi (repetitive member)
Fb = 1,300 psi
Fv = 85 psi
E = 1,200,000 psi

Southern Pine Number 2
Fb = 1,400 psi (repetitive member)
Fb = 1,200 psi
Fv = 90 psi
E = 1,600,000 psi

Deflections were limited to L/240 for nonplastered construction and L/360 for plastered
construction. A load duration factor of 1.15 was used for the roof framing and 1.0 was used
for the floor framing.

The section properties for the steel floor beams were determined from field measurements
and by comparing those measurements to the data in "Iron and Steel Beams 1873 to 1952,"
American Institute of Steel Construction (AISC), 1953. The sections chosen for analysis were
the ones that best matched the field measurements and were fabricated near the building’s
time of construction. A basic working stress of 16 ksi (common for the time of construction)
was used in the analysis.

Foundations — Since the foundation was not investigated, a limited load-bearing analysis was
performed. Based on an assumed live-load capacity of 50 psf and the existing dead load for
each floor, the maximum load for the exterior bearing walls is 6,900 pounds per linear foot.
For a presumptive soil-bearing value of 3,000 psf, a footing 2’ by 4" would be required. These
results will provide a basis for comparison if the existing foundation is exposed during
further investigation or construction.

First-Floor Framing —

Allowable Live Load (psf)

Member Bending Shear Deflection
Joists 298 171 763
Beam 77 105 70

The first-floor joists meet the live-load requirement for most of the uses listed above.

Second-Floor Framing —

Allowable Live Load (psf)

Member Bending Shear Deflection
2 x 10 Joists 94 94 143
2 x 12 Joists 241 160 324
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The second-floor joists meet the live-load requirement for most of the uses listed above.

A live load of 40 psf was applied to the third floor; no live load was applied to the second
floor to analyze beam B1. Existing dead loads were also considered. Beam B1 was analyzed
as a simple span beam with a span of 23’, and calculations show the beam to be adequate.
This means that B1 can support the residential use loads from the third floor that are
transferred to it by the adjustable steel posts. However, an additional live load placed on the
second floor would begin to overstress the beam.

Because the welded splice between beams B4 and C1 is inadequate, these beams do not meet
the live-load requirement.

Third-Floor Framing —
Allowable Live Load (psf)

Member Bending Shear Deflection
2 x 8 Joists 109 115 92

2 x 10 Joists 92 92 141

2 x 6 Beam 20 31 35

2 x 10 Beam 2 19 31
B1 East 29 376 50
B1 West 27 348 42

Many of these framing members are inadequate to support the current live load of 40 psf for
residential use.

Roof Framing —
Member Bending Shear Deflection
2 x 12 Joists 40 68 31

The roof framing meets the live-load requirement.

Walls — The exterior masonry bearing walls were analyzed as simple beams spanning from
floor to floor with the following load combinations:

Dead Load + Live Load
Dead Load + Wind Load

The first combination produced maximum compressive stress and the second maximum
tensile stress. Wind loads controlled over seismic loads.

Allowable stresses were determined from UBC-88 and based on an assumption of Type N
mortar. The allowable compressive stress was calculated to be 100 psi and the allowable
tensile stress 10 psi. The actual maximum compressive stress was found to be 41 psi and the
actual maximum tensile stress 3 psi. The walls meet the requirements for gravity and wind
loads.
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The Mechanical and Electrical Systems

Historically, the Goodman-Kincaid Building was probably heated by steam or hot water heat
generated by a boiler located in room 002. None of this system presently exists. Currently, the
northern portion of the first floor is heated and cooled by an air-handling unit above the
suspended ceiling in room 101. The second floor is not heated. The third floor is heated by
electric baseboard heaters and cooled by two window-model residential air-conditioning units
built into the walls. A large exhaust fan is located in the window of the laundry room on the

second floor.

Currently, there is no power or water service operable at the first floor. In 1989 new power
and water were brought in to service the apartment on the second and third floors, and are
assumed to meet code for the space’s current use. It is also assumed that these systems would
not be adequate for more intensive use of the building in the future.

The first floor was lighted by recessed fluorescent fixtures in the suspended ceiling of room
101, augmented by four decorative chandeliers. The bathrooms and hall on the first floor are
lighted by surface-mounted ceiling fixtures. The second floor is lighted by several bare-bulb
porcelain fixtures, and the third floor is typically lighted by recessed fluorescent ceiling
fixtures.

THE NATIONAL BANK OF THURMOND
The Exterior

The National Bank of Thurmond is a four-story brick building constructed about 1917, with
rubble stone foundation walls as the north, south, and east walls of the first story. Red brick
is the only brick used in the building, and it is laid in a common bond pattern. A classical
limestone facade was added at the first floor to the north end of the west elevation when the
National Bank of Thurmond moved into the building in 1923 (figure 67).

The track or west elevation (figure 68) of the building has an irregularly spaced six-bay
fenestration pattern on the second, third, and fourth floors. The first floor is divided into two
bays. The southern bay consists of a storefront, much of which may be original, and a modern
metal door set into the original second-floor access doorway at the far south end of the
building. This southern storefront consists of recessed double doors, with a small display
window to the south and a large display window to the north of the doors. The masonry
opening above the windows is currently infilled with masonite panels, but remains of
horizontal wood siding over prism glass panels can be seen from the interior. The prism glass
is probably original, but this cannot be confirmed from historic photographs because an
awning was deployed at this storefront. The original storefront at the north end of the
building is documented in only one photograph from 1920 (figure 4). This original storefront
had a central recessed entry with large display windows to either side. In the photograph it
is unclear what the area above the windows and door is made of, though it appears solid. It
probably is an area of prism glass, as remains of prism glass can still be found behind the
masonite panels above the southern storefront. This original storefront was replaced with the
current neoclassical limestone facade in 1923 (figure 67). This facade is formed by rectangular
end pilasters, a dentiled and carved frieze, and two semi-Doric columns dividing the
storefront into three bays. The double-width center bay and the northern bay contain large
fixed-pane windows, each topped by a square sash with eight muntins radiating outward
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Figure 67
1923 Bank Facade, National Bank of Thurmond, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

Figure 68
West and North Elevations, National Bank of Thurmond, April 1991
(NPS Photo)
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from the center of the sash. The double-door entry into the bank is located in the southern
bay and is headed by a stone pediment carved with the National Bank of Thurmond’s initials.
Modern light fixtures are located on each of the stone end pilasters.

The top of the west elevation consists of a corbelled parapet. Two courses below the very top
of the wall, the corbelling extends outward a full brick width and is topped with a mortar
wash. This mortar wash is in fair condition and is not adequately protecting the bricks.
Several of the bricks have cracked, and moisture is entering the cracks and freezing, causing
the face of the bricks to spall off.

The north elevation (figure 69) of the building is very plain. At the second, third, and fourth
floors, a single window is centered in the middle of the wall. These windows are metal with
emergency exit doors. All three windows appear to be nonoriginal installations into original
openings. The heads of the third and fourth are arched, while the second-floor window is
spanned by a steel lintel. Two windows, both with iron security grills, are located at the first
floor. The window to the east is a later sash installed in a larger, original masonry opening.

Figure 69
North Elevation, National Bank of Thurmond,
April 1991
(NPS Photo)
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The slack area above the sash is filled in only by the back of the interior paneling. The
window to the west consists of a double set of very tall, narrow casement sashes, with each
set headed by a single square hopper sash. The hopper sashes have eight decorative muntins
radiating outward from the center of each sash. These sashes are clearly from the bank’s 1923
remodeling, but since the sashes fit the masonry opening perfectly, it is not clear whether the
window opening is original or part of the 1923 remodeling.

The upper windows open onto a fire escape, also located on the north elevation. The fire
escape is constructed of 6" steel channels for the main structural elements with 2 x 2 steel
angles for handrails, handrail supports, and diagonal bracing. The landings, formed of large
steel plates, are rusted. The fourth-floor landing is particularly corroded, with some small
areas completely rusted through. The stairs between the second and third floors and the third
and fourth floors are not alike, except that both are made of steel and appear to have been
scavenged from elsewhere. For security reasons, the park removed a steel stair that extended
from the second-floor landing to grade at the west elevation of the building. Rusted chicken
wire encloses the second, third, and fourth floors, except where the stair to grade was located,
and prevents anyone from falling.

The area underneath the fire escape is fenced in and partially paved with a concrete slab
containing a drain. Located in the northeast corner of this fenced-in area is a small pit,
approximately 2’ square, constructed of brick with some partial brick courses extending above
the slab. The pit is currently covered with plywood. It seems likely that some type of
mechanical equipment once occupied this area, but it is unknown what it was or when it was
installed or removed.

The east elevation (figure 70) is brick on the top three floors. The first floor is stone and is
below grade on this side of the structure. At the far south end of the building are two original
window openings at the landings of the interior stairs. The upper window is the original one-
over-one double hung typical of the building, while the lower opening has been converted
to a very short door. This door fits within the original, unmodified opening with room for a
small fixed pane of glass above it. The door was evidently installed as an emergency exit, and
it opens onto a deteriorating wooden bridge to grade. There are five double-hung windows
on each of the third and fourth floors. An additional small, high window toward the southern
end of the third floor is boarded over. Six double-hung windows are found at the second
floor, with the two northernmost windows grouped together under a single brick arch. The
remaining windows in this elevation are headed by steel lintels. Two small, high windows
are located in the central portion of the second floor. Their tops are covered with masonite
and have a bathroom vent at each masonite panel. On each floor, the third double-hung
window from the north is boarded over to accommodate interior bathroom functions. The

fourth-floor window is not completely boarded over and has a small window at the very top

of the opening. A number of large electrical panels and meters are located at this elevation,
with large conduits running between them. At the top of the east wall, roof-joist ends extend
beyond the wall and are exposed to view. Wood blocking between the joists is located in the
same plane as the masonry wall and is also exposed to view.

The south elevation of the National Bank of Thurmond is not visible and has no original
fenestration as it abuts the north side of the Goodman-Kincaid Building. The two penetrations

at the first and third floors were made to connect the bank and the Goodman-Kincaid
Building about 1975.
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Figure 70
East Elevation, National Bank of Thurmond, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

The building has a built-up roof with a mopped asphalt finish. It appears to be in good
condition and is vented by two galvanized metal turbines and a low-profile, plastic roof vent.
The low-profile vent is centered on the roof, while the two turbines are equally spaced on the
western third of the roof. The interior sides of the parapets are finished with asphalt canted
to drain water away from the walls. The parapets are topped with ceramic coping tiles
finished in a dark reddish purple glaze. The tiles are in generally good condition, although
about half a dozen are cracked or broken. The joints between the tiles have been filled with
asphalt or some kind of mastic. A cant strip placed on an angle to the eastern edge of the roof
directs all water to the downspout at the northeast corner. Water tends to collect around the
downspout inlet, partly because debris block the inlet.

There are four chimneys at this building. The chimneys are brick and typically have several
corbelled courses at their tops. The east and south chimneys are capped with tar paper that
is secured with a variety of wire, twine, and bent coat hangers. The east chimney is in dire
need of repointing. At the northwest chimney, the top courses of bricks that would form the
corbelling are missing. The northeast chimney is in good to fair condition and has bricks
standing on an angle forming a tent-like cap on the top.

The Interior
The interior configuration of this building has generally changed very little since it was built.
Perhaps the largest change occurred in 1923 when the northern end of the building was

remodeled for the National Bank of Thurmond. At that time, a space that had probably been
one large room was divided into several rooms. The building does not have a basement as
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heating was obtained from the building to the north, and there was no need for a heating
plant in this structure. The original plaster in the building contains asbestos.

Room 101. The floor of this room is of two different materials that distinguish the public area
~of the banking hall from the staff area. The public area is of salmon-colored marble tile. Many
tiles are broken and a few are loose. Ghosts in the center of the marble floor indicate the
original location of the check-writing stand. The remainder of the floor is now covered with
linoleum, which appears to be installed over an earlier layer of linoleum tile. The structural
floor is a concrete slab. The base at the north and west walls is 4" black vinyl, with no ghost
or other indication of any previous base. The base at the east and south walls, around room
102, and around the partition to the north of the main entry is 10"-high marble. A portion of
the base at the east wall is a different variety of marble, and a section of base in the middle
of the south wall is marble-patterned plastic laminate. The 4" black vinyl base is also applied
over the marble base at the east wall. |

The walls and column heads are plaster, and the columns are constructed of gypsum board
with wood trim. The walls, except for the east wall, are painted light aqua. The east wall is
covered with a gold foil wallpaper with a black-flocked design. Apparently there is some
moisture damage under the wallpaper as a quantity of plaster dust fell when a loose seam
was pulled on slightly. The lower east corner of the north wall (figure 71) also has obvious
moisture damage, and minor moisture damage occurs under the windows of the west wall.
Marble wainscotting, 3’ 6" high, is on the east and south walls, the walls around room 102,
and the partition to the north of door 101 (figure 72). A section of wainscot is missing at the
south wall, apparently to accommodate a large plaque or picture mounted there at one time.
The wainscot is in good condition with a few minor cracks, mainly in the wainscot cap. The
upper portion of the walls around room 102 and the partition to the north of door 101 are
formed of gold-toned fiberboard screens, perforated in a diamond pattern, in a marble and
metal frame.

The plaster ceiling is divided by plaster beams into six bays. Each ceiling bay has a simple
plaster cove and some plaster molding that creates a panel effect. In the southeast bay there
is a large area of water damage, to the extent that the plaster molding has disintegrated.
Other more minor areas of water damage are visible in the two center bays, and there is an
area of cracked and loose plaster in the northeast bay. The plaster around the northwest beam
is cracked and loose. A metal plate has been installed at each side of the loose area of the
beam, presumably to hold the plaster in place.

The marble check-writing stand now sits along the east wall (figure 71), just to the south of
door 109. At some point, the tellers’ area was moved from the banking hall to rooms 103 and
104. To accommodate this move, the existing tellers’ windows were cut into the east wall of
room 101. When the space was later converted for the Banker’s Club, a padded edge was
added to the counter at the tellers’ windows, and a raised wooden platform covered in black
shag carpeting was installed on the floor in front of the tellers’ windows. The Banker’s Club
used this counter as a bar.

Room 102. The original use of this room is unknown. Currently it houses electrical panels.
The room has no ceiling and opens to room 101. Consequently, the plaster walls that form
the south and west walls of room 101 form the south and west walls of this space. The upper
portions of the north and east walls are of the same gold-toned perforated fiberboard screen
and marble frame described above. The lower portions of the north and east walls are
finished with plaster. The wood baseboard is finished in a dark reddish brown stain and is
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Figure 71
Northeast Corner, Room 101, National Bank of Thurmond, August
1990
(NPS Photo)

Figure 72
South End of Room 101, National Bank of Thurmond, April 1991
(NPS Photo)



the same style of baseboard found around the base of the columns in room 101. A significant
crack occurs in the southwest corner, angling toward door 101 at the top of the west wall. The
floor of this room is of marble tile, which is cracked in a few places.

Room 103. Used as a teller’s cage and office during the latter part of the National Bank of
Thurmond’s tenency in the building, this room still contains a large safe from those days
(figure 73). The safe is on wheels but is too large to be moved easily or to fit through
doorways. The floor of the room is finished in 12" square linoleum tile. Much of the floor is
stained, and some areas are scratched or gouged. There is no baseboard except for 4" vinyl
cove at the south wall and about a third of the east wall. The walls are paneled, with water
stains and possible decay along the bottom, especially at the north wall. In the southeast
corner of the room, a section of paneling was removed during the winter of 1991 to expose
the condition of the eastern stone wall, which is parged and in good condition.

At the very top and along the full length of the south wall are dark-stained plywood cabinet
doors that open onto a storage area above rooms 104, 106, and a portion of 105. The ceiling
is painted plaster in good condition, with a small unfinished cove molding around the
perimeter.

Rooms 104 and 105. Prior to being divided for the teller’s cage, these rooms were originally
one. Finished with the same paneling that covers the other walls of both rooms, the dividing
partitions do not extend to either the floor or the ceiling but are supported on posts. The
paneling on the full-height walls is in fair condition with possible decay along the bottom.
The flooring of both rooms is 12"-square linoleum tile, and 4" vinyl serves as the baseboard
for both rooms. The ceiling is finished with 12"-square acoustical tile, installed in a running
bond pattern.

Figure 73
East End of Room 103, National Bank of Thurmond, April 1991
(NPS Photo)
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Room 106. The walls of this toilet room are of plastic laminate in a gold-on-white abstract
pattern. The east wall is buckled and warped from moisture and has some mold growing on
it. The remaining walls are in better condition. The floor is finished with 12"-square linoleum
tile with a 4" vinyl base. In the eastern half of the room, the floor tiles are loose and water
stained and have mold growing on them. The ceiling is of 12"-square acoustical tile installed
in a running bond pattern. Some water staining is evident at the tile joints in the northwest
cormer.

Room 107. The finishes in this toilet room are very similar to those in toilet room 106, except
that the floor of this room is raised above the level of the adjoining floor by several inches.
The floor is finished with 12"-square linoleum tiles, which are loose and warped in the
northeast corner. The base is 4" black vinyl.

The walls are finished in gold-and-white-patterned plastic laminate. The north wall is buckled
and warped from moisture, and the south and east walls are moldy and water damaged,
particularly in the southeast corner. At the east wall, the sink and a portion of the laminate
were removed as part of the destructive investigation in the winter of 1991. The demolition
revealed the east stone foundation wall to be in good condition.

The ceiling is of 12"-square acoustical tile in a running bond pattern. The ceiling in the
southeast corner was perhaps knocked down by a portion of an earlier ceiling falling from
above. Much of the remaining ceiling tile is water stained.

Room 108. The walls of this hallway are paneled. The horizontal joint between the panels at
the top of the wall is not covered with trim as is typical throughout the rest of the building.
The paneling is scratched and shows signs of mildew. The floor is finished with 12"-square
linoleum tile with a 4" vinyl cove applied to plain 1x boards as a base. A large access hatch
to a mechanical area above rooms 107, 108, and 109 is located in the middle of the ceiling.
The ceiling is finished with 12"-square acoustical tile set in a stack bond pattern. The tiles are
water stained along their joints.

Room 109. The walls and ceiling of this closet are plaster, most of which is rough or cracked
and in generally poor condition. The floor is of 12"-square linoleum tile, and there is no base.
A large piece of air-handling equipment is suspended through the ceiling and occupies most
of the space in the closet. Wooden shelves line the walls at the east and west.

Room 110. This vault space is finished entirely in concrete or plaster, painted white. The floor
is partially covered with linoleum, and the remaining exposed concrete is stained and moldy.
There is no baseboard. While it is unclear whether the walls are concrete or plaster, the finish
is rough, with evidence of moisture and a great deal of mold. The ceiling is concrete with a
board finish. Several units of wooden shelves are found in the northwest corner of the vault.

Room 111. This room served as the kitchen for the Banker’s Club, and two sinks and some
cabinets on the south wall remain (figure 74). The floor is of 1" white hexagonal tile with a
blue Greek key border design in 3/4"-square tile around the perimeter of the room. Along the
north wall, the border pattern turns into the room, outlining the location of an original
counter from the days when this space had a mercantile function (figure 75). The border
placement also suggests that a counter may have been located at the west window and
perhaps used as a display surface. The tile is generally in good condition, although in a few
areas tile is stained or missing. The floor at the display window and original counter is
concrete. At the original counter, the floor is covered with 12"-square linoleum tile that is
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Figure 74
West End of Room 111, National Bank of Thurmond, August 1990
(NPS Photo)

Figure 75
Tile at North Wall, Room 111, National Bank of Thurmond, April 1991
(NPS Photo)
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loose, warped, and generally in poor condition. Four-inch vinyl cove molding serves as a base
but much is loose, missing, or in poor condition.

The north wall is finished in plaster. The plaster is rough in areas, with moisture damage
along the bottom of the wall and significant amounts of mold growing on the eastern third
of the wall (figure 76). The south and east walls are finished with plastic laminate on wood
framing installed over the original wall surfaces. The laminate is white with a gold abstract
pattern, is bucked from moisture, and has some areas of mold growth. In two areas where
the studs behind the laminate can be seen, the bottoms of the studs are decayed. In the winter
of 1991 some laminate was removed from the east wall. The studs were in poor condition,
but the stone wall was in good condition. The west wall is formed by the entry doors and

display windows (figure 74).

The ceiling is of 2’ x 4’ acoustical panels suspended approximately 5 below the original
plaster ceiling. The suspended ceiling has a considerable amount of water damage, and many
of the panels have fallen. The original plaster above is in poor condition, much of it missing.

A concrete ramp up into the Goodman-Kincaid Building extends into the southeast corner of
the room (figure 77). It was added after 1975, when the first floor of the Goodman-Kincaid
Building was renovated for an additional Banker’s Club dining room.

Room 112, This stairway serves as the street access to the hotel rooms on the upper three
floors of this building. The street door is a glass and metal door in a metal frame and is not
the original. The floor is carpeted, with rubber treads applied over the carpet on the stairs.
The style of baseboard found around the top of the stair is typical of the upper floors, but a
different wood base is found at the sides of the stair and at the bottom landing. There is no
base at the top of the stair at the east wall or to the north. Originally, these two areas were
open to the second-floor hall (to the north) and to the stairway to the third floor (to the east).
Walls were installed later to. comply with stricter fire codes.

The new wall to the east is paneled. The new wall to the north, which separates the stair from
the hall, is finished with a thin ceat of plaster applied in a swirl pattern to horizontal tongue-
and-groove boards. The remaining walls to the north, west, and south are plastered, with the
swirl pattern occurring at the rest of the north wall and at the west wall.

The ceiling above the bottom landing is plastered and is cracked at the wall lines. The
remainder of the ceiling, above the stairs and upper landing, is covered with 12"-square
acoustical tile set in a running bond pattern, with a white cove molding around the perimeter.

Room 113. This room was converted to its present use as a bathroom probably at the same
time the National Bank of Thurmond moved into the building, as the baseboard profile
matches that found in the banking hall and adjacent room. The floor is finished with linoleum
tile on a concrete slab. The dark-stained baseboard has a section missing at the southeast
corner. The painted plaster walls are in good condition with a small section missing for
plumbing pipes in the southeast corner. A wooden partition, painted white, divides the room
into a utility area with a water heater and wooden shelving and the toilet area proper.

The ceiling is finished with 12" x 12" acoustical tile installed in a running bond pattern.

During the winter of 1991 a small section of ceiling tile was removed to expose the stair
framing above. A cove molding, painted white and loose in spots, finishes the joint between
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Figure 76
East End of Room 111, National Bank of Thurmond, August 1990
(NPS Photo)

the wall and ceiling. This molding has a small gap at the north and south walls directly over
the dividing partition.

Room 201. This closet is original to the building. The floor is carpeted, and the painted
baseboard is of the style typical to the upper floors of this structure. The walls and ceiling are
plastered and in fair condition. Wooden shelves line the north, west, and south walls. The
shelves, walls, and ceiling above the shelves are painted white, while the lower portion of the
walls are painted pink. The trim is painted grey.

Rooms 202, 203, 204, 205, 211, 212, 215, 301, 302, 304, 305, 306, 308, 309, 314, 315, 401, 404,
405, 406, 407, 411, 412, 417, and 418. These rooms have been hotel rooms since the building
was constructed. Generally, the floors are finished with carpet over the original tongue-and-
groove flooring; the interior walls are paneled; and the exterior walls are plastered (figure 78).
At the third floor, a section of baseboard and paneling is cut out for a plumbing access panel
at each bathtub, with an access cover of paneling. The baseboards are wooden and, like the
other trim, are usually painted brown. The ceilings are usually finished with 12"-square
acoustical tile applied to the original plaster ceilings in a running bond pattern. In a number
of rooms, a 2’ x 4’ acoustical panel ceiling has been suspended below the earlier acoustical
ceiling. The "Room Finish" schedules in the "Existing Condition" drawings show the specific
finishes for each surface of each room.

Rooms 202 and 204. During the winter of 1991 carpeting and flooring were removed from the

northwest corner of these rooms as part of the destructive investigation. The floor framing
thus exposed is discussed in the structural section of this report.
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Figure 77
Southeast Corner, Room 111, National Bank of
Thurmond, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

Room 205. The basic finishes of this room are described above. Door 206 does not appear to
be an original opening. The current door is a single door fitted into an earlier, wider opening.
The space between the wide opening and the door is finished with paneling on both sides.

Room 206. This closet was probably once a part of room 205, as suggested by the baseboard
at the north wall, which is a plain 3/4" x 5" board instead of the typical baseboard. The floor
is carpeted, and the walls and ceiling are plastered. The plaster is painted pink, and the trim
is painted grey.

Room 207. This hall has a carpeted floor with typical baseboards. The carpet is laid over
tongue-and-groove flooring. Approximately 25 square feet of flooring was taken up during
destructive investigation in order to expose the structural steel beam below.

The walls are plastered in a swirl pattern and are painted white, with a brown painted
wainscot to a height approximately 4’ above the floor. The trim is painted brown. Originally,
there was no wall at the south end of the hall, and the hall was open to the stair. The south
wall was probably installed to comply with fire regulations; it is finished with horizontal
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Figure 78
Typical Room Finishes, Room 304, National Bank of Thurmond, April
1991
(NPS Photo)

tongue-and-groove boards under the thin coat of swirled plaster. At the window at the north
end of the hall, a substantial vertical crack forms a segment of a crack that runs the entire
height of the building at this location. Beneath the window are a metal plate and bolt that are
part of the connections tying the fire escape outside the window to the building. The current
metal window, undoubtedly not the original, was probably installed when the fire escape was
erected, as it contains an escape door now covered with plywood. Approximately halfway
down the hall are ghosts in the wall and the original plaster ceiling of a wall that once
divided the hall in two. A turned-wood corner guard protects the corner at the south end of
the hall. The ceiling is 2 x 4’ suspended acoustical panels.

Room 208. Like stair 112, this stair was once more open than it is now. To the west the stair
opened to stair 112, and below the upper flight of steps it opened to what is now storage
room 210. The latter opening has been filled in with vertical beaded tongue and groove, and
the former opening was closed off with a frame partition finished with paneling. The stair is
carpeted and has the typical wood baseboard. The walls are plastered and painted white with
a brown wainscot. The ceiling is plaster and is painted white. The trim is painted brown.

Room 209. This room is unfinished space under the landing and the lower portion of stair
208. To the south and east are brick walls; exposed studs form the north and west walls. The
ceiling is formed by the exposed stair framing. The floor is the original 3-1/4"-wide tongue-
and-groove flooring. There is no base or other trim.

Room 210. As mentioned above, this space originally opened to stair 208, hall 207, and stair
112. Enclosure was accomplished with the installation of the unfinished vertical beaded
tongue-and-groove walls that form the south and most of the west walls of this space. The
north, east, and lower portion of the south walls are original plaster, with the original dark-
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stained baseboards. There is no base at the west wall. The floor is the original 3-1/4"-wide
tongue-and-groove flooring. It appears to have been originally stained dark. The ceiling is the
original plaster. The bottom of the newel post from the third floor is visible in this room and
is finished in a dark stain or possibly a dark-grained finish.

Rooms 211 and 212. While these rooms were included in the general description of the hotel
rooms, they are worth mentioning again because they are the only upper floor rooms besides
room 210 in which the original woodwork finish is not painted over. The original finish is a
medium-tone grained finish, with a coat of dark varnish applied over it at a later date. Also,
the sink in the northeast corner of room 211 (figure 79) is of an appropriate style to be
original to the building.

During the destructive investigation that took place in the winter of 1991, the carpet and
flooring were removed from the east end of room 212 to expose the floor framing. Lath,
plaster, and paneling at the bottoms of the interior walls in the northeast and southeast
corners of the room were also removed. The studs thus exposed are in good condition.
Removing the paneling also exposed the ghost of an original door opening on the north wall
(figure 80).

Figure 79
Northeast Corner, Room 211, National Bank of
Thurmond, April 1991
(NPS Photo)
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Figure 80
Northeast Corner, Room 212, National Bank of Thurmond, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

Rooms 213, 213A, and 214. While the fixtures and finishes in these bathrooms may not be
original, these rooms were probably bathrooms from the outset. This assumption is based on
the presence of both regular double-hung windows and small windows located high on the
walls in both rooms. The presence of both types of windows is inappropriate in a normal
hotel room but makes sense when the smaller, higher windows are located over toilet stalls
as they are now. Also, the walls dividing rooms 213 and 213A seem to be original, which
would create functional bathrooms if the original fixtures were placed in the same or similar
locations as the existing fixtures.

Both bathrooms have 12"-square linoleum tile on the floor and 4" black vinyl bases. At the
north, south, and west walls of all three spaces, the finish is gold-on-white patterned plastic
laminate panels with white-on-gold plastic laminate filling in the space between the top of
the normal 4’ x 8’ panels and the ceiling (figure 81). The east wall of all the spaces is plaster,
painted white. The partitions around the bathtubs and toilets are constructed of plywood in
wooden framing. Immediately around the bathtubs, the partitions are finished with plastic
laminate. The wood partitions and all trim are painted white.

The ceilings of the rooms are suspended acoustical panels, with 2’-square panels used in
rooms 213 and 213A and 2’ x 4" panels used in room 214. Metal ventilation grills are located
in the ceiling, in the southwest corner of room 214, and in the northwest corner of 213.

The sink counter in room 214 is finished in white, gold, and grey marble-patterned plastic
laminate, while the counter at the north wall of the same room is finished in white plastic
laminate with gold specks. The wooden bench along the south wall of room 213 and the
wooden benches at each tub are painted white.
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Figure 81
Room 214, National Bank of Thurmond, April
1991
(NPS Photo)

In room 214, during the winter of 1991, an area of flooring and plastic-laminate wall finish
(directly opposite the north-south wall dividing rooms 213 and 213A) was removed to
determine if a room similar to room 213A ever existed in room 214. A ghost of a partition,
not full height, was found on the south wall.

Room 215. The basic finishes of this room have been described above, but since there is
extensive water damage in the northeast corner of this space, further description is required.
Water damage affects approximately half of the plaster at the north and east walls and seems
to be centered in the northeast corner. The plaster on these walls is finished in the same swirl
pattern used in the hall, which suggests that a repair was made to remedy earlier moisture
problems. The ceiling panel in the affected corner has fallen from the weight of the water and,
along with plaster debris, has formed a soggy pile on the floor in which fungi are growing.

There is no clear cause of the moisture problem. The room directly above is not affected, and

the metal plate on the north exterior wall at this location could not be examined closely to
determine if it is the water’s entry point.
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In this corner of the room the carpeting and flooring were removed during the winter of 1991
to expose the floor framing for the structural section of this report.

Room 301. The carpeting and flooring in the northwest corner of the room were removed
during the winter of 1991 to expose the floor framing for the structural section of this report.

Room 303. This bathroom was created by removing the east end of the wall dividing rooms
302 and 304 and building a room through the opening. Rooms 302 and 304 share this
bathroom, and both have access to it. The floor is finished with 12"-square linoleum tile, and
there is a 4" black vinyl baseboard. The walls are finished with white and gold plastic
laminate panels. The ceiling is 12"-square acoustical tile set in a running bond pattern, with
water stains in the southwest corner. The trim is painted cream.

Rooms 305 and 306. The general finishes of these rooms are described above. The wall
dividing these two rooms is not original and is constructed with a gypsum board finish under
the paneling. Door 310 is not original and was probably added when the original large room
was divided in two.

During the winter of 1991, the carpeting and flooring in the southwest corner and along the
west wall of room 306 were removed to expose the floor framing for the structural section of
this report.

Room 307. Like that at the second floor, this hallway has plastered walls, painted white with
a brown wainscot. However, the plaster here is textured in a brush-stroke pattern, not in a
swirl pattern. It is not clear whether this texture is in the plaster or the paint. The vertical
crack in the north wall of the building continues adjacent to the north window, and some
other minor cracking occurs at the west wall. The plaster above door 310 is in poor condition.
The floor is carpeted, and the baseboard is the typical wooden baseboard. The baseboard at
the north wall is damaged. The ceiling at the main part of the hall is of 2 x 4’ suspended
acoustical panels, while the ceiling near the stairway is of plaster, painted white. At the south
end of the hall is a set of steps and a platform that accesses a door into the third floor of the
Goodman-Kincaid Building (figure 82). The steps and platform are carpeted, and a small
closet is constructed on the west end of the platform. The closet exterior is of unfinished
gypsum board. The platform is enclosed underneath with a set of cabinet doors, creating a
storage area.

Room 308. During the winter of 1991, all carpeting was removed in this room. In the
northeast corner, the flooring was removed to expose the floor framing, and lath and plaster
were removed from the bottom of the interior wall to expose the wall framing. The studs
were found to be in good condition. The wood panel covering the small window in the
northeast corner was also removed (figure 83).

Rooms 310, 311, 312, and 313. These bathrooms have been constructed from an original hotel
room. While it is not definite, it seems likely that the north wall of room 313 and the south
wall of room 310 are original walls. Doors 316 and 319 are apparently original doors, while
doors 315 and 317 are later additions. Window 310 was walled over during the installation
of the bathrooms. The floors are finished with 12"-square linoleum tile, and the base in all
four rooms is 4" black vinyl. The walls are finished with plastic laminate in a gold-on-white
abstract pattern. The ceilings are 2’ x 4’ suspended acoustical panels. The trim in all rooms
1s painted white, except in room 313 where the trim is unfinished. |
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Figure 82
South End of Hall 307, National Bank of
Thurmond, April 1990
(NPS Photo)

Rooms 309, 314, and 315. These hotel rooms are finished like the typical hotel rooms
described above. However, the baseboards are slightly different between doors 314 and 315
and doors 318 and 319, where the original walls were modified for the installation of the
adjacent bathrooms. In room 315, a slightly different base is found to the north of door 321
and for approximately 2’ to the east of door 320. There is no obvious reason for the different
base in room 315. A small soffit is located over door 318 in room 314, probably for plumbing
lines. The sides of the soffit are paneled, and the bottom is finished with 12"-square acoustical
tile.

In room 314, a section of lath and plaster at the bottom of the east end of the north wall was
removed in the winter of 1991 to expose the wall framing. The studs were found to be in
good condition. Also removed were the carpeting and flooring in the northeast corner of
room 315. The floor framing thus exposed is discussed in the structural section of this report.

Room 401. In the winter of 1991, a section of carpeting and flooring in the northwest corner
of the room was removed to expose the floor framing (figure 84).
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Figure 83
Northeast Corner, Room 308, National Bank of Thurmond, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

Figure 84
Northwest Corner, Room 401, National Bank of Thurmond, April 1991
(NPS Photo)




Rooms 402 and 403. These bathrooms were created from an original room by adding a
dividing partition running north and south. The original room, along with rooms 401 and 404,
probably formed a suite similar to rooms 405, 406, and 407. The floor is sheet linoleum, and
the walls are plastic laminate in the same white and gold pattern found throughout the
building. The ceiling is 2’ x 4’ suspended acoustical panels. A 1 x 3 board serves as base at
the north, south, and east walls of room 402. In room 403, the base is 4" brown vinyl. At the
west wall, the vinyl is applied over an original section of wooden baseboard. However, the
wood base does not appear to be in its original location.

Room 404. This is perhaps the one hotel room that most closely retains its original finishes
and character. The only changes that seem to have been made are the installation of carpeting,
the painting of the woodwork, and the replacement of the original plaster ceiling with
gypsum board. During the winter of 1991, a portion of the ceiling in the northwest corner of
the room was removed to expose the ceiling joists (figure 85).

Room 407. The basic finishes of this room are described above. There is a 3’ section of
different baseboard to the south of door 408. Also, the floor slopes downward noticeably from
the southeast corner toward the northwest. In the winter of 1991, a section of carpeting and
flooring in the northwest corner of the room was removed to expose the floor framing (figure
86).

Room 408. This closet was once part of hall 409 but was probably an early modification to
the building, based on the wood lath and plaster used to enclose it. The south and west walls
of the closet are original plaster. These walls are painted grey and have various cracks. The
north and east walls are exposed studs, with the back side of the lath and plaster finish on
the other side of the wall visible. The floor is the original tongue-and-groove flooring, with
the original dark finish. The original baseboard at the south and west walls also retains its
original dark finish. There is no base at the north and east walls. The ceiling is plastered but
in poor condition, with some plaster missing and the rest badly cracked.

Room 409. Unlike the two lower halls, this hall appears to have its original plaster finish and
does not have a painted wainscot. The north, east, and west walls are plastered and painted
white. The plaster has numerous minor cracks and many areas where it appears that paint
had peeled and been painted over. At the north wall (figure 87) there is a significant crack
adjacent to the window, part of the crack that runs the entire height of the building. The
south wall of the hall and the area of the east wall adjacent to door 410 are paneled.

The floor is carpeted, and the base is the typical wood baseboard. The top molding of the
baseboard is missing at the north wall, and an unfinished wood board serves as the base
between door 408 and the south wall. The ceiling is finished with 2’ x 4’ suspended acoustical
panels. During the destructive investigation for the report, some of the acoustical tiles and
original lath and plaster were removed at the north end of the hall to expose the ceiling
framing.

Room 410. Much of this space is finished like the lower flights of stairs. The floor is carpeted,
and the north, south, and east walls are plastered with a painted wainscot. The west wall is
paneled, and at least the door portion of the wall was installed to comply with fire codes. The
ceiling is finished with unfinished gypsum board between unfinished 3 x 6 beams, creating
something of a Tudor look (figure 88). The flat ceiling at the upper landing is composed of
2 x 4 acoustical panels. The original plaster ceiling was undoubtedly flat.

113




Figure 85
Northwest Corner, Room 404, National Bank of Thurmond, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

Figure 86
Southwest Corner, Room 407, National Bank of Thurmond, April 1991
(NPS Photo)
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Figure 88
Stair 410, National Bank of Thurmond, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

plain board covers the gap between the bottom of the higher base and the floor. All of the
paneling in room 418 is light in color, quite unlike the paneling found throughout the rest of
the building (figure 89).

In the northeast corner of room 418, a section of acoustical tile and original lath-and-plaster
ceiling was removed in the winter of 1991 to expose the ceiling framing.

The Structural System

Existing Conditions. The National Bank of Thurmond is a four-story brick masonry structure
with a wood-framed roof and floors. The building is essentially rectangular in plan and
measures approximately 60 feet wide by 40 feet long.

Foundation — Exterior foundation walls are inaccessible, and the thickness, material, and
condition are unknown. No test pits were dug nor destructive investigation performed along
the exterior walls to determine the material, size, or condition of the wall footings. The
exterior wall footings appear to be adequate since there is no evidence of settlement along
these walls.

First-Floor Framing — The first-floor structural system is a slab-on-grade and is in good
condition. The only apparent problem is near the west or front of the building in room 101.
There, a joint in the slab, which runs north and south, slopes from the joint to the front of the
building. This appears to be an as-constructed condition and not an indication of subgrade
failure.
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Figure 89
Northeast Corner, Room 418, National Bank of Thurmond, April 1991
(NPS Photo)

Second-Floor Framing — The second-floor framing consists of two separate parts. The framing
for the southern portion is 2 x 12 joists that span from the south wall to a longitudinal
bearing wall. These joists are in good condition.

The framing for the remainder of the second floor consists of 2 x 12 joists that span from the
west and east (front and back) walls to a central, transverse steel beam. The beam is 12" deep
and is supported at each end by pilasters and by an 8" diameter steel column located midway
between the pilasters.

This framing is in fair condition. The 2 x 12 joists have deflected approximately 1" at the
edges of the transverse corridor. This deflection has occurred because the joists are undersized
to support the three stories of bearing walls above.

Third-Floor Framing — The third-floor framing is a simple system of 2 x 12 joists that span
from the east and west walls to the interior bearing walls, which form the edges of the
transverse corridor. Additional 2 x 12 joists span across the corridor. The framing is in fair
to good condition, as some of the joists appear to have been damaged by leaky plumbing.

Fourth-Floor Framing — The fourth-floor framing is identical to the third-floor framing except
that the joists are 2 x 10s. These joists are pocketed into the exterior walls, and some are
decayed at the bearing because of moisture.

Roof Framing — The roof framing consists of 2 x 6 joists that span from the east and west
walls to transverse cripple walls (see drawings). These cripple walls are supported by the
transverse bearing walls mentioned above. The roof framing is in fair condition, as there is
evidence of minor decay and termite damage.
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Walls — The exterior walls of the building are 15", four-wythe brick masonry. The east and
west walls are bearing walls.

The south wall is virtually inaccessible due to its close proximity to the Goodman-Kincaid
Building. There do not appear to be major problems with this wall.

The east wall is constructed into a hillside, and there is no evidence of a foundation drain.
Because this wall does not retain as much fill as the other buildings, more of its exterior is

exposed. This wall is in fair condition.

The north wall is in poor condition. A large 1-1/2" crack has developed above the hallway
window at the fourth-story level. The crack extends from the top of the parapet to the sill of
the second-story window. This crack does not necessarily follow the mortar but extends
through individual bricks in many locations. The crack is widest at the top, tapers to hairline
width at the third-floor window sill, and extends completely through the wall.

There are two possible causes of the crack: settlement of the foundation or thermal stresses.
Settlement seems unlikely since there is no other evidence, such as cracked plaster or
extensive cracking, elsewhere in the building. Nor is there elevation difference in brick
coursing on adjacent sides of the crack. Furthermore, the parapet coping tile is not cracked.

Thermal stresses may have caused the crack. In 1963, the adjacent Thurmond Hotel, a three-
story masonry building with a wood-framed roof, burned down. Historic photographs show
the hotel roof to be approximately at the same level as the bank’s fourth story.

Calculations indicate that a temperature in the range of 900 to 1,000 degrees Fahrenheit would
cause the brick wall to expand by approximately 1-1/2". According to Denver Service Center
(DSC) Safety Engineer Ken Rueff, normal fire temperatures for wood structures range from
1,200 to 1,600 degrees Fahrenheit. It is possible that, as fire temperatures increased, the brick
wall expanded until stresses reached the ultimate level and failure occurred. Failure would
have occurred at the weakest cross section, which is above the window.

There is evidence that unsuccessful attempts have been made to repair the crack.
Consequently, DSC designers requested that the park maintenance staff install a crack-
monitoring device (plastic tell-tale), which was done in August 1990. Information to date has
indicated approximately 15 mm of movement.

The west wall is in fair condition. There are numerous minor diagonal cracks at window
openings and one relatively large crack at the second-floor level, just south of the limestone
bank facade. The cause of this cracking may be related to the deflection of the storefront
lintel, beam B2.

Overall, the National Bank of Thurmond is in fair structural condition.

Structural Load-Bearing Analysis. The load-bearing analysis for this building was based on
the requirements of the BOCA National Building Code-1990. The Uniform Building Code
(UBC-88) and ACI 530-88, "Building Code Requirements for Masonry Structures” were

consulted for masonry construction.

Since tentative uses of the building have not been identified, no comparison can be made
between existing and required floor live-load capacity. The required floor live loads are listed
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below as a basis for comparison once the building uses have been determined. Snow, wind,
and seismic load requirements are also listed.

Floors
Light Storage 125 psf
Public Occupancy 100 psf
Stairs and Exits 100 psf
Corridors to Public Rooms 100 psf
Corridors 80 psf
Retail 75 psf
Office 50 psf
Residential 40 psf
Hotel Guest Rooms 40 psf
Roof
Snow 30 psf
Lateral Loads
Wind 20 psf
Seismic Zone 1

Samples of the wood roof and floor joists were sent to the U. S. Department of Agriculture’s
Forest Products Laboratory, where they were identified as hemlock, except for the fourth-floor
joists, which were identified as southern pine. Visual grading was done at the time of field
inspection. No adjustment was made for moisture content. The following values were used
in the analysis:

Second and Third Floors, Roof
Fb = 1,500 psi (repetitive member)

Fb = 1,300 psi
Fv = 85 psi
E = 1,200,000 psi
Fourth Floor
Fb = 1,700 psi (repetitive member) -
Fb = 1,450 psi
Fv = 90 psi

E = 1,700,000 psi

Deflections were limited to L/240 for nonplastered construction and L/360 for plastered

construction. A load duration factor of 1.15 was used for the roof framing and 1.0 was used
for the floor framing.

Foundations — Since the foundation was not investigated, a limited load-bearing analysis was
performed. Based on an assumed live-load capacity of 50 psf and the existing dead load for
each floor, the maximum load for the exterior bearing walls is 7,500 pounds per linear foot.
For a presumptive soil-bearing value of 3,000 psf a footing 2’ 6" wide would be required. The
maximum column load is approximately 145 kips, which means a 7’-square footing is
required. These results will provide a means of comparison if the existing foundation is
exposed during further investigation or construction.
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Second-Floor Framing — Since the second-floor framing in this building supports three stories
of bearing walls, an allowable live load of 50 psf was placed on the third and fourth floors
to analyze the second floor. A snow load of 30 psf was also placed on the roof. If uses other
than office use are identified for this building, the results shown below will change because
of the interdependent nature of the second-floor structural system.

Allowable Live Load (psf)

Member Bending Shear Deflection
North Joists 0 0 0
South Joists 80 100 34

The north joists fail to meet the live-load requirement because of the heavy loads they
support. The low value for deflection of the south joists is due to the relatively long (21°)

span.

The section properties for the steel floor beam B1 were determined from field measurements
and by comparing those measurements to the data contained in "Iron and Steel Beams 1873
to 1952," AISC, 1953. The section chosen for analysis was the one that best matched the field
measurements and was fabricated near the building’s time of construction. A basic working
stress of 16 ksi (common for the time of construction) was used in the analysis. A live load
of 50 psf was applied to each floor, and a snow load of 30 psf was applied to the roof to
analyze the beam. Live-load reductions allowed by code were used, and existing dead loads
were also considered. Calculations show the beam to be overstressed from dead load alone.
Obviously, the beam is undersized.

Third-Floor Framing —

Allowable Live Load (psf)
Member Bending Shear Deflection
Joists 109 100 64

The third-floor joists meet the live-load requirement for most of the uses listed above. The low
value for deflection is due to the long span of the joists.

Fourth-Floor Framing —

Allowable Live Load (psf)
Member Bending Shear Deflection
Joists 66 72 37

The fourth-floor joists meet the live-load requirement for most of the uses listed above. As
with the third-floor joists, the low value in deflection is due to the long span of the joists.

Roof Framing —

Snow Load Allowable Snow Load (psf)
Area Requirement (psf) Bending Shear Deflection
Main Building 30 26 54 9
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The roof joists do not meet the snow-load requirement in deflection. This situation is not
critical from a required strength perspective as long as adequate drainage is provided. The
joists also do not meet the snow-load requirement in bending.

Walls — The exterior masonry bearing walls were analyzed as simple beams spanning from
floor to floor with the following load combinations:

Dead Load + Live Load
Dead Load + Wind Load

The first combination produced maximum compressive stress and the second maximum
tensile stress. Wind loads controlled over seismic loads.

Allowable stresses were determined from UBC-88 and based on an assumption of Type N
mortar. The allowable compressive stress was calculated to be 100 psi and the allowable
tensile stress 10 psi. The actual maximum compressive stress was found to be 52 psi and the
actual maximum tensile stress 6 psi. The walls meet the requirements for gravity and wind
loads.

The Mechanical and Electrical Systems

Historically, this structure was heated by steam or hot water heat generated in the Thurmond
Hotel to the north. After that building burned down in 1963, that source of heat was no
longer available. Currently, many but not all of the second-, third-, and fourth-floor rooms
have electric baseboard heaters, while the first floor is heated and air conditioned by two
large air-handling units. The unit serving the historic banking area is located in an attic space
above the bank vault. The other unit is located above the suspended ceiling of room 111. The
air-conditioning condensers for these units are located at the northeast and southeast corners
of the building.

Electrically, the building does not meet code. The Romex cable that serves the electric heaters
is exposed in several locations, and the park reports that some lighting is wired around the
main disconnect switch. The rooms and halls on the upper floors are lighted by surface-
mounted fixtures or, in some of the suspended ceilings, recessed fixtures. Typically, several
electrical outlets are found in the walls of each room. The banking hall at the first floor is
lighted by a combination of two styles of chandeliers and wall sconces. Room 111 is lighted
by recessed fluorescent fixtures in the suspended ceiling, while the bank vault is not lighted.
The remainder of the first-floor spaces are lighted by surface-mounted ceiling fixtures. The
attic above the vault is lighted by a bare-bulb porcelain fixture.

Currently, all utilities are disconnected and inoperable.

THE STONE STRUCTURE

This one-room structure is constructed of split fieldstone with a sloping concrete roof and
located to the east of the northeast corner of the National Bank of Thurmond (figure 90). A
single door is located in the center of the north wall, and two small windows are located in
the south wall. The roof slopes downward to the south and is cracked in numerous places.
Moss and other vegetation are growing on the roof, and vines cover much of the building.
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Figure 90
North Elevation, Stone Structure, March 1990
(NPS Photo)

The stone walls are in fair condition; only a few areas need repointing. There is a large crack
connecting the window heads and wrapping around the southwest corner. This crack has
been caused by the original iron lintels at the window heads rusting severely and jacking up
the stones. Only the ends of the lintels embedded in the stone walls remain. The portion of
the lintels spanning the openings are no longer there.

The interior stonework of the structure is in good condition. At the east and west walls, a 2"-
diameter pipe is embedded in the walls approximately 3’ in from each corner. The purpose
of these pipes is unknown, although they may have served some function in the building’s
use or perhaps served a structural purpose during the pouring of the concrete roof. The pipes
are severely corroded. The concrete roof has a board-form finish on the interior. It is cracked
at the interior where iron or steel reinforcing in the concrete has rusted and expanded. The
floor of the structure appears to be of concrete, although it is so covered with debris its
condition cannot be seen. The only remaining window frame, at the west window, is severely
decayed. The head and west jamb of the door frame are still in place and are in fair condition
except where the bottom of the jamb has rotted away. The door is not in place, but a door
assumed to be the proper one is stored in the structure. It is a five-panel door similar to one
type found in the bank building. It bears remnants of green paint, as does the door frame,
and is in poor condition with very loose joints. The original iron lintel at the door head is
rusted but still in place.

122




RECOMMENDATIONS AND CODE STUDY

The recommendations are based on the assumption that numerous site issues, unresolved at
the time of this writing, are adequately and timely resolved. These issues include general site
access, land acquisition and design for site utilities (telephone, sewer, and water), public
safety, and the acquisition of easements from the railroad for site utilities and access into the
three commercial buildings. The three commercial buildings cannot be used until such
easements and site utilities are in place. The Thurmond Development Concept Plan covers these

concerns in greater detail.

The exterior treatment of the buildings, in regard to their storefronts, is a difficult issue. The
concept of a continuum, of restoring the exteriors to their current appearance, does not seem
particularly appropriate in this case. It does not seem reasonable to restore or recreate the
movie-set storefront at the Goodman-Kincaid Building, nor is it functional to retain the
boarded-up storefront configuration at the Mankin-Cox Building. Likewise, it does not seem
practically possible to set a specific date that exteriors should be restored to match. The
appearance of the buildings about 1925 (figure 2) seems most compatible with the existing
fabric and the proposed use of the buildings. However, as discussed above, the central stair
to the second floor of the Mankin-Cox Building had probably been removed by 1925, and it
is unknown when or how the elevation at the entry to the southern side of the building was
modified to the present configuration. Restoring this entry area to a 1925 condition will
require some conjecture and will be affected by the probable need for fire egress from the
upper floors. Also, the bay window on the Mankin-Cox facade at the 1925 does not appear
to be adequately sound and durable, and it will require ingenuity to reconstruct it so the
window is both structurally sound and historically accurate. The fire escape and window
alterations at the north end of the National Bank of Thurmond were made after 1925. It is
therefore recommended that the storefronts be returned to their historic condition as depicted
in figure 2. The precise nature of the recommended treatments for each exterior is discussed
at length below. The exterior masonry surfaces of all buildings should be cleaned using plain
water and soft-bristle brushes.

The interiors of the three buildings will be adaptively reused and are thus much less sensitive
than the exteriors. Due to structural requirements, the presence of asbestos-containing plaster,
and general deterioration, the interiors of the Goodman-Kincaid and Mankin-Cox buildings
will be newly constructed as described below. At the first floor of the National Bank of
Thurmond, the interior historic fabric will be retained to the extent that structural
considerations, functional considerations, hazardous materials, and code requirements allow.
In addition to the installation of complete fire-sprinkler and alarm systems in all three
buildings, new electrical, plumbing, heating, air-conditioning, and telephone systems will be
required in the commercial buildings. Perimeter drains should be installed along the rear of
all buildings and along the south elevation of the Mankin-Cox Building.

Asbestos-containing plaster and other hazardous materials should be removed in accordance
with all state and federal regulations. The report on the hazardous materials found in the
structures is in appendix A.

The code employed for this study is The BOCA National Building Code/1990, which contains
a chapter covering changes to existing structures that will apply to the Thurmond commercial
buildings. This chapter uses a scoring system that allows some deviation from normal code
requirements, providing the overall scores for the building are above given minimums.
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Restaurant (A-3), office/retail (B), hotel (R-1), and apartments (R-2) were the uses considered.
As long as the buildings are protected with complete fire-sprinkler and alarm systems and
all new construction complies with the code, there does not appear to be any great difficulty
in accommodating office, retail, hotel, or apartment uses. Restaurant uses will require careful
consideration and implementation of egress requirements in order to comply with the code.

Potential concessions uses and feasibilities are discussed in appendix B.

HANDICAP REQUIREMENTS

The adaptive-use design of these three structures requires compliance with the Uniform Federal
Accessibility Standards as well as BOCA. Hotel and apartment uses require 5 percent of the
units to be accessible. Restaurant uses require 5 percent of all fixed seating or tables to be
accessible. Retail and office uses require all areas to be accessible (except mechanical rooms
and similar areas). Ideally, an elevator will be installed in each building to service all floors.
However, elevators may not be required, depending on uses, the possibility of at-grade access
at the rear of the buildings, and the accessibility of the surrounding site.

Handicap access into the first floor of the buildings cannot be created without affecting their
historical appearance. Access into the National Bank of Thurmond can be obtained with
minor regrading (3" maximum) of the pavement adjacent to the two doorways. The first floor
of the Goodman-Kincaid Building is approximately 2’ to 3’ above grade and will have two
separate doorways that are required to be accessible. It is recommended that a platform level
with the first floor be constructed across the entire front of the building, possibly extending
in front of the Mankin-Cox Building as well. Such a platform would be ramped to meet grade
at the south end and would have steps at the north end (as a ramp would block access into
the bank building at that end). Such a platform may also be useful in directing pedestrian
traffic away from the railroad tracks; however, if it extends across the entire fronts of both
buildings, it also would cut off the only existing access into the basements of the two
buildings. If the entire first floor of the Goodman-Kincaid Building houses a single concession,
it may be possible to create handicap access by constructing a new door opening and ramp
in the alley between the Goodman-Kincaid and Mankin-Cox buildings. This solution may
create problems in terms of fire egress requirements and would also preclude the
reconstruction of the historic exterior stair to the second floor of the Goodman-Kincaid
Building. Other options, such as individual ramps or lifts at each doorway, are not practical
as they would require a platform to be built at each doorway, blocking stair use. If the first
floor of the Mankin-Cox Building is occupied by only one concessioner, the existing concrete
ramp at the south side of the building will provide the required accessibility, provided its
slope meets code requirements. The National Park Service property line coincides
approximately with the fronts of the commercial buildings, so construction of platforms or
other structures — indeed, legal access in any form — will require an easement from the
railroad.

THE MANKIN-COX BUILDING
The Exterior |

The exterior of this building should be restored to its 1925 appearance, including
reconstruction of the "Mankin 1904" pediment atop the front facade (figure 2). A paint study
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should be performed to determine the appropriate colors to paint the windows, doors,
storefronts, steel, and other trim. The historic Mankin Drug signs on the south elevation
should be repainted after the exterior is washed. The spalled areas of the front concrete steps

should be patched to match the existing concrete.

The loose and bulging portions of the exterior brick walls, as well as all four chimneys,
should be dismantled and reconstructed. While the existing built-up roofing is in satisfactory
condition, rebuilding the parapet walls will require some roofing repairs. (See the structural
section of this report for recommendations concerning the structural condition of the roof.)

The rear appearance of the building is not particularly significant. Ideally, the existing wood
porch would be repaired as necessary, but meeting code egress requirements for both the
second and third floors may necessitate its removal.

The aluminum sash at the south elevation should be removed. These window openings
should be returned to their original configurations, and new wooden sashes to match the
historic sashes should be installed. The existing door and windows in the south elevation of
the rear addition should be removed and replaced with new paired double-hung windows
matching the originals. The remainder of the window sashes and frames in this building
should be repaired, selectively replacing deteriorated or broken elements in kind.

Many exterior doors will need to be replaced. The existing double doors at the first floor of
the south elevation should be replaced with new glass panel doors to resemble those in figure
2. If reconstructed, the new doors to the front interior stair and the adjacent storefront should

also be similar glass panel doors.

The Interior

Due to the structural deficiencies, the presence of asbestos-containing plaster, and the poor
material condition of most of the interior, it is recommended that the interior of the building
be gutted. Salvage selected historic components for reuse as described below. Functional and
code requirements associated with the new uses will most likely make the exact reproduction
of the interior layout impractical if not impossible. With such extensive changes likely, it is
not appropriate to require the extensive use or reuse of historic materials. Gypsum board,
carpet, linoleum, and other modern finishes are acceptable. Representative samples of all trim
and pressed tin components should be saved during the demolition work and turned over

to the park for its archives.

The first floor can accommodate retail or office use without special provisions; any type of
restaurant use will require a second exit. A stair to the second floor at the rear of the building
may be required to meet this requirement. The second and third floors will require the
existing doors at the rear of the building to be maintained as exits. The second-floor exit will
probably require some sitework in order to comply with code. As long as the upper floors
of the Mankin-Cox Building are used for offices or apartments, a single exit is permitted by
code, although two exits are preferable. Hotel use will require two exits per floor. Installing
a second exit at the front end of the building will require the reintroduction of a stair from
the exterior to the second floor and a new continuation of that stairway to the third floor. The
existing glass panel doors in the hallways do not meet fire codes. Historic window trim
should be reused, and historic baseboard and door trim should be retained or reused in the

hallways.
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While the existing pressed tin wall and ceiling panels in room 101 create a pleasant, historic
look, it is likely that only a very small fraction are in condition to be reused. The cost of
custom-reproducing them for the entire space is approximately $25,000 (1991 prices, not
installed), and functional needs of the concessioner may change the configuration of the space.
While retaining or recreating the historic pressed tin is desired in the portions of room 101
that will be public space, it is recommended that the existing pressed tin be removed during
the design phase in order to determine how much of it, if any, is salvageable for reuse. It is
also recommended that a final decision on finishes for this room be based on those findings
and the functional and budgetary considerations involved in recreating new tin panels. The
existing historic tongue-and-groove wall and ceiling finishes in room 102 should be preserved
and repaired as necessary in those portions of the room that will be used as public spaces.
Any new walls constructed on the first floor should be finished in modern materials. The tile
floor in room 101 and the historic tongue-and-groove floors in rooms 101 and 102 should be
repaired or recreated.

The Structural System

The structural systems of this building, with the exception of the roof framing, are in poor
condition. There is extensive water and termite damage at each floor level, and the
recommendation is to remove the existing floor-framing systems and replace them with new
ones, which can be designed to accommodate any use provided the foundation can support
the additional loads. Although the roof framing is in good condition, it is not adequate to
support the required snow load and must be strengthened.

THE GOODMAN-KINCAID BUILDING
The Exterior

The exterior of this structure is in fairly good shape. Other than minor repointing and
cleaning, few repairs are required. New repointing should match the color and raised pattern
of the existing pointing.

A new roof sloping downward to the east will be required for the entire building. The roof
should be a built-up or membrane roof, consistent with its shallow slope. Some masonry
repair will be required at the top of the rear wall, and the concrete block parapet installed
with the current roof should be removed. Various repairs to the coping will be required.

The storefronts should be reconstructed to resemble the historic storefronts in figures 2 and
9. The historic storefronts consist of a low wood-paneled plinth topped by large glass display
windows of approximately square dimensions. Above the display windows is another area
of glass, again of approximately square dimensions, divided by thin muntins into four square
panes. There are some holes in the existing iron columns that may relate to the horizontal
member dividing the upper and lower glass areas. In the five bays at the southern end of the
building, the new entry should be recessed in the center bay as shown in the historic
photographs. In the four northern bays, entries should be located in the two smaller bays. The
entry to the new stair to the second floor should be located in the southern small bay.

All of the windows, doors, storefronts, steel or iron framing, and other trim should be
painted. The color should be appropriate as determined by the paint studies performed on
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the existing storefront columns and the remaining historic window frames. All of the existing
second- and third-floor windows and remnants of windows should be removed and replaced
with new wooden double-hung windows to match those shown in historic photographs. The
existing windows are a combination of modern tripartite windows and wooden movie-set
windows, so retaining them would be neither functional or historically appropriate.

The platform or ramp required for handicap access at the first floor and the stair or balcony
required for second-floor access at the south end of the building are discussed elsewhere. Site
regrading, adding stairs or bridges, or other measures will be required at the doors at the rear
of the building to meet code accessibility and egress requirements.

The Interior

All of the interiors of the Goodman-Kincaid Building will be new. Nothing useable remains
of the interior of the southern two-thirds of the building, and the existing fabric at the
northern third is structurally and functionally unsuitable for reuse. The badly deteriorated
steel beams and columns in the southern portion of the building will be removed.

Perhaps the main concern for the rehabilitation of the Goodman-Kincaid Building will be
meeting egress requirements. For retail or office use, one exit from each floor will meet code
in most cases. Naturally, two exits are preferred if possible. Restaurant or hotel use will
require two exits from each floor. For restaurant use on the first floor, a second exit would
probably be provided by a stairway exiting at the rear of the second floor. At the southern
portion of the building, such a stair would require converting an existing window into a door.
For access to the upper floors at the northern third of the building, the historic stair from the
front should be reintroduced. Existing doors at the rear of the second and third floors can also
be used for exits, although the second-floor door will require some sitework to meet fire
egress and handicap access requirements fully.

Historically, the southern portion of the building was accessed by an exterior stair to a
second-floor door in the south end of the building. This door and wooden stair should be
reintroduced. The stair should meet code requirements for exterior stairs, which, due to the
proximity of the Mankin-Cox Building and the ideals of recreating the historic scene, may not
be completely possible. Also, the introduction of a handicap ramp in the alley would preclude
the reconstruction of the stair. A balcony or platform should connect the second-floor door
with grade to the east. The introduction of interior access between the northern and southern
portions of the building at the second and third floors would most likely be helpful in
creating convenient access and appropriate fire egress for all the upper floor areas.

The Structural System

The structural system of this building is a conglomeration of new and historic members.
Much of the historic framing is in fair to poor condition, while new framing is in good
condition. The steel beams supporting the second floor are of particular concern. These beams
are inadequately spliced together, and temporary shoring is required as long as the apartment

is occupied.
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As with the Mankin-Cox Building, it is recommended that the existing floor framing systems
be removed and replaced with new ones. These systems can be designed to accommodate any
use provided the foundation can support the additional loads.

The roof framing of the building is inaccessible, and its condition is unknown. If the existing
roof is retained, a destructive investigation should be performed to determine the actual size,
spacing, and condition of the roof framing. Based on this information, appropriate
recommendations for strengthening and repair, if required, can be made.

The walls in the shell portion should be inspected periodically for signs of distress, and if
problems arise, an appropriate bracing system should be installed. Any new floor framing
system for the building should be designed to provide bracing for these walls.

THE NATIONAL BANK OF THURMOND

The Exterior

The exterior of this building should be repointed as necessary, replacing missing and severely
cracked bricks at the same time. The metal plate at the east corner of the north elevation
should be removed and the brickwork behind it repaired to prevent water from entering the
building. The top course of brick corbelling at the cornice should be retopped with a mortar
bed sloped to drain water. Severely spalled or deteriorated brick should be replaced.

The limestone bank facade is in good shape and only needs to be cleaned. Cornice stones
should be reset as necessary. The windows and doors in this part of the facade are in good
shape and require no special treatment. If exterior lighting is deemed necessary, light fixtures
should be carefully chosen to be compatible with the historic character of the facade.

The southern storefront retains its original configuration and possibly its original plinth. This
storefront should be restored to its historic 1925 condition based on remaining physical
evidence. The original material of the transom area is of particular concern. There are
remnants of prism glass panels currently in place behind the existing chipboard panels, which
are probably indicative of the 1925 condition. Unfortunately, the historic photographs of this
building do not provide much information about the details of this storefront.

The exiting metal door into the stairway at the south end of the building should be replaced
with a wood, glass-panel door, and the transom above the door should be restored to its 1925
configuration.

To meet code, the existing fire escape at the north end of the building will be replaced by an
exterior stair. This stair should be constructed of metal to resemble a fire escape. Also to meet
code, the existing windows that currently open onto the fire escape will be enlarged into
doors. The existing first-floor windows below the new stair should be modified, while
retaining as much of their historic appearance as possible, to comply with a 3/4-hour fire
rating.

The window sashes and frames not discussed above should be repaired, selectively replacing

deteriorated or broken elements in kind. The broken stone sills should be repaired or
replaced, and the two sills that have rotated out of square should be reset.
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The roof is in good condition and is not known to need repairs.

The Interior

The historic bank lobby may be suitable as a hotel lobby and would require minor
modifications for that function. Regardless of final use, the lobby’s plaster ceiling should be
retained and repaired if functionally and structurally possible or recreated if structural work
necessitates its removal. The steel summer beam enclosed in one of the plaster beams is
probably not adequate and will require modification that may adversely affect the ceiling. See
the structural section of this report for a more detailed discussion of this beam. The other
historic bank lobby finishes, such as the marble wainscot, marble floor, and wood trim,

should be retained and repaired.

The existing interior stairway needs to be examined for code compliance, specifically in regard
to the fire rating of its walls. To meet code, the nonoriginal portions of the stair enclosure will
probably need to be substantially altered. The window that has had a door inserted into it
should be reconverted to a window. At the fourth floor, the false-beam-and-gypsum-board
ceiling should be removed and the original plaster ceiling repaired or replaced as necessary.

Depending on the use of spaces at the second, third, and fourth floors, it is unlikely that most
of the current room layout can be retained. Asbestos-containing plaster should be removed
from all rooms and replaced with gypsum board. The existing bathroom layout will probably
need to be extensively modified in order to provide private bathrooms for each hotel room.
Since much of the existing ceiling will be removed for the installation of fire sprinklers, alarm
systems, electrical systems and for the mitigation of asbestos-containing plaster, all of the
acoustical-tile ceilings should be removed and new gypsum-board ceilings installed. As in the
Mankin-Cox Building, historic window, door, and other trim should be retained. New walls
and bathrooms should have modern finishes.

The areas of tongue-and-groove flooring removed during the destructive investigation and
any other missing or damaged areas should be replaced in kind. Carpet would be an
acceptable floor finish for most uses. Windows currently walled over or otherwise modified

should be restored to their original configuration.

Since this structure does not have a basement, the heating plant will need to be located in the
basement of the adjacent Goodman-Kincaid Building. Any new ductwork or mechanical shafts
should be designed to meet code and be located as unobtrusively as possible.

The Structural System

Generally, the framing systems of this building are in good condition. Some isolated areas of
deterioration must be repaired.

The results of the load-bearing analysis show that the fourth floor could support residential
use without strengthening. The third floor could support office use without strengthening.

The second-floor framing, which consists of wood joists and a steel beam, supports three

stories of bearing walls. This system is undersized and must be strengthened. Because of the
close spacing of the joists and the fact that they support bearing walls, the most logical way
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to strengthen the system would be to work beneath it‘and increase the depth. Doing so would
require removing the first-floor plaster ceiling. Also, the actual strength of the steel beam
should be determined by testing.

The roof framing system is adequate to support the required snow load, and strengthening
is not required. |

THE STONE STRUCTURE

No use has been identified for this structure. The stonework inside and out should be
repointed as necessary. A new wood door and windows, including frames, should be
installed to match the historic ones. New metal lintels should be installed to replace rusted
and missing ones. Cracks in the masonry walls should be repaired. The debris and stored
material should be removed from the interior in order to perform the restoration work and
determine the condition of the floor slab. Vines and other vegetation should be removed from
the walls and roof.
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PAINTED, POOR PLASTER, WALLPAPER PLASTER —qi's MANTLE GONE
TEG (LINOLEUM ’ PLASTER, WALLPAPER, PLASTER, WALLPAPER, PLASTER, WALLPAPER, s ; 3 q'-a¥:
MC 202 KITCHEN RECENTLY REMOVED), gng SORNER. | Far/POoR conpiTion FAIR CONDITION FAR CONDITION FaiR/FPOOR LONOTTION e s TR
CONDITION
T€£G, PAINTED, PAINTED. GOOD PLASTER, PAINTED, PLASTER, PAINTED, PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD PLASTER, PAINTED, PLASTER, q'=10"s MANTLE GOQD, FIREBOX BRICK
M OOM GOCD CONDITION COND,T,;:,N GOOD CONDITION GOOD/FAIR CONDITION CONDITION N OF DOOR, GOOD/FAIR CONDITION WALLPAPERED, FAIR FAIR POOR
202 R \29/ FAIR CONDITION 38 OF CONDITION
DOOR
1€ G, GOOD ORIG STAIN FINISH| PLASTER, WALLPAPER PLASTER, WALLPAPER, HORIZ. 1X BOARDS, P Ao Bl WALLESFER PEASTER q-af
MC 204 cLOSET CONDITION . GOOD CONDITION | GOOD CONDITION FAIR/POOR CONDITION nglE;TTAZEE' GOOD egr CEDITION F AR AR
\29/ coNDITY CONDITION
TE G, GOOD/FAIR FAINTED, GOOD PLASTER, PAINTED, PLASTER, PAINTED, FAIR PLASTER, PAINTED PLASTER. PAINTED, i‘ééhSSTlngPi;m%ED Bty INSTALLATION OF SUSPENDED
N T ROOM CONDITION CONDITION GOOD CONDITION CONDITION GOOD CONDITION GOOD CONDITION Cer) REie BUSPENDED CEILING NOT COMPLETED
LASTER, PAPERED, [9'-a¥
(POOR CONDITION}' |PLASTER
OOR PLASTER, PAINTED, FAIR PLASTER, PAINTED, FAIR PLASTER TOTALLY PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD/ @ | 2X4' SUSPENDED —en CORNER GUARDS REMOVED
MC 206 HALL FOOR AT EAsT® O AY) gr«gegﬁg OF ¥ | conDiTIo &Og%égggé L OONE. JDRICK, FAIR fals Gim BD. SR ACOUST‘%EIT_"O-,E SUSPENDED
- AS . STA ] GOOD il
REGT, EOOLFAIR \23/ i REST Goop/ (10'-0) POOR CONDITION oorte POOR  (2-8¥:
CONDITION PLASTER
CONDITION ASSESSM D o DESIGNED: SUB SHEET NO, TMLE OF SMEET DRAWING NO.
SE ENT DEFINITIONS NOTES EXISTING
HOTES. ROOM FINISH SCHEDULE | ;855
EXCELLENT-NO TREATMENT REQUIRED L CONDITION ASSESSMENT WAS BASED ON A VISUAL INSPECTION ORLY. IT 18 SUSPECTED THAT
GOOD  -MINOR REPAIR/REFINISHING REQUIRED TRIM_ESPECIALLY AT EXTERIOR WALLS, MAY BE ROTTED FROM BEHND, AND THAT WALL AND SMALL EXISTING CONDITIONS  [%6 sweer
FAIR - SIGNIFICANT REPAIR REQUIRED FLOOR FRAMNG MAY ALSO BE DECAYED - : i56
POOR - REPLACEMENT REQUIRED * LafLEUR | MANKIN-COX BUILDING =0
DATE: —_—
2. ORIGINAL PLASTER CONTANS ASBESTOS. 8/91 NEW RIVER GORGE N.R. —ior 77
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ROOM | ppgeRIPTION | FLOOR BASE Wil CEILING REMARKS
NUMBER NORTH SOUTH EAST WEST FINISH HEIGHT
4 SUSPENDED f} o
LINOLEUM ON TG, PAINTED, GOOD |PLASTER, PAINTED, PLASTER, PAINTED, 2X% 5
MC 207 — GOOD [ F AR 76N\ GOOD CONDITION GOOD CONDITION ?Gcggg)ﬂ%sf_‘gﬁ gpngaDED
canpiTIon \29/ F’LASBER, CONDITION |pPLaaTE
UNKNOWN
LINOLELM ON TEG, NONE PLASTER, PAINTED, PLASTER , PAINTED, POOR PLASTER £GYP BD, PLASTER, PANTED, FAR/ PLASTER, PAINTED, -10"t ORIG. WAS THE STAIRWELL TO THE
MC 208 BATHROOM FOOR CONDITION POOR CONDITION CONDITION PAINTED, POOR  CONDITION POOR CONDITION POOR CONDITION ISSTTAI;L?\‘i%sggt‘?STLINE FROM
TEG (CARFET PAINTED, (OOD PANELING (GOCD) ON PANELING {GOOD) ON PANELING (GOOD) ON PANELING (GO0OD) ON 2X4' SUSPENDED 8'-q§ SUSPENDED
MC 209 ROOM RECENTLY (6 CONDITION, SHOE | PLASTER (CoNDITION PLASTER (CONDITION PLASTER (CONDITION PLASTER (CONDITION ACOUSTIC TLE (GOOD)
REMOVED), PAINTED, MOLD MISSING LNKINCWIN) UNKNOWN) UNKINOWN) UNKNOWN) BELOW PLASTER
GOOD CONDITION (CONDITION  LNKNOWN)
PAINTED, GOOD PLASTER W/ GYP BD PLASTER W/ GYP BD FLASTER W / GYP BD PLASTER PAINTED, GOOD/ 2X4’ SUSPENDED B'-7 ¥ SUSPENDED
MC 210 KITGHEN RO 186, (& CONDITION, SHOE | WANSCOT, PAINTED,GO0D/ WANSCOT, PAINTED,GOOD/ WANSCOT, PANTED, GOOD/ | FAR CONDITION ACOUSTIC TILE (GOOD)
CONDITION \29 / MOLD NG FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION (CONDITION )
TG (CARPET PAINTED, POOR AT | PANELING, GOOD TER, PAINTED, PANELING, GOCD PANELING, GOOD 2X4' QUSPENDED 8'~10” SUSPENDED [MANTLE GOOD/FAIR, FIREBOX
MC 2N ROOM RECENTLY MAMNTEL, REST CONDITION FC’LG;A%”'dq v e CONDHTION CONDITEON ACOJOTIC TILE (GOOD) BRICK FAIR
"‘REMOVED), PAINTED, W GOOD ?a_ow”%:srm 5
GOOD CONDITION COND! URNKNOWN
T& G, PAINTED, GOOD/ PAINTED, GOOD/ PLASTER, PAINTED, FAIR PLASTER | PAINTED, GOOD/ PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD/ PLASTER , PAINTED, FAIR/ X4 SUSPENDED 3'—8';.5(-599\0@ MANTLE, HEARTH EFIREBOX BRICK FAR
MC 212 ROOM FAR CONDITION FA CONDITION FAR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION POOR COMDTITION ACOUSTIC TILE (GOCD)
Q0 R CONDITION sigeatagilain
W (cmonm mel)
TEG, PAINTED, FAIR PAINTED, GOOD, WOOD FRAMING AND GYP PLASTER, PAINTED, FAIR PLASTER, PAINTED, FAIR PLASTER, PAINTED, FAR 2%4' SUSPENDED eyt
MC 213 ROOM CONDITION ZE. Cop caianl | Noon PRI B0 G ONDITION CONDITION, GYP B0 CONDITION ACOUSTIC TILE {Goop)| 10" SSFEDED
W Cdbrnm ’ ABOVE D219 BELOW PLASTER
{CONDITION UNKNOWN)
TE GPAINTED, GOOD/ PAINTED, GOOD/ | PLASTER ,PAINTED, FAIR WOOD FRAMING £GYP 8D, PLASTER , PANTED, FAIR PLASTER, PAINTED, FAIR 2%4' SUSPENDED 810" SUSPENDED
FAIR CONDITION (6 FAR CONDITION | CONDITION WOOD PAINTED, GOOLY FAR CONDITION CONDITION ACOUSTIC. TLE (GOOD)
MC 214 CLOSET CONDITION BELOW PLASTER
\23/ (POOR _CONDITION)
LINOLELM ON T8G 4" VINYL ® TOILET, PLASTIC LAMINATE & PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD/ GYP BD, WALLPAPER, PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD/ GYP. BD., g L g
MC 215 BATHROOM AND OTHER WOOD X3QE &5 WALLPAPER ON WOOD, FAIR CONDITION, VERT PLASTIC LAMNATE AR R AREED F A JGooD | PANTED.GOOD z O N L T 48y LEAVRE
BOARDS, FAR/POOR FAR CONDITION BEADED TEG WANSOT, WAINSCOT (OVER ORIG ) CONDITION, PLASTIC LAM COMNDITION
CONDITION PAINTED, GOOD /FAIR ALL GOOD/FAIR AT_T\B
LINOLEIM ON TEG, NC TOP MOLDING, | PLASTER, PAINT ON PLASTER PAINT ON PLASTER, PAINT ON PLASTER, PANT ON PLASTER, PAINT ON QI
MC 216 UTILITY ROOCM FAIR CONDITION (6 PAINTED, FAIR WALLPAPER, WALLPAPER, FAIR WALLPAPER, FAIR WALLPAPER, FAIR WALLPAPER, FAIR
CONDITION FAIR CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION
CONCRETE GONE, BUT GHOST PLASTER, POOR CONDITION PLASTER, POOR CONDITION PLASTER, POOR CONDITION PLASTER, POOR CONDITION PLASTER, POOR
MC 217 ROCM LINE ON WALL (MOST MISSING) (MOST MISSING) (MOST MISSING) (MOST MISSING) C?S%E?N (MOST
M
LINOLEWM ON TEG, DK, STAIN FINISH, | PLASTER PAINTED, FAIR/ PLASTER, PAINTED, POOR PLASTER, PAINTED, POOR PLASTER ,PAINTED, FAR PLASTER, PAINTED, q-8%*
MC 301 STAIR FAIR/POOR 6\ PooR AT EAST, POOR CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION POOR CONDITION
CONDITION REST FAR
I';iiIF<’/F‘00"?0N e 6 EER?TP%NORHNISH' PLASTER, PANTED, FAIR PLASTER, PAINTED, FAIR PLASTER, PAINTED, q-q' ¢
MC 302 HALL COITon (o) condmen CONDITION CONDITION POOR CONDITION
PLYWOOD , PROBABL Y PAINTED, PLASTER ,PAINT N PLASTER, PANT ON PLASTER , POCR PLASTER, PAINT ON TER . PAINT q-q'
MC 303 BALL %RLW ON TG, 6™ E&%{Tﬁ.&m WALLPAPER ,FAIR WALLPAPER ,FAIR CONDTION WALLPAPER , GOOD/FAIR ':';A_EPAP'ER poog\'
\29 / CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION !
ITION CONDITION
TEG, FAR/POOR ~. PAINTED, PLASTER, PAINT CN PLASTER, PAINT ON PLASTER, PAINT ON FLASTER ,PAINT ON PLASTER, PANT ON g-g'+
MC 304 ROOM CONDITION 6\ FAIR/POOR WALLPAPER, FAIR WALL PAPER | FAIR WALLPAPER , FAIR/POOR WALLPAPER, FAIR WALLPAPER , POOR
CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION
TE G, FAR/POOR PAINTED, FAIR PLASTER, PAINT ON PLASTER, PAINT ON PLASTER, PAINT ON PLASTER, PAINT ON PLASTER, PAINT q'-i0" MANTLE REMOVED, POOR CONDITION,
MG 30% ROOM CONDITION a CONDITION WALLPAFER, FAIR WALLPAPER, FAIR WALLPAPER, FAIR WALLPAPER, FAIR ON WALLPAPER, FAR/ FIREBOX BRICK POOR CONDITION
w CONDITION CONDITICN CONDITION CONDITION POOR CONDITION
DESIGNED: SUB SHEET NO. TILE OF SHEET DRAWING NO,
CONDITION ASSESSMENT DEFINITIONS NOTES EXISTING T
EXCELLENT~NO TREATMENT REQUIRED LRA ROQM FINISH SCHEDULE 25,008
- . CONDITION ASSESSMENT WAS BASED ON A VISUAL INSPECTION ONLY. IT {8 SUSPECTED THAT
GOOD  -MINOR REPAIR/REFINISHING REGUIRED TRIM, ESPECIALLY AT EXTERIOR WALLS, MAY BE ROTTED FROM BEHIND, AND THAT WALL AND M EXISTING CONDITIONS  [fis| sweer
FOOR - DAL ACEMENT REGURRD - ED FLOOR FRAMNG MAY ALSO BE DECAYED e 126
- . LgFLEUR | MANKIN-
2. ORIGINAL PLASTER CONTAINS ASBESTOS. DATE: Ki-COX BUILGING —_—
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ON MICROFILM

ROOM FINISH

SCHEDULE

TG, FAR/POOR /& PANTED, FAR/  [PLASTER, PANT ON PLASTER, PAINT ON PLASTER, PAINT ON PLASTER PAINT ON PLASTER PAINTED a-10%t
MC 306 ROOM CONDITION POOR CONDITION  |WALLPAPER, FAR WALLPAPER, FAR WALL PAPER, FAR WAL PAPER, FAIR ON WALLPAPER FAR/
\29 / CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION CODITION POOR CONDITICN
T8 G, FAIR PAINTED, FAIR PLASTER, WALLPAPER, PLASTER, WALLPAPER, PLASTER, WALLPAPER, PLASTER, WALLPAPER, PLASTER, @-10%t
MC 307 ROOM CONDITION .conomorq FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION GOOD/FAIR CONDITION WALLPAPER, POOR
29/ CONDITION
TE G, FAIR/POOR PAINTED, FAIR/ |PLASTER, WALLPAPER, PLASTER, WALLPAPER, PLASTER, WALLPAPER, PLASTER, WALLPAPER, PLASTER, q-10%1
MC 308 ROOM CONDITION POOR CONDITION |FAIR/ POOR FAIR CONDITION GOOD/FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION WALLPAPER, POOR
\22 / CONDITION CONDITION
T8 G, FAIR PAINTED, FAIR PLASTER, WALLPAPER, PLASTER, WALLPAPER, PLASTER, WALLPAPER, PLASTER, WALLPAPER, PLASTER , POOR g -10"+ MANTLE MISSING
MC 309 ROOM CONDITION @commw FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION CONDITION
T§ G, PAINTED, GOQD/ PAINTED, FAIR PLASTER, PAINT ON PLASTER, PAINT ON PLASTER. PAINT ON PLASTER, PAINT ON PLASTER, POOR q-10"+ MANTLE REMOVED, FOOR CONDITION
MC 310 ROOM FAIR' CONDITION CONDITION WALLPAPER, GOOD/FAIR WALLPAPER, GOOD /FAIR WALLPAPER , GOOD/FAIR WALLPAPER , FAIR CONDITION
\29/ CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION
LINOLEUM, T§ G FAIR PAINTED, FAIR PLASTER, WALLPAPER, PLASTER, WALLPAPER PLASTER, WALLPAPER, PLASTER , WALLPAPER, PLASTER, a-qfr
MC 31 ROOM CONDITION CONDITION FAIR CONDITION GOOD/FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION GODD/FAIR CONDITION WALLPAPER  POOR
CONDITION
TE G, POOR NONE PLASTER, PAINT ON PLASTER, PAINT ON PLASTER, PAINT ON PLASTER, PAINT ON PLASTER, PAINT ON [a-af+ ROOM iINACCESSIBLE DUE TO
MC 312 BATHROOM CONDITION WALLPAPER, POOR WALLPAPER, FAIR WALLPAPER, POOR WALL PAPER, FAIR/POOR WALLPAPER, POOR FLOOR CONDITION
COND., VERT. BEADED TG [COND. VERT. BEADED TG |COND. VERT. BEADED T€G |COND. VERT. BEADED TE€G | CONDITION
WAINSCOT, PAINTED, POOR WAINSCOT, PAINTED, POOR WAINSCOT, PAINTED, POOR WAINSCOT, PAINTED, POOR
LINOLEUM ON TEG, 3% 74 PLAIN PLASTER, WALLPAPER, PLASTER , WALLPAPER FAIR jPLASTER, WALLPAPER, PLASTER, WALLPAPER PLASTER, POOR q-q:
MC 313 CLOSET FAIR CONDITION wOOD./PAINTED. GOOD/FAIR CONDITION CONDITION FAIR/POOR CONDITION GOOD/FAIR CONDITION CONDITION
GOOD/ F AlR
LINOLEUM ON T& G, WOOD, PAINTED, PLASTER, PAINT ON VARIOUS VERT T8 G, PLASTER, PAINT ON PLASTER, PAINT ON PLASTER , Br-4"
MC 314 ROOM FAIR/POOR GONE AT 86383 OF WALLPAPER , GOOD /FAIR PAINTED, FAIR AND WALLPAPER, FAIR WALLPAPER, GOOD/FAIR WALLPAPER, POOR
CONDITION W,, FAIR/ POOR CONDITION PLASTER, PAINTED, POOR CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION
CONDITION
LINOLEUM ON TEG, WOOD. PAINTED, GONE  |PLASTER, POOR PLASTER, FAIR PLASTER, POOR PLASTER, POOR PLASTER, POOR B —4"
MC 315 ROOM FAIR/POOR ON NE W. FAIR CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION
CONDITION CONDITION (MOST MISSING)
DESIGNED: SUB SHEET NO. TILE GF SHEET DRAWING NO.
CONDITION ASSESSMENT DEFINITIONS NOTES xsme |~ | g INISH SCHEDU
EXCELLENT-NO TREATMENT REQUIRED . CONDITION ASSESSMENT WAS BASED ON A VISUAL INSPECTION GINLY. (T IS SUSPECTED THAT o wOM P 3 LE 22,009
Pl SRR SLrAR/REENIGHING: REQUIRED TRIM, ESPECIALLY AT EXTERIOR WALLS, MAY BE ROTTED FROM BEHND, AND THAT WALL AND A EXISTING CONDITIONS P61 syeer
FLOOR FRAMING MAY ALSC BE DECAYED. ’ '
POOR —REPLACEMENT REQUIRED LoFLEUR | MANKIN-COX BUILDING 18
DATE: =S
2. ORIGINAL PLASTER CONTAINS ASBESTOS. 9/91 NEW RIVER GORGE N.R, —|er Z7
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FIRST FLOOR REFLECTED CEILING PLAN - EXISTING CONDITIONS
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@PROJECT NORTH

DESIGNED: TITLE OF SHEET | DRAWING NO.
sl EXISTING CONDITIONS [ [ swee
LGFLEUR MANKIN-COX BUILDING 12| [19)
'9/91 NEW RIVER GORGE N.R. I
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ON MICROFILM

| LARGE WOOD, PAINTED, WOOD, PAINTED ALUMINUM AND
T 1 s BOTH GOOD PAINTED, FAIR/POOR ' VINYL, FAIR FAIR CONDITION
MC 101 RM MCIOl  ENTRY 6'-0"x7'~4 +'x2 Smgf woop | BQTH GO0 CONGITION ggﬁgﬁgf FAIR 'CONDITION YINVL, PA
| LARGE WOOD, PAINTED, FAIR WOQD, PAINTED, WOOD, POOR
MC 102 RM MCIQ2 ENTRY 2-5% &'-p £ ge.AgE WOOD { GOOD BUT LOOSE PAINTED, POOR CONDITION Eﬂ#%l_ﬂgrz,ﬁ glﬁglF?ON Eg"ﬁéf;%%ﬂ CONDITION
AN
EXT. EVIDENCE OF MANY MODIFICATIONS TO THIS
. UNFINISHED, GOOD /FAIR WOOD, EXT. PAINTED WooD, FAIR CONDITION
MC 103 RM MCIO2 ENTRY 5'-0"x6'-9§ i ot | woop CONDITION FAIR 'CONDITION zgw&g{%’qmm NONE OPENING
" " " WOOD, PAINTED WooD, PAINTED
MC 104 RM MCIO 2By xB-1 x I3 El#%l:l woOD PAINTED, FAIR CONDITION | 2000 o DITION FAIR CONDITION NONE
PAINTED RM. 101 SIDE WOOD, PAINTED, WOOD, FOOR
w an VERT. WOOD, PAINTED A
MC 105 RM MCIO! P-Bx -ty x1F BOARD | WOQD O i 00D TAIR FAIR CONDITION E’g‘ﬁéﬁ%ﬁ" CONDITION
ROUGH SAWN WOOD, ROUGH SAWN WOOD, & B EFiE
4 x B0 | L VERT. UNFINISHED, GOOD UNFINISHED, GOOD UNFINISHED, GOOD/ NONE BOTTOM OF DOOR MOUNTED 32" AFF.
MC 106 RM MCIO7 2-4"x5'-10"x| g BoARD | WOOD CONDITION L FAR Eonbiey
ROUGH SAWN WOOD, ROUGH SAWN WOOD, e
N TITor TR o LLIEN [ VERT. UNFINISHED, GOOD F ED, GOOD UNFINISHED, GOOD/' NONE BOTTOM OF DOOR MOUNTED 1"-3" AF.F.
ME ey RM Mcime ZoanxB-Iy xig BOARD | WOOD CONDITION conpirion: © FAIR CONDITION
—— . vooD OFigéNwALs‘gEsngED DK. STAIN, FAIR [ 1\ POOR CONDITION WOOD, POOR
v 2ol M Mezo6  ENTRY ~Om 7o 70 INTERIOR CONDITION \24/sm.-No TRansoM | \24/ POOR CONDITION N
EANTER. ONLY ONE SIDE | /"1™ pAINTED, GooD {2\ PAINTED 3N FAIR CONDITION
g : . POOR CONDITION '
6 B~ 12 B WOOD STILE REMAINS, POOR
MC 202 RM MC206 2-6"xe'-5x x13 CONDITION \24/ /FAIR CONDITION \24/ FAIR CONDITION W GLASS BROKEN
WOOD, PAINTED, 00D, PAINTED, a i WREATH TOOR’OOM 2OII_A§EE$M5P SEI%EDSE)EUE TO
" o3 A W) PAINTED, D /FAIR W ONDITION| GOOD CONDITION  |BUILDING MOVEMENT
MC 203 RM MC201 2-77 x6'-77 x13 ¢ WooD | UE0E PaneL T CoNDITION 0 G000/ FAIR FAIR CONDITION PeEE = o DOOR MC 207
ey (1) pantep, Gooo | ("2 PameD, (2 tar conpition |6000 conpiTion
MC 204 RM MC202 2-8"x6'-74 %13 B WooD PAINTED, FAIR CONDITION Pt Wonm PAIR EoNDITION
FIEL s MISSING 1\ PAINTED, 2y PAINTED, GOOD {3 FAIR CONDITION |FAIR CONDITION FRAME SKEWED DUE TC BUILDING MOVEMENT
MC 205 RM MC203 #-ai'xe'-p \24/ GOOD CONDITION | \ 24/ /FAR CONDITION \29/
FAIR/POOR
. EW_OBSCURE (1N panTED, (2 PAINTED, (3 POOR CONDITION WREATH TO ROOM 206
SEEASS 1. BE R, BV TR0
5 NO DOOR(S) THIS WOOD, PAINTED, . . CONDITION  |OPENING, MILLED TRIM Wi
ME. 207 RM MC203 &-07 x&'-q SReting ) GOOD' CONDITION GOOD CONDITION NONE Rl FRAME SKEWED DUE TO BULDING MOVEMENT
- (1 PamTED, [ 20\ PANTED, (3 Goop/FaR GOOD CONDITION {CLOSET SIDE HAS ORIG. DK. STAIN FiNiSH
MC 208 RM MC205 Z-px6'-74 %12 A WOOD | MISSING PAINTED, FAIR CONDITION GOOD CONDITION FAIR CONDITION CONDITION
LARGE WOOD AND TRANSOM REMOVED FROM ORIG,
(1) FaR conoition | 2\ PAINTED, e O n MOVED
g ) R T T FLOOR
MC 209 RM MC208 2'-B"x6'~7"x 13 B WOOD PAINTED, POOR CONDITION sm.-mo - FAIR CONDITION FAIR e OND T LOCATION AT TOP OF STAIR TO FIRS 0
i It PAINTED, GOOD /F AIR PAINTED, {2 PAINTED, i FAIR CONDITION
Mz f10 RN 209 2-e"x6'-6"x 1§ A wooo | BRCenme M CONDITION FAIR CONDITION | (Z4/ FAIR conpiTion | MiS8ING
FAIR CONDITION,
. { OVER (17 PanteD, (2 PamTep, GLASS REPLACED |FRAME SKEWED DUE TO BUILDING MOVEMENT
MC 2)] RM MC211 26 x6'-4 2% 13 ! SXFR | woop PAINTED, GOOD CONDITION Goon conpition | (74 FaR conpition MISSING GLASS REF _
£ 17\ PaINTED, / 2\ PAINTED, GooD GOOD CONDITION,
MC 212 RM MC210 2'-6"x 6'~6" MISSING . GOOD CONDITION /FAIR CONDITION | MSSING GLASS PAINTED
PAINTED, POGR CONDITION, T\ PaNTED 27\ PAINTED /3
1 OVER ) : FAIR CONDITION [GOOD CONDITION
NET—— WOoOoD MADE UP OF REMNANTS
MC 213 RM MC211 2-6"x&'-6"x13 1 PANEL OF OTHER DOORS \24/ GOOD CONDITION | 74/ FAIR CONDITION \29 /
LATER OPENING WITH PLAIN TRIM
WOOD, PAINTED, WOOD, PAINTED, —
MC 2t4 RM MC212 2-8"x6'-62"x12" B wooD PAINTED, FAIR CONDITION 6880 CONDITION FAIR 'CONDITION E FRAME SKEWED DUE TO BUILDING MOVEMENT
1 LARGH 2 PANES BUTT - WOOD, PAINTED, INT. WOOD, FAIR, EXT. |FAIR/POOR THIS OPENING ORIG. A WINDOW,
ME. 215 RM MC21l  ENTRY 2o 6-1g x 2" GLass | woop JOINED, BEVELED PAINTED, FAIR CONDITION | WOOD, FAINTED, FAIR 'CONDITION MORTAR WASH, POOR  [CONDITION ALUMINUM SCREEN DOOR
OESIGNED: SUB SHEET NO. TOLE OF SHEET DRAWING NO.
CONDITION ASSESSMENT DEFINITIONS NOTE EXETING R DOOR SCHEDULE 2
EXCELLENT -~ NO TREATMENT REQUIRED CONDITION ASSESSMENT WAS BASED GERDS JB 25
GOOD - MINOR REPAIR REFINISHING REQUIRED ON A VISUAL INSPECTION ONLY. SMALL /BB EXISTING CONDITIONS PKS. T Speer
FAIR — SIGNIFICANT REPAIR REQUIRED TECH. REVIEW: o6
DATE: —_—.
9/91 NEW RIVER GORGE N.R. — L
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S REPLACED WITH | PAINTED, FAIR/POOR / 1\ PANTED, GooD |/ 2 \PANTED, FAR /"3 FAIR CONDITION WRIEY BN
MC 216 RM MC212 7-8'x6'-63F X 18 A WOOD  |WOOD PANEL CONDITION CONDITION \24_/ CONDITION 29/
. 1T\ PAINTED, GOOD/ | 2 \PAINTED, FAIR {7 3\ FAIR CONDITION FRAME SKEWED DUE TO
MC 217 RM MC213 2-6"x 66 MISSING FA‘R CONDITION '.CONDITION FAIR CONDITION BUILDING MOVEMENT
: . PAINTED, GOOD/FAIR T\ PANTED, FAR |/ 2\ PAINTED, GOOD/
MC 218 RM MC214 2-78x 6'-7x 1§ B WOoOD CONDITION .cmomow FAIR conDiTion | MI28ING GOOD CONDITION
" " GLASS EIeHs WOOD, PAINTED, GOOD |WOOD, PAINTED, GOOD
“ « w | GLASS GOOD WOOD, PAINTED, GOOD | WOOD, PAINTED, GOOD
MC 220 RM MC213 2-6Fx7-0F x I gXEEL WoOD ggm[%%ou, PAINTED, FAIR CONDITION | cadBition ' CONDITION NONE
i I\ GMND TRANSOM PAINTED, FaR, |/ 3 Fae/poor REMOVED § HEAD
MC 221 RM Mc213 2-6 x 6-8p x | B WOOD PAINTED, FAIR CONDITION géwgﬁ(ﬁ’é{*'“ POOR CONDITION[( 24 ) CONDITION LOWERED
2-0 x 6'-0" / T\ 8IM-NO_TRANSOM |/ 2N palTED, FaiRs |/ 3\ FAR/POOR WEST JAMB MOVED FARTHER
5 FICATION LEFT
MC 222 RM MC21B BEFORE JAMB MISSING .PAINTED- FAIR/ . POCR CONDITION NDITION WESTy o MOB)
MODIFICATION \24/ Poor conpITION [\24/ FOO \29/ <O UNTRIMMED
" 2 o
MC 223 RM MC217 ENTRY 2-8"x 6'-10F x 13 | PANEL | Wwoop UNFINISHED, POOR CONDITION|wooD, POOR conpiTion | 08, PIO0R
5 W PAINTED, CONDITION UNKNCWN
MC 224 RM MC217 2-8" x 6'-6" x UNKNOWN | PANEL | WOOD PAINTED, FAIR CONDITION |eaQaiTion ROOR. | MO, PaINTED itioi| DUE 1O DESRIB
i THIS OPEMNING
MC 228 RM MC217  ENTRY 2-7" x &'-0" x 1§ pavs, | WooD PAINTED, POOR CONDITION [¥O0D, PAINTED, POOR  WOOD, PAINTED, POOR|ynop, POOR CONDITION ORIGINALLY A WINDOW
MODIFIED TOR INCLUDING
o ju : LIGHT COLORED GRAINING, |/ @\ PAINTED, FAR/ |/ 7\ pPaINTED, Poor |/ P\ POOR CONDITION,
MC 30 RM MC303 ENTRY 2-97% x 6'-9" x | 5 WOOD |2 PANELSCUT S e : POOR CONDITION
Z Z PANEL OUT FOR GLASS GOOD/FAIR CONDITION w POCOR CONDITION \ 24 ] CONDITION w GLASS MISSING
i o GLASS MISSING, W WOOD, GOOD WREATH TO RM 302
MC 302 RM MC302 2-lg x e-lg x 13 c WOOD  |oPENING PATCHED| PAINTED, FAIR CONDITION 6%8%/’:2'.'.;”“' e AINTED, "G00 CONDITION, GLASS LATER INSERTION INTO HALL,
WITH VAROUS WOOD CONDITION PLAIN TRIM
/1 PANTED, FAIR |2 PAINTED, FAIR/ |/ 3 Tion | MIS9ING,  cHIcKEN FRAME SKEWED DUE TO BUILDING |
MC 303 RM MC304 MISSING . CONDITION . POOR CONDITION( 29 POOR cOND WIRE AT RM 304 MOVEMENT
{17\ PAINTED, GooD | 2\ PAINTED, GOOD/|NONE FRAME SKEWED DUE TO BUILDING
MC 304 RM MC304 MISSING . CONDITION FAIR CONDITION misgiNG MOVEMENT
- —gn S Al D/F PAINTED, GOOD INTED, FAIR |MISSIN MISSING, CHICKEN D R
MC 308 RM MC308 7-8" X &-8" x |3 B WOOD PANTED, GOOD/FAIR PAINTED, PAINTED, | G i, ohepel BINDS ON FLOO
o o WOOD PAINTED, T TT— — GLASS PAINTED AND WIDENED FROM ORIG. SINGLE
MC 306 RM MC305 B'-Bw x &-97 NO DOOR(S) THIS OPENING |GOOD/FAIR S R it WALL PAPERED, | DOCR OPENING FLAN TRIM, FRAME
CONDITION LIGHT BROKEN, FAIR SKEWED DUE TO BULDING MOVEMENT
y /1 PAINTED, Goop |2 pPaINTED, FAR {3\ MISSING, CHICKEN
MC 307 RM MC306 2-8" x 6'-8" x |3 B8 WOOoD PAINTED, POOR CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION POOR CONDITION | L =2 o 306 BINDS ON FLOOR
e L3 PAINTED, GOOD/FAIR PAINTED, GooD |/ 2\ paNTED, Far |/ 3 FAIR CONDITION,
MC 308 RM MC307 2-73 x &8 x | § A WOOD  |CRACKED A Sk % Heiplirak, N POOR CONDITION | i raa” pre N1 LD
MISSING, REPLACED
g et g 3 17\ PAINTED, GooD / |/ 2\ PAINTED, FAIR | 3\ FAIR/POOR . FRAME SKEWED DUE TO BULDING
MC 304 RM MC309 2-8" x &'-8" x 1§ B wooD PAINTED, FAIR CONDITION .W R . L= .CONDITION WTH GYPSUM MOVEMENT
’ MISSING, REPLACED
( 1™\ PAINTED, GooD/ |2\ PAINTED, FAIR FAIR/POOR :
ME 3i0 RM MC308 MISSING FAIR CONDITION . CONDITION .CONDITION e s
. GOOD/FAIR
MC 31 RM MC309 2-73" x &-8" x 1§ A WOoOoD PAINTED, FAIR CONDITION zgwgﬁ%fooc’ EATEL PO F‘OOR CONDITION | CONDITION G499 BINDS ON FLOOR
§ FAIR CONDITION
MC 312 RM MC310 2-8" x &'-8" x 1 3 B WOOD PAINTED, FAIR CONDITION PANTED, GooD |(“2 paTeD, FaR (3N 0o conpimion ol
B \ 24,/ CONDITION \24 /] CONDITION 29/ GLASS BROKEN
DESIGNED: SUB SHEET NO. TITLE OF SHEET DRAWING NO,
Xl m
CONDITION ASSESSMENT DEFINITIONS NOTE DOOR SCHEDULE 55008
EXCELLENT - NO TREATMENT REQUIRED CONDITION ASSESSMENT WAS BASED SMAL PKS. | SHEET
GOOD — MINOR REPAIR REFINISHING REQUIRED ON A VISUAL INSPECTION ONLY. TECH, REVIEW: EXISTING CONDITIONS Eﬁ
FAIR ~ SIGNIFICANT REPAR REGUIRED PLELR y
POOR - REPLACEMENT REQUIRED ELEUR | _WELNRQXG?R%LLE?G —\| 57
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DOOR SCHEDULE

3 i a3 5 WCOD, PAINTED, WOOD, PAINTED, WOOD, FAIR
MC 3 RM MC3II 2-6"x 6'-57 x 1§ PANEL | WooD PAINTED, FAIR CONDITION | ZA05 CONDTION GOODYFAIR CONDITION CONDITION NONE LATER OPENING WITH PLAIN TRIM
MC 314 RM MC3 .. . o {1\ PAINTED, GOOD ("2 \PAINTED, FAIR £ 30y FAIR CONDITION
& 2'-8" X &'-7% x | 8 WOOD PAINTED, FAIR CONDITION G conDITION G4 CONDITION () POOR CONDITION Bl B
i " ' I" -
MC 318 RM MC3iI 2-6" x &'-B 4 MISSING M retlO TRANSOM | ZS:T&ET?{;NFMR POOR’ O NONE NO PLINTHS
POOR CONDITION,
MC 3le =M MC312 MISSING POOQ CONDITION POOR CONDITION MISSING TRANSFARENT CONTACT FRAME SKEWED DUE TQ BUILDING
\24/ \24 / PAPER ON GLASS MOVEMENT
MC 317 RM MC3I13 P=it x 7-0n x 1 2" oveR PAi PAINTED D o0y FaR " FAR/POOR "
~lz X 7'-0" X WOOD AINTED INTED, FAIR CONDITION D/ FA /P00
4 PANEL CONDITION CONDITION BINDS: ON FLOoR
- WOOD, PAINTED, WOOD, PAINTED,
MG 318 RM MC314 2-8"x 6'-7% x 13 B WooD PAINTED, FAIR CONDITION | FAIR/POOR POOR ¥oaD, POOR
CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION
MC 319 R B B WOOD, DK, STAIN, WOOD, DK, STAN,
_— MISSING GOOD CONDITION GOOD/FAIR CONDITION
DESIGNED: SUB SHEET NO. TILE OF SHEET DRAWING NO.
CONDITION ASSESSMENT DEFINITIONS NOTE EXISTING
EXCELLENT - NO TREATMENT REQUIRED CONDITION ASSESSMENT WAS BASED e DOOR SCHEDULE 45,009
- PKG.

GOOD - MINOR REPAIR REFINISHING REQUIRED ON A VISUAL INSPECTION ONLY. b S EXISTING CONDITIONS NG, | SHEET
FAIR - SIGNIFICANT REPAIR REQUIRED 126
POOR — REPLACEMENT REGUIRED LoFLEUR MANKIN-COX BUILDING _3_“_ @
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' CONDITION ASSESSMENT DEFINITIONS
'wm'Dow EXCELLENT - NOQE;QEATMENT REQUIRED
GOOD — MINOR AR REFINISHING REGUIRED
NUMBER LOCATION | HEAD JAMB SILL SASH GLAZING REMARKS FAIR - SIGNIFICANT REPAR REQUIRED
POOR - REPLACEMENT REQUIRED
MC OO WEST ELEVATION | STONE, GOOD CONDITION STONE, GOOD CONDITION { STONE, GOOD CONDITION MISSING
INT. BRICKED UP BRICKED UP INT. EXTERIOR PORTION
MC 101 NORTH ELEVATION CONDITION UNKNOWN § EXT., COND. "c\lcT;FqgnEré)TN Eﬁéﬂéﬁ% P UNKNOWN OF FRAME
B1M. IM. UNKNOWN STILL IN PLACE
INT. BRICKED UP BRICKED UP INT. EXTERIOR PORTION ENERAL NOTES
MC 102 NORTH ELEVATION (2 CONDITION UNKNOWN (2 € EXT., COND. INT. & EXT. BRICKED U, UNKNOWN OF FRAME G
' CONDITION UNKNOWN
\28 4. \28 &M, UNKNOWN STILL (N PLACE
T EANTED Food l. CONDITION ASSESSMENT WAS MADE BY A VISUAL INSPECTION
MC 103 NorTH ELEVATION| (2 pa (27 PAINTED, (3 R ECURITY ONLY. IT 19 SUSPECTED THAT TRIM AND OTHER WINDOW
IMF.: INTED, GOOD CONDITION FAIR CONDITION \28/ E??R Fi%N%g:“?SITION ﬁgﬁ%g%ml. BROKEN g = L ELEMENTS MAY BE DETERIORATED FROM THE BACKSIDE.
£ 1\ PAINTED, GOOD/FAIR PAINTED, GOOD.FAIR / 17\ PAINTED, PAINTED, METAL, 2. NEARLY ALL STONE SILLS ARE SHOWING EARLY SIGNS OF
MC 104 HEGT ELEVATION CONDITION CONDITION FAIR CONDITION GOOD CONDITION RarR SPALLING.
PAINTED, GOOD/FAIR PAINTED
AINT ! 3. EXTERIOR WOOD SILLS WERE REMOVED FOR INSTALLATION
MC 109 WEST ELEVATION ]MCONDITION o oot IM,.-NR CONDITION METAL, FAR CONDITION | ONE CRACKED 6F ALLMINGL BEFLACEMEND Siains
PAINTED, GOOD/FAIR PAINTED FAIR/
MC 106 wesT ELEVATION. | ) CONDITION PAINTED, FAIR ‘ METAL. FAR CONDITION | BROKEN, CRACKED.
\28 / CONDITION \ 28 / POOR CONDITION ' LOOSE
IM. |MI
POOR CONDITION,
MC 107 SOUTH ELEVATION IMF‘OOR CONDITION IMPOOR CONDITION STONE S8ILL SPLIT Yooe Do ol INTACT
SIM. - IM,
MG 108 BOUTH ELEVATION POOR CONDITION POOR CONDITION POOR CONDITION gggg' gggoﬁ?clﬁlml_ INTAGT
L, 51M, 5(M.
MC 109 SCOUTH ELEVATION BRICKED UP BRICKED UP BRICKED UP
2N /2 PAINTED, GOOD /3 PAINTED,
MC 110 RM MCIO oy PAINTED, GOOD CONDITION 5 CONDITION < GOOD CONDITION NONE 7 MIBSING
&1M. 2, SIM.
WOQD, PAINTED, GOOD / WOOD, PAINTED, GOoD/ | woOD, PAINTED, GOOD /
MC I el FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION NONE IRON SECURITY GRILL
S B, SANTED SRS METAL DIAMOND MESH
MC 201 NORTH ELEVATION @ PAINTED, GOOD CONDITION : . , @ ) CRACKED, LOOSE EXT. GRILL
\27 / FAIR CONDITION \27 / POOR CONDITION POOR CONDITION STOPS NOT OR!GINAL
MC 202 NORTH ELEVATION @ PAINTED, GOOD CONDITION PA'QTED' @ PAINTED, @ PAINTED, LOOSE e e AR
\27,) FAR CONDITION POOR CONDITION POOR CONDITION STOPS NOT ORIGINAL
MC 203 NORTH ELEVATION @ PAINTED, GOOD CONDITION ?::ETEC%NDITION ggg;sgbmmm @ PAtNF;rEngDmON INTACT STOPS NOT ORIGINAL
MC 204 WEST ELEVATION @ PAINTED, FAIR CONDITION Eﬁ::TE%NDm oN igggEngmeN @ ig'ggEngDiTl on | NTACT STOPS NOT ORIGINAL
MC 205 WEST ELEVATION @ PAINTED, GOOD CONDITION ?::gTi%mmoN ggtggegbwmm @ ggg;EngDITION CRACKED STOPS NOT ORIGINAL
MC 206 WEST ELEVATION @ PAINTED, GOOD CONDITION E:I'STE%ND!TI o 23'3525“:;”. o @ ggggEngmeN LOOSE STOPS NOT ORIGINAL
MC 207 WEST ELEVATION @ PAINTED, GOOD CONDITION E:IISTEC%NDITION @ F;gg‘gEngDiTION @ ggggEngDmON LOOSE 3TOPS NOT ORIGINAL
PAINTED, ORIG., TRIM LEFT PAINTED, HEAD LOWERED TO FIT
MC 208 SOUTH ELEVATION @ IN PLACE, NEW LOWER EQ:ETE%NDIHON POOR CONDITION ébﬂgmgh EXCELLENT SRS NEW BASHES JAMB STOPS
M. TRIM, FAIR CONDITION \27_&m. NOT ORIGINAL
PAINTED, ORIG. TRIM LEFT PAINTED, HEAD LOWERED TO FIT
MC 204 SOUTH ELEVATION IN PLACE, NEW LOWER 4 E::STED' . POOR CONDITION LT, ERCELLENT sl ATED NEW SASHES JAMB STOPS
M, TRIM, FAIR CONDITION \27/ ONDITIO \27 L. NOT ORIGINAL
i WOOD, FAIR/POOR WOOD, FAIR/POCR . ORIGINALLY A DOUBLE
MC 210 SOUTH ELEVATION | wOoOD, FAIR/POOR CONDITION CONDITION WOOD, FAIR CONDITION CONDITION INTACT HUNG WINDOW
PAINTED, PAINTED, WOOD, PAINTED, FAIR
MC 21 EAST ELEVATION PAINTED, POOR CONDITION, POOR CONDITION POOR CONDITION L TN BROKEN DESGNED: | SuB SHEET NO. TLE OF SHEET DRAWNG NO.
M. AT EXT. \28 &M, AT EXT. \28 AiM, AT EXT. EXISTING = WINDOW SCHEDULE
EYTD gMAL L 25009
B /6 | EXISTING CONDITIONS s [ swee
126
LefLEUR MANKIN-COX BUILDING 126 | [25]
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WINDOW SCHEDULE

IM. AT EXT.

IM. AT EXT.

IM. AT EXT.

PAINTED, PAINTED, FAIR.” PAINTED, PAINTED,
MG 20| NaRTH; ELEXATION @ FAIR CONDITION @ POOR CONDITION @ POOR CONDITION @ POOR CONDITION | CRACKED
PAINTED, GOoOD.~ PAINTED, FAIR. PAINTED, PAINTED,
MG 3612 NORTH ELEVATION @ FAIR CONDITION @ POCR CONDITION @ POOR CONDITION @ POOR CONDITION | CRACKED
PAINTED, GOOD.~ PAINTED, FAIR~ PAINTED, PAINTED,
MG, 303 NORTH  ELEVATION @ FAIR CONDITION @ POOR CONDITION @ POOR CONDITION @ POOR conDiTion | 'NTACT
PAINTED, GOOD . PAINTED, FAIR. PAINTED, @ PAINTED
MC 304 MNORTH ELEVATION . ! POOR CONDITION ! LOGSE, BROKEN
@ FAIR CONDITION @ POOR CONDITION @ Eoor. GorbiLon POOR CONDITION
PAINTED, GOOD ./ PAINTED, FAIR. / B\ PAINTED, PAINTED,
MG 305 WEWT ELEVATION @ FAIR CONDITION @ POOR CONDITION POCR CONDITION @ POOR CONDITION | CRACKED
PAINTED, GOOD./ PAINTED, FAIR/ PAINTED, PAINTED,
MG 308 WEST ELEVATION @ FAIR CONDITION @ POOR CONDITION @ POOR CONDITION @ POCR CONDITION | 'NTACT
PAINTED, GOOD ./ PAINTED, FAIR/ /5 PAINTED, PAINTED,
MG 207 WEST ELEVATION @ FAIR CONDITION @ POOR CONDITION POOR CONDITION @ POOR conoition | MNTACT
PAINTED, GOOD. PAINTED, FAIR/ PAINTED, PAINTED,
bk 200 WERT nemkrasehion @ FAIR CONDITION @ POOR CONDITION @ POOR CONDITION @ POOR cONDITIoN | -OOSE. BROKEN
PAINTED PAINTED, FAIRS "PAINTED
’ ' . ALUMINUM, EXCELLENT HEAD LOWERED 1O FIT
MC 309 SOUTH ELEVATION FAIR CONDITION POOR CONDITI!ON POOR CONDITION : INSULATED
@NM @IM @"\4 STONE SPALLING CONDITION NEW SASHES
PAINTED PAINTED, FAIR. PAINTED
) : ' MINUM, EXCELLENT H D TO FiT
MC 310 SOUTH ELEVATION @ FAIR CONDITION @ POOR CONDITION @ POOR CONDITION él(-)Lr{lDlTl Y El INSULATED Ngﬁoskggge
M M M
PAINTED PAINTED, FAIR, PAINTED -
. . 8 ALUMINUM, EXCELLENT HEAD LOWERED TO FIT
MC 31l SOUTH ELEVATION @‘MFAIR CONDITION @mpoon CONDITION @,IMPM CONDITION CONDITION INSUL ATED NEW SASHES
PAINTED PAINTED, FAIR.” PAINTED
[ ] * |hI|M
MC 212 SOUTH ELEVATION @a FAIR CONDITION @, POOR CONDITION @ POOR CONDITION é'a%,-”o;q FXRELENT INSULATED SEGDSI;g:EEgED To
I I M
NOT ORIGINAL TO
WOOD, PAINTED, FAIR WOOD, PAINTED, FAIR WOOD, PAINTED, FAIR ONE PANE LEADED
MC 313 SOUTH ELEVATION | 2900, Pal Cot T, T WOOD, FAIR CONDITION ek O L fﬁ;’?’é’.‘é’x’?}% TRIMMED
WOOD, UNFINISHED, GOOD WOOD, UNFINISHED, GOOD WOOD, UNFINISHED, GOOD GLAZING FIXED IN PLACE NOT ORIGINAL TO
MC Eld EAST ELEVATION | ConDiTION CONDITION CONDITION BY FRAME INTACT OPENING
/2 CONDITION UNKNOWN | /™ CONDITION UNKNOWN| /3 CONDITION UNKNOWN INACCESSIBLE DUE TO FLOOR
MC 315 RM MC314 STONE SILL CRACKED| CONDITION UNKNOWN INTACT CONDITION AT RM. 312 AND
\28/5 \28/5 \.28 A

BOARDED OVER AT RM. 314

CONDITION ASSESSMENT DEFINITIONS

EXCELLENT - NO TREATMENT REQUIRED
GOOL — MINOR REPAIR REFINISHING REQUIRED
FAIR - 3IGNIFICANT REPAIR REQUIRED

POOR - REPLACEMENT REQUIRED

GENERAL. NOTES

l. CONDITION ASSESSMENT WAS MADE BY A VISUAL INSPECTION
ONLY, IT iS5 SUSPECTED THAT TRIM AND OTHER WINDOW ELEMENTS
MAY BE DETERIORATED FROM THE BACKSIDE.

2. NEARLY ALL STONE SILLS ARE SHOWING EARLY SIGNS OF
SPALLING.

3. EXTERIOR WOOD SILLS WERE REMOVED FOR INSTALLATION
OF ALUMINUM REPLACEMENT SASHES.

BESIGNED: SUB SHEET NO. TILE OF SHEET DRAWING NO.

BTG WINDOW SCHEDULE | ;2L

48 /BB EXISTING CONDITIONS [ ] s

' \FLEWR | MANKIN-COX BUILDING i
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a8TONE BRICK, STONE STONE A A SIZEADLE SPRING-FED POND
Gk o0l BASEMENT MUD T GOOD/FAR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION GOOD/FAR CONDITION GoOD/F AR CONDITION EXPOJED FRAMING PR OF W B LOosiED
STONE, FAIR CONDITION STONE STONE STONE ‘g
Sk 002 BASEMENT wue HONE A Iy, O GooO/FAR coNDITION GOOD/F AR CONDITION GOOD/FAR CONDITION EXPOSED FRAMING L
i GYP. BD., WALLPAPER, FAIR/] 2X2° BUSPENDED ACOUST
&k ot CORMERICIL., SENEE LINOLEUM TILE, 4" VINTL, GYP. BD. WALLPAPER, GYP. BD. WALLPAPER, qYe. B0, KiLLPATER, ] GYP. BD., WALLPAPER, R R e s h g gyod
GOOD/FAR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION ICK, FAIR CONDITION oOND ; . :
¥ BRICK, FAIR C FAIR CONDITION FIREPLACE, GOOD conDiTion | TAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION
= B i DIRT, PLYWOOD, NONE STONE, FAIR CONDITION STONE, FAIR CONDITION, STONE, FAIR CONDITION, STONE, FAIR CONDITION, o NFRITY | SEVERLY RUSTED COLUMNS AND
FAR/POOR CONDITION PLASTER, POOR CORDITION PLASTER, POOR CONDITION  |[PLASTER, POOR CONDITION PLASTER, POOR CONDITION BEAMS REMAIN AT FIRST FLOOR.
Gk 103 HALL LINOLEUM TILE, 4" VINTL, GYP. BD., PAINTED, GYP. BD., PAINTED, GYP. BD., PAINTED, GYP. BD., PAINTED, GYP. BD., PAINTED, -
GOOD/FAR CONDITION FAR/POOR CONDITICN FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION GOOD CONDITION GOOD/FAIR CONDITION i
LINOLEUM TILE, 4" VINYL, PRE-FAD “GRASSCLOTH" PRE-FAD "GRASSCLOTH' |PRE-FAD "GRASSCLOTH! PRE-FAB "GRASSCLOTH" 12" 127 ACOUSTICAL T
Gk 14 BATFRCON GOOD/FAR CONDITION  |FAR/POCR CONDITION  |PANELS, FAIR CONDITION  |PANELS, FAIR CONDITION  |PANELS, FAIR CONDITION  |PANELS, FAIR CONDITION  [FILE, FAIR CONDITION T
& e . LINOLEUM TILE, 4" VINYL, PRE-FAB "GRASSCLOTH" PRE-FAB “GRASSCLOTH' PRE-FAB "GRASSCLOTH' PRE-FAB "GRASSCLOTH" 12 12% ACOUSTICAL ot s
GOOD/FAR CONDITION FAR/POOR CONDITION  |PANELS, FAIR CONDITION PANELS, FAIR CONDITION  |PANELS, FAIR CONDITION PANELS, FAIR CONDITION  [FiLE, FAIR CONDITION =
EXPOSED STUDS, GYP. BD., PAINTED, GYP. BD., PAINTED, |REMAINS OF FRAME
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FAIR CONDITION FAIR 'CONDITION GOOD CONDITION FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION ACOUSTICAL TILE,
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PLYWOOD NONE PLASTER IE Bl BN cad EIRRING, . — SLASTER, WALLPAPER YO'—3" TO | MOST OF PLASTER SKM COAT
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e BB CARPET, EXCELLENT WOOD, LNFINISHED, PANELING, PANELING, PANELING, GYP. BD. PAINTED, GYP. BD., PAINTED, s
CONDITION EXCELLENT CONDITION EXCELLENT CONDITION EXCELLENT CONDITION EXCELLENT CONDITION EXCELLENT CONDITION EXCELLENT CONDITION 7-97 %
& 3o Sinliiic CARPET, WOOD, UNFINISHED, PANEL ING, PANELING, PANEL ING, GYP. BD., PAINTED, GYP. BD., PAINTED, -
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prp— BERIE CARPET, EXCELLENT WOOD, UNFINISHED, PANELING, PANEL ING, PANELING, PANELING, GYP. BD., PAINTED, il
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Gk 104 ¥-27tX6'-63 Sue STONE WINDOW SiLL, CONC. |BRICK § CONCRETE, CONCRETE RAMP,
(AFF. AT RM 101) §5TEEL I, GOOD COND.  |GOOD COND. GOOD COND.
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I O
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GK 307 RM GK308 2-75x6'-75x13 | FLusm WOOD aE WOOD, EXCELLENT COND. |conD’
G 308 RM GK308 4-03xe'-73 NONE WOOD, EXCELLENT COND. |29Q0: EXCELLENT
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WINDOW SCHEDULE

NUMBER CONDITION ASSESSMENT DEFINITIONS
EXCELLENT - NO TREATMENT REQUIRED
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GK 002 MEBT ELEVATION | S8 e rote GOk, STONE, GOOD/FAIR COND. Al R -y MISSING NOTE
CONDITION ASGESSMENT WAS BASED ON A
VISUAL ENSPECTION ONLY.
STONE, POOR COND. @ INT
G 003 WEST ELEVATION STONE' LINTEL-FAIR COND. STONE, GOOD/FAR COND. i Sl @ MISSING
FRAME REMOVED.
i 1 STONE, POOR COND. @ INT. :
aK 10t NORTH ELEVATION| STONE, GOOD/FAIR COND STONE, GOOD/FAIR COND. CAL e R R MISSING BRICKED WP @ EXT.
FRAME REMOVED,
GK 102 NORTH ELEVATION| STONE, GOOD/FAIR COND. STONE, GOOD/FAIR COND. UNKOWN MISSING BRICKED UP @ EXT.
. GHOST LINE OF ORIGINAL
FIXED WITH METAL | WINDOW SYSTEM ON
Gk 103 WEST ELEVATION | WOOD, GOOD/FAIR COND. WOOD, GOOD/FAIR COND. WOOD, FAIR COND. e e i
COLUMNS
GHOST LINE OF ORIGINAL
K 104 WEST ELEVATION | WOOD, GOOD/FAIR COND, WOOD, GOOD/FAIR COND. WOOD, FAIR COND. FIXED WITH METAL | winpow SYSTEM ON
MULL IONS COLUMNS
GHOST LINE OF ORIGINAL
WINDOW SYSTEM ON
S T WEST ELEVATION | wooD, Goop/FAiR cOND. WOOD, GOOD/FAIR COND. WOOD, FAIR COND. FIXED MASE BT WALL aD
COLUMNS
FIXED WITH
&k 106 WEST ELEVATION | WOOD, FAIR COND. WOOD, FAIR COND. WOCOD, FAIR COND. E’;?E‘é’.%% AT HOLLYWOOD MOVIE SET
_ FIXED WiTH
& 107 WEST ELEVATION WOOD, FAIR COND. WOOD, FAIR COND. WOOD, FAIR COND. E;?;ggg AT HOLLYWOOD MOVIE SET
FIXED WITH
Gk 108 WEST ELEVATION | WOOD, FAIR COND. WOOD, FAIR COND. WOOD, FAIR COND. E;I:é)lgg AT HOLLYWOOD MOVIE SET
STONE—FAIR COND. STONE-FAIR COND. STONE-FAIR COND.
104 SOuUTH Tl
o8 TH BLEVATION| 400D FRAME-POOR COND. WOOD FRAME-POOR COND. WOOD FRAME-POOR COND. NONE
INT. STONE LINTEL, GOOD INT. PLASTER-POOR D e e hhaon VINTL CLAD, FIXED PANE
Gk 201 NORTH ELEVATION| COND., WOOD FRAME-~ COND., WOOD FRAME — EXCELLENT COND.. EXT OVER DOUBLE HUNG, INTACT
EXCELLENT CONDITION EXCELLENT CONDITION STONE-FAIR /POOR COND. EXCELLENT CONDITION
INT. PLASTER ON STONE INT. PLASTER, FAIR INT. PLASTER, FAIR BOARDED OVER
G 202 NORTH ELEVATION| | \\7EL, POOR COND. CONDITION CONDITION ¢ @
Gk 203 NoRTH ELEVATION| CONDITION UNKNOWN- INT. PLASTER-GOOD INT. PLASTER-GOOD BOARDED COVER AND
INACCESSIBLE CONDITION CONDITION EXHAUST FAM
DESIGNED: SUB SHEET NO. TITLE OF SHEET DRAWING NO.
NDITI CONDITION CONDITION ASTING ||
CONDITION ' D oLl VQ‘NDOW SCHEDULE 25009
INT. PLASTER-POOR INT. PLASTER-FAIR i, B ASTER R AR 08 B EXISTING CONDITIONS  [fks-] sweer
K 208 W EL ON COND.,, EXT. STONE- COND., EXT. STONE- : = VINYL CLAD, SEE : ' 128
g RAT ELEVAT) GOOD_ COND., WOOD GOOD_ COND., WOOD GO, EXT. STONE= WINDOW 20T INTACT LR GOODMAN-KINCAID BUILDING  |*&
FRAME-EXCELLENT COND. FRAME-EXCELLENT COND. R e e 3/91 NEW RIVER GORGE N.R. | 77
/PROJ/HERIS28,/ARCH /CKWINDOWSEH1.0G
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WINDOW CONDITION ASSESSMENT DEFINITIONS
NUMBER LOCATION | HEAD JAMB SILL SASH GLAZING REMARKS EXCELLENT — NO TREATMENT REGUIRED
GOOD - MINOR REPAIR REFINISHING REQUIRED
FAIR - SIGNIFICANT REPAIR REQUIRED
INT. PLASTER-FPOOR INT. PLASTER-POOR INT. PLASTER~FAIR POOR - REPLACEMENT REQUIRED
a6k 206 WEST ELEVATION CONG., EXT. STONE- COND., EXT. STONE- POOR COND., EXT. VINYL CLAD, SEE INTACT
GOOD COND., WooD GOOD COND., WOOD S5TONE-GOOD FAIR WINDOW 201
FRAME-EXCELLENT COND. FRAME-EXCELLENT COND. CONDITION
INT. PLASTER-POOR INT. PLASTER-POOR INT. PLASTER-FAIR
COND., EXT. STONE- COND., EXT. STONE- CONDITION,, EXT, VINYL CLAD, SEE NOTE
o 207 WEST: ELEVATION | coan conp., wooo GOOD COND., WOOD STONE-GOOD CONDITION WINDOW 201 INTACT —_— . s axs
FRAME-EXCELLENT COND. FRAME-EXCELLENT ; CONDITION ASSESSMENT WA ED ON
ERGE SORD A VISUAL INSPECTION ONLY.
WOOD FRAME-~POOR WOOD FRAME-POOR NT. WOCD-FOCR
GK 208 WEST ELEVATION CONDITIC%NNDEXT. STONE - CONDITION EXT, STONE- gﬁomaq EXT. STONE- WOOD-POOR CONDITION PLASTIC, INTACT HOLL YWOOD MOYIE SET
GOOD ITION GOOD CONDITION CONDITION
/1 WOOD FRAME-POOR 717\ WOOD FRAME-POOR /27 NI WOOD-FOOR
Gk 209 WEST ELEVATION {5 gggg”é%i DEL')ISIBNSTONE_ R, CONDITION EXT. 8TONE- Ty, ??Rmm EXT, STONE- WOOD-POOR CONDITION PLASTIC, INTACT HOLLYWOOD MOVIE SET
GOOD CONDITION CONDITION
WOOD FRAME-POOR /1 WOOD FRAME-POOR 27\ NI WXD-POR STOE —4 s
GK 210 WEST ELEVATION . CONDITION EXT. 3TONE- Y, CONIBITiON EXT. STONE - N, CONDITION EXT. STONE- WOOD-POOR CONDITION PLASTIC, INTACT HOLLYWOOD MOVIE SET
GOOD CONDITION GOOD CONDITION FAR GONDITIN
n WOOD FRAME-POCR /17 WOOD FRAME-POOR ﬂ NT. WOrD—POooR
Gk 21 WEST ELEVATION w gggglﬂoolil DE_);BNSTONE— !y ZSNDITIONNDEI?;E STONE - v CONDITON EXT. STENE~ WOOD-POOR CONDITION PLASTIC, INTACT HOLLYWOOD MOYIE SET ;W:N
c ! oD CO N FAR CONDITIKON i
17\ WOOD FRAME-POOR 7T\ WOOD FRAME-POOR 2 NT. WOCo-POCR
Gk 212 WEST ELEVATION . CONDITION EXT. STONE- CONDITION EXT, STONE- CONDITICN EXT. STONE ~ WOOD-POOR CONDITION | PLASTIC, INTACT | HOLLYWOOD MOVIE SET EXT. 1 -
GOOD CONDITION GOOD CONDITION FAR CONDITKN = ! i i " INT.
WOOD FRAME-POOR 17\ WOOD FRAME-POOR 27\ NI WOUD-POCR . g — L%" P _—
GK 213 WEST ELEVATION |\ 46/ CONDITION EXT. STONE |\ 4g/ CONDITION EXT. STONE- [\ 4] CONITON EX7. STCRE WOOD~POOR CONDITION LASTIC;. INFAC HOLLYWOOD MOVIE SET wi | A 7
GOCD CONDITION GOOD CONDITION FAR CONDITION ; {’l ¥ s
/17 WOOD FRAME-POOR 1\ WOOD FRAME—-POOR /27 INT. PLASTER-POOR
Gk 214 SOUTH ELEVATION CONDITION EXT. STONE CONDITION EXT. 3TONE - COND., EXT. CONCRETE-| MIS3ING
\46/ \46/ \%&/
GOOD CONDITION GOOD CONDITION GOGD CONDITION TYPICAL WINDOW JAMB /1
WOOD FRAME-POOR an 2\ INT, BRICK-POOR e/
FRAME GONE, STONE-
6K 218 SOUTH ELEVATION gggg”é%"‘wﬁﬁd“smﬁ GOOD CONDITION gg;g-. Eaty Tclgucasrs— MISSING
(1N FRAME GO ONE- (1 F = (2
e |eser aevanon () T S o A GO sTone roor corommon | mssm
“ FRAME GONE, STONE- (1) GON - (2
Gk 217 EAST ELEVATION GOOD CONDITION 2@3’;5 o POOR CONDITION MISSING
N Grees pine. sinn /1 PARTIAL FRAME-POOR ({2 )
Gk 2iB EAST ELEVATION CONDITION STONE-— CONDITION, STONE-GOOD|\ 46/ POOR CONDITION MISSING
FAIR CONDITION CONDITION
1\ WoOD FRAME-POOR £ 1 _ 2y
Gk 219 EAST ELEVATION . CONDITION STONE - EgghéE C%?\,T:,E,}SLONE POOR CONDITION MISSING
FAIR CONDITION
FRAME GONE, INT. n a
ok 2o | masr sevanon |(E) SIONE LO0R copmon | ) TRAME SO, ston- Poor cowiron | mssinG
CONDITION
- FRAME GONE, INT STONE-
GR 221 EAST ELEVATION EES%E c%%%ﬁ},SLONE POOR CONDITION, EXT, POOR CONDITION MISSING
\4&/ \46./ STONE-GOOD CONDITION |\%&/ 6 3 o0 6
INT. 8TONE-FAIR COND. INT. PLASTER-POOR COND. WOOD FRAME-GOOD SCALE OF INCHES
WOOD FRAME-EXCELLENT WOOD FRAME-EXCELLENT CONDITION, STONE-FAIR VINYL CLAD, SEE INTACT
GK 22z BAST RLEVATION ngnglON, EXT. STONE- gggngé%’i,lDEx;-\l STONE- CONDlTION' WINDOW 201 A DESIGNED: SUB SHEET NO. TITLE OF SHEET DRAWING NO.
G CONDITION ITH ool el i e’
EXISTING
' INT. STONE-FAIR COND. INT. PLASTER~POOR COND. INT. MORTAR WASH— WINDOW SCHEDULE 25,009
WOOD FRAME-EXCELLENT WOOD FRAME—EXCELLENT POOR CONDITION, WOOD VINYL CLAD, SEE D. SHULL
o 22 EAST ELEVATION | CONDITION, EXT. STONE- CONDITION, EXT, STONE- FRAME-EXCELLENT COND. WINDOW 20 INTacT R EXISTING CONDITIONS [R5 T sueer
GOOD CONDITION GOOD CONDITION EXT. 8TONE-FAIR COND. : ' 126
%_g_%ﬁu.ﬁ___ GOODMAN-KINCAID BUILDING e
'9/91 NEW RIVER GORGE N.R. A
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WINDOW SCHEDULE

Noeme | LOCATION | HEAD JAMB SILL SASH | GLAZING | HARDWARE | REMARKS

Gk 303 WEST ELEVATION INJ-EXCELLENT COND.  INT-EXCELLENT COND. *g;fgxcm_a_em COND. ;iNYlwl INTACT MARBLE INT. SILL

GK 304 WEST ELEVATION [INT-EXCELLENT GOND:  [INIZEXCELLENT COND.  INT-EXCELLENT COND. YINVL GLAD [INTACT MARBLE INT, atLL

Gk 305 'WEST ELEVATION F?SRE%%W HOR0 L FRAVESPOOR COND. WD, FRAME-POOR . COND. I\éggg POOR HOLLYWOOD MOVIE SET
&K 306 WEST ELEVATION e oSS TEIROTAND- [HOG0, FRAME-SFPOOR ZOND. [WOJD FRAME-FOOR COND. kgﬁg: POOR HOLLYWOOD MOVIE SET
o207 | wesr sevamion PSRRI EROD: (000 TSRS IR0 MO TSR ksss: PooR HOLLYWOOD MOVIE SET
o 00 | west mevaron  EORRTASSERCT: 19T RS (SRR BB, O PR, PO HOLLYHOOD MOVIE SET
GK 3049 WEST ELEVATION F%EE%D OGRCOND. [WOGD. FRAME-POOR COND. [WOOD FRAME-POOR COND. kgﬁg POOR HOLLYWOOD MOVIE SET
GK 310 WEST ELEVATION F?SRE%D‘WND?N- e A, V. o Ul oo N el ) Rl v P 2 %Fgﬁgi POOR HOLLYWOOD MOVIE SET
GK 31 SOUTH ELEVATION }3%55%5'“88{:}0?@0 AR TRAE S TR CND: XD, FRAME-FOOR COND. ngﬁg: POOR

GK 312 SOUTH ELEVATION BOSR: RS PRGRLCOND: |NO00, FRAMESPOOR COND. |WOAD FRAME-POOR COND. [MISSING

Gk 313 EAST ELEVATION ST ONE -0 COND. ERAME GONE 0. |GRAME SONE .o [MIOSING

Gl A EAST ELEVATION 5 ONE-GO0D COND. ERONE-E80D cono. IR oD oD - PMISING

Gk 15 EAST ELEVATION BOR e AS5TIREID: [HOGR FRAMESPOOR COND. 153 %%% pégcﬁo. MISSING

Gk 316 EAST ELEVATION F%RE%%C@D AR TR S POOR COND. WO FRAMEPOCR COND. MISSING

GK 317 EAST ELEVATION F%E%%D@’ HOOD - FRAME-POOR COND. WOOD FRAME-POOR COND. MISSING

GK 318 EAST ELEVATION k ST s COND. OG0 FRAME-FPOOR COND. |FRAME GONE MISSING

o 39 | esor mevaton  [NERASSHRBSAR  [NERGESLSAP  [NIEKTRA R, B aP [rracT

GK 220 EAST ELEVATION |g~;gT EXSEE RGTTR  [BIFEXGEILENT COND. ||NT FEXCELLENT COND. MY 67 [INTACT

DESIONED: SUB SHEET NO. THLE OF SHEET DRAWING NO.
WINDOW SCHEDULE 35,009
sl | EXISTING CONDITIONS  [Fis. [ sies
LOFLEUR _ | _GOODMAN-COX BUILDING |28
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242 JOIST @ 3% o.c\

I [

DIAGONAL SUBFLOOR AND
( T8 G FLOORING NOT SHOWN
,_

{
!
[
[
1

[

FRAMING IN POOR CONDITION
DUE TO WATER DAMAGE

wWOOD MEMBER SCHEDULE

NOMINAL 8I1ZE ACTUAL $8IZE

13" 112

212

STEEL BEAM SCHEDULE

B BEAM| o by t; PESIGNATION
Bl [ 12 | ey | ¥ | Bizxees
!& B2 | 18" | 8 2 | bioxes
FLOOR JOIST BEARING /A b
SCALE \gi0/ . l——‘—j
! [[] [2x2 JoisTS @ 3% O.C. .
L HL = -: [ o
B oo - v
z v ‘ i
— == | . =
|
/AN o
\810/
1 B Bl {
4 I* L

]

8"@ STEEL COLUMN.
WALL THICKNESS UNKNOWN

2xi2 @ 12"

2x12 JOISTS @ 137 OcC.

]

— GOODMAN~-KINCAID BUILDING

-

B2

=

LINTEL INACCESSIBLE.
SIZE UNKNOWN

SECOND FLOOR FRAMING PLAN / 1\

NOTE

1. NOTES REGARDING CONDITION OF FRAMING
APPLY ONLY TO SPECIFIC AREAS INSPECTED.

810
SCALE
@ 12 (23 (@) 12
SEALE @ SCALE_OF' INCHE3 .
4 Q 4 B
SCALE @ e ————————— PROJECT NORTH
SCALE OF FEET
DESIGNED: SUB SHEET NO. TMTLE OF SHEET ol NO.
= 63/
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FRAMING IN POOR CONDITION
DUE TO WATER DAMAGE

[ ]
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NOTE

WOOD MEMBER SCHEDULE

NOMINAL SIZE ACTUAL SIZE
2x12 13" xl ¥

.. NOTES REGARDING CONDITION OF FRAMING
APPLY ONLY TO SPECIFIC AREAS INSPECTED.
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wWOOD MEMBER SCHEDULE

NOMINAL 8I1ZE ACTUAL SIZE

2 x 10 13 x a¥

GOODMAN-KINCAID BULDING

NOTE

l. NOTES REGARDING CONDITION OF FRAMING
APPLY ONLY TO SPECIFIC AREAS INSPECTED.
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NOTE

CEILING JOISTS NOT SHOWN ON FRAMING PLAN

ROOF FRAMING PLAN /1

SCALE (@)

513

WOOD MEMBER SCHEDULE
NOMINAL SIZE ACTUAL SIZE
2x 4 2" x 4"
2x 8 1$'x 2
2x8 2" x 72
1 o 1 2 3
SCALE )t —
SCALE OF FEET
4 0 4 '
SCALE &) 9 @-PROJECT NORTH
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NB 101 BANK LOBBY GOOD FAIR COND. \76,/ WOOD, GOOD WANSCOT, "GOOD/ FAIR WAINSCOT, " GOOD/ FAR PAINTED, GOOD Witk COLUMNS STAINED DARK
MARBLE TILE- FAIR 72 K STAN, GOoD MARBLE, FIBERBOARD GRILL PLASTER, PANTED, GOOD gﬁg_&m%&l}b GRILL € PLASTER, PANTED, GOOD/ |OPEN TO ROOM 101 WOOD TRIM HAS ORIGINAL (1923)
NEB 102 ELECTRICAL ROOM : @ CONDITION ' CONDITION l- RED BROWN STAIN FINISH
2" VIN, @ SOUTH § FANELING, FAIR PANELING, FAIR FANELING, FAIR PANELING, FAIR FLASTER, PAINTED, o TRIM PAINTED OR STAINED DARK
é‘g‘N%EU” TLE, FAR PART OF EAST CONDITION CONDITION. PLYWD CONDITION CONDITION GOOD CONDITION ee=il
NB 103 OFFICE - GOOD CONDITION CABINET DOORS, DK
STAIN, GO CONDITION
LINOLEUM TILE. coop B _VINYL, GOOD PANELING, FAIR PANELTNG, GOOD/FAIR PANELING, GOOD/FAIR BANELING, FAIR OFEN TO ROOM 105 TRIM PAINTED
i ' CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION WALL DOESN'T CONDITION WALL DOESN'T  [CONDITION
NB 104 OFFICE . EXTEND TO FLOOR OR EXTEND 'TO FLOOR OR
3" VINYL, GOOD FANELING, GOCD/FAIR PANELING, GOOD/ FAIR PANELING, GOOD/FAIR FANELING, GOOD/FAIR 12x12 ACOUBTICAL v TRIM PAINTED
LINLEUM TILE, GOOD ke onDITION CONDITION CONDITION 4 CONDITION ‘ EONDTION Sac’ borsnt  [Vice, ‘eaob e~
NB 105 HALL - EXTEND TO FLOOR OR CONDITION
3" VINYL, GOCD PLASTIC LAMINATE, FAIR PLASTIC LAMINATE, TAIR PLASTIC. LAMINATE, FAIR/  |PLASTIC LAMINATE, TAIR 1202 ACOUSTICAL ol TRIM PANTED
LINOLEUWM TILE, FAIR CONDITION CONDITION ’ NDITION ’ P NDITION i ’ Ti 00, B3
B 106 B ATHROOM e COND. co OOR CONDITION CONDITION TILE GOOD/FAR
A VINYL, GOOD PLASTIC LAMINATE, FAR PLASTIC LAMINATE, FAIR/ _ |PLASTIC LAMINATE, POOR  |PLASTIC LAMINATE, FAIR 12x12 ACOUSTICAL % TRIM PAINTED
'l;g“g‘éE‘é"gNg'-Ev FAIR CONDITION CONDITION POOR CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION TILE, PO 7-10%
NB 107 BATHROOM . CONDITION
4" VINYL ON 1% BANELING, GOOD/FAIR PANELING, GOOD/FAR PANELING, GOOD/FAIR PANELING, GOOD/FAIR 2x17 ACOUSTICAL A TRIM STAINED DARK
LINOLEM TILE, GOOD  lyooD,” GOG CONDITION / CONDITION / CONDITION CONDITIOR TiLE, GOOD ¥-33
NB 108 HALL - CONDITION CONBITION
ATTIC HATCH
LINOLEUM TILE, GOOD  |NONE PLASTER, FAIR/POOR PLAGTER, FAIR PLASTER, FOOR BLASTER, FAIR/POOR PLASTER, POOR a_gn LARGE MECHANICAL UNIT
B 104 CLoSET EAD CORDS, CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION Lo SibED, T aAGE
SOME LINOLEWM ON NONE PLASTER/CONCRETE, PLASTER/CONCRETE, PLABTER/CONCRETE FLASTER/CONCRETE, CONCRETE, GOOD | p—a
_— . S NEEiTE fib Sovm, FAIR CONDTITION FAIR CONDTITION FAIR /POOR CONDITION FAIR CONDTITION FAIR CONDITION
HEX. TILE, FAR comp. [ VIRYL, FOOR PLASTER, FAIR/POOR PLASTIC_LAMINATE, POOR  |PLASTIC LAMINATE, GLASS AND WOOD STORE 7%X4  SUSPENDED T
B i CITCHEN LINOLEUA TILE Oh CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION FURRED. ouT E%%W%?INE FRONT, GOOD CONDITION ACOUSTICAL TILE SUSPENDED
CONCRETE, POOR COND. ’ ROTH POOR COND
CARPET W/ RUBBER /3~ PAINTED GOOD [PLASTER DANTED, GOOD/ |PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD/  |PANELING, GOOD PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD/ |PLASTER AND 12X12 | VARIES TRIM PAINTED
TREADS, GOOD COND. CONDITIAN SEE  |FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION CONDITION FAIR CONDITION ACOUBTICAL TILE
NB {2 STAIR » BOTH GOOD/FAIR
— 2 PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD  |PLASTER, PAINT R, P 7 R DIAPRYe
LINOLEUM TILE, GOOCD 74N\ pr STAN. FAIR i ; LASTER, ED, GOOD PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD WOOD PARTITION, 12X12 ACOUSTICAL ar-2"
. CONDITION NDITION | NDITI T
N 113 UTILITY ROOM COND. CONDITION e AR EENETTGN oD N OOP CBRbIToR
LINOLEUM TILE. GOOD /%N Dk oTan ram  IPLASTER, PANTED, GOOD  |PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD  [WOOD PARTITION, PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD 1ZX1Z ACOUSTICAL | VARIES
: . CONDITION i
NB 114 BATHROOM COND. CONDITION CONDITION ES&J&?&NGOOD CONDITION E"érﬁbi?l%rq
BAINTE PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD/ |PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD/ |PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD/ |PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD/ [PLASTER, PAINTED, [9'-i0" TRIM PAINTED
B B ELASET =i I oollAe EonBITnCP  [FAIR conpiTioN FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION
CARPET ON 164G PAINTED. GOOD  ITLASIER, PAINTED (EXT. PANELING, GOOD FANELING, GOOD PLASTER, PAINTED, TAIR 12X12 ACOUSTICAL | a-a- TRIM PAINTED
' @ WALL) AND PANELING CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION TILE, FAIR
NB 202 HOTEL ROOM FAIR COND. 76 ) CONDITION BOTH GOOD CONDITION CONDITION
CARPET ON 1§ G /3N PAINTED, GooD  [conpimion 20 conbmon 207 conpmon “°%° o DTN 800/ B T AL Crie - PR PRIRER
' FAIR CONDITION ACOUSTICAL TILE,
NB 203 HOTEL ROOM FAIR COND. CONDITION : FAIR CONDITION
CARPET ON TEG 73\ PANTED., GOOD ESH%%TOGN GOOU ES’QE‘H’]‘S& GOOD PANELING, GOOD PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD/ [12X12 ACOUSTICAL  [9'-9" TRIM PAINTED
g CONDITION FAIR CONDITION TILE D
NB 204 HOTEL ROOM FAIR COND. CONDITION CONDITION
CARPET ON 1E0, /3N PANTED, Goob  |LANEL NG, GOOD PANELING, “GOOD PANELING ~GOOD PLASTER, PANTED, FAR X2 ACOUSTICAL  [q—7% TRIM PAINTED
NB 205 HOTEL ROOM FAIR COND, CONDITION e CORDITION |
PLASTER, FAINTED, FAIR PLASTER, PANTED, FAIR BLASTER, PAINTED, FAIR PLASTER, PAINTED, FAIR FLASTER, PAINTED, |9=i0" TRIM PAINTED
_ ST gﬁg:?o%\l 1§ G, nggﬁ%Nﬂ"? CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION FAIR CONDITION
PLASTER, FAINTED, GOOD  |PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD  |PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD  |PLASTER, PAINTED, GOOD  |2X4 SUSPENDED q—z" TRIM PAINTED
CARPET ON TEG, PAINTED, GOOD  |cONDITION ' CONDITION ' CONDITION ' CONDITION ' ACOUSTICAL TILE
NB 207 HALL FAIR COND. CONDITION GOCD CONDITION
CARFET AN BUBBER 73N\ PAINTED, GOOD |LGAIER, PANTED, GOOD  |PLASTER. FANTED, GOOD  |PLASTER., FANTED, GOOD  |PLASTER. PAINTED, GOOD  [PLASTER, PAINTED, |VARIES TRIM PAINTED
5 208 STAR ESEADS, R e BANIED, o CONDITIO CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION ggggnllréigln
CONDITION ASSESSMENT DEFINITIONS NOTES g | Eo TILE BF SHEET M
—_— o Xi
EXCELLENT-NO TREATMENT REQUIRED I. CONDITION ASSESMENT WAS BASED ON A VISUAL w17 ROOM FINISH SCHEDULE | 55009
GOOD -MINOR REPAIR/REFINISHING REQUIRED INSPECTION ONLY. IT 15 SUSPECTED THAT TRIM, SMALL X PRG. |
FAIR - SIGNIFICANT REPAIR REQUIRED ESPECIALLY AT EXTERIOR WALLS, MAY BE ROTTED TECH. REVEW ] EXISTING CONDITIONS Ne. | SHEET
POOR - REPLACEMENT REQUIRED FROM BEHIND, AND THAT WALL AND FLOOR FRAMING ' ' 126
MAY ALSO BE DECAYED. hg%L NATIONAL BANK OF THURMOND |—
2. ORIGINAL PLASTER CONTAINS ASBESTOS, '9/91 : NEW RIVER GORGE N.R. _ o 77
FS4::PROJECTS:{nevi126/arch) BANKFINSCH1 DG .
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EXPOSED FRAMING
ORIGINAL TE G, NONE EXPOSED STUDS, GOCD BRICK, GOOD CONDITION BRICK, GOOD CONDITION UNFINISHED 8TUDS, GOOD VARIES
NB 209 STORAGE FAIR CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION
|PLASTER, FAIR
VERT. BEADED T£G P \
ORIGINAL TEG / 37\ PAINTED, GOOD PLASTER, GOOD/FAIR PLASTER AND VERT. PLASTER, GOOD/FAIR . CONDITION VARIES
) ; A 1€ G, BOTH CONDITION UNFINISHED, GOOD/FAIR
NB 210 STORAGE FAIR CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION BEA %E/?r A"g éON%ITION il il
12X12 ACOUSTICAL
CARPET ON T& G, DK. GRAINING, PANELING, GOOD PANELING, GOOD PLASTER, PAINTED, FAIR PANELING, GOOD TILE, GOOD COND. Q- DAL ERAINES TR
NB 20 HOTEL ROOCM FAIR CONDITION (76 GOOD/FAIR COND] CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION
12X12 ACOUSTICAL
CARPET ON T£ G, DK. GRAINING, PANELING, GOOD PANELING, GOOD PLASTER, PAINTED, FAIR PANELING, GOOD TILE. GOOD COND. G DA ERAINED TRIN
NB 212 HOTEL ROOM FAIR CONDITION W GOOD/FAIR COND] CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION
LAM GOOD/ | PLASTIC LAMINATE, GOOD/ | PLASTER, PAINTED, FAIR PLASTIC LAMINATE, GOOD/ |2g o iie ahPED o
LINOLEUM TILE, FAIR 4% VINYL, GOOD PLASTIC INATE, 7 ; A ¢ ; & , e TRIM PAINTED
NE 213 BATHROOM CONDITION CONDITION FAIR CONDITICN FAIR CONDITION CONDITION FAIR CONDITION FAlR COMNDITION -0
7%2 SUSPENDED
LINOLEUM TILE, FAIR 4" VINYL, GOOD PLASTIC LAMINATE, GOOD/ | PLASTIC LAMINATE, GOOD/ | PLASTER, PAINTED, FAIR PLASTIC LAMINATE, GOOD/ [ACOUSTICAL TILE, 13 B RS
NB 2I2A BATHROOM CONDITION CONDITION FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION CONDITION FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION
A 0D/ | PLASTIC LAMINATE, GOOD/ | PLASTER, PAINTED PLASTIC LAMINATEGOOD, 1254, SUSPENDED
LIN TILE, FA! 4" VINYL, GOQD PLASTIC LAMINATE, GO ) ; A 4 3 “ 1 o TRIM PAINTED
NE ZI4 BATHROOM coﬁlﬁigrlfgrq ~ CONDITION FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION GOOD/FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION R
D PLASTER, PAINTED PANELING, GOOD L R ENIEDR,
N TE G, PAINTED, GOOD PLASTER, PAINTEDR, FAIR PANEL ING, GCO : : y A $ g g TRIM PAINTED
NE 219 HOTEL ROOM FAR CONDITION. @ CONDITION POOR CONDITION 4 CONDITION FAIR/POOR CONDITION CONDITION FAIR CONDITION
ZX12 i
CARPET ON T8 6, 73\ PAINTED, GOOD/ | PLASTER, PAINTED, FAIR PANELING, GOOD PANELING, GOOD PLASTER, WALLPAPER, ACOUBTICAL TILE, G-3 TRIM PAINTED
NB 301 HOTEL ROOM FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION | CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION FAIR CONDITION FAIR CONDITION 3
2X4 SUSPENDED TRIM PAINTED, 12X12 ACOUSTICAL
CARPET ON T§G, /3™ PAINTED, GOOD | PANELING, GOOD PANELING, GOOD PANELING, GOOD PLASTER, WALLPAPER, ACOUSTICAL TILE, &' -8 Tﬁ_s ON PLASTER ABOVE
NB 302 HOTEL ROOM FAIR CONDITION (Ge) CONDITION CONDITION CONDIVTION CONDITION GOOD CONDITION FAR CONDITION L R A AL g T
12X12 ACOUSTICAL
LINOLEUM TILE, GOOD [ 4” VINYL, GOOD PLASTIC LAMINATE, GOOD PLASTIC LAMINATE, GOOD PLASTIC LAMINATE, GOOD PLASTIC LAMINATE, GOOD [{iLE. FAR CORD. o S EERTER
NB 203 BATHROOM CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION CONDITION q-2%
/ 37\ P